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SUMMARY OF RISK FACTORS
 

Below is a summary of the principal risk factors related to the Annual Report on Form 10-K (“Form 10-K”) for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023.
 
 Our business is subject to a number of risks of which you should be aware before making an investment decision. These risks are discussed more fully in the “Risk Factors”
section of this Form 10-K. These risks include, but are not limited to, the following:
 
 ● We are a preclinical stage company with a limited operating history, and have no products approved for commercial sale.
 ● We are dependent on the successful development, regulatory approval and commercialization of one or more product candidates; there can be no assurance that we

may achieve any of these objectives.
 ● Final marketing approval of NPM-115, NPM-119, or any of our other product candidates by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”), or other regulatory

authorities may be delayed, limited, or denied, any of which would adversely affect our ability to generate operating revenues.
 ● We will require substantial additional financing to pursue our business objectives, which may not be available on acceptable terms, or at all. A failure to obtain this

necessary capital when needed could force us to delay, limit, reduce or terminate our product development, commercialization efforts or other operations.
 ● Clinical development involves a lengthy and expensive process with uncertain outcomes. We may incur additional costs and experience delays in developing our

product candidates, and our clinical development efforts may not yield favorable results.
 ● The commercial success of our product candidates, if approved, depends upon their market acceptance among physicians, patients, healthcare payors, and the medical

community.
 ● We are subject to a multitude of manufacturing risks, including reliance on third parties, any of which could substantially increase our costs and limit supply of our

product candidates.
 ● We may not be able to adequately protect our proprietary or licensed technology.
 ● We may infringe the intellectual property rights of others, which may prevent or delay our development efforts and prevent us from commercializing or increase the

costs of commercializing our product candidates, if approved.
 ● We may be unable to adequately prevent disclosure of trade secrets and other proprietary information.
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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 
AND FACTORS THAT MAY AFFECT FUTURE RESULTS

 
This Annual Report on Form 10-K, or Form 10-K, includes forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or

the Securities Act and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act. All statements other than statements of historical fact contained in
this Form 10-K are forward-looking statements. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terminology such as “may,” “could,” “will,” “would,” “should,”
“expect,” “plan,”, “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “intend,” “predict,” “seek,” “contemplate,” “project,” “continue,” “potential,” “ongoing” or the negative of these terms or
other comparable terminology, although not all forward-looking statements contain these identifying words. These forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to,
statements about:

 
 ● our anticipated operating and financial performance, business plans, and prospects;

 ● expectations for our products, including anticipated regulatory submissions, study completion, approvals, clinical trial results and other developing data that become
available, potential market size, and potential reimbursement pathways;

 ● the timing and likelihood of, and our ability to obtain and maintain, regulatory clearance of our Investigational New Drug (“IND”) applications for and regulatory
approval of our product candidates;

 ● our ability to create and maintain a pipeline of product candidates;

 ● our ability to advance any product candidate into, and successfully complete clinical trials;

 ● our ability to initiate and successfully maintain operations of our subsidiary in Australia, including with respect to studies of our products and product candidates;

 ● the initiation, timing, design, progress and results of our clinical trials, and our research and development program;

 ● the success of the business combination on including future capital expenditures, expenses, synergies, economic performance, indebtedness, financial condition, losses,
future prospects, business and management strategies for the management, expansion and growth of the combined company’s operations and other conditions to the
successful synergies of the business combination;

 ● the impacts of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and macroeconomic factors that could impact our business, such as supply chain and inflationary pressures and the
effects of the Russian invasion of Ukraine on the global economy, on our business or operations; and

 ● the impact of laws and regulations in the United States and foreign countries on various aspects of our operations, including our regulatory and clinical strategy.
 
Any forward-looking statements in this Form 10-K reflect our current views with respect to future events or to our future financial performance and involve known and

unknown risks, uncertainties, assumptions and other factors described under the “Risk Factors” section and elsewhere in this Form 10-K, that may cause our actual results,
performance or achievements to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. Given
these uncertainties, you should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements.

 
In addition, statements that “we believe” and similar statements reflect our beliefs and opinions on the relevant subject. These statements are based upon information

available to us as of the date of this report, and while we believe such information forms a reasonable basis for such statements, such information may be limited or incomplete,
and our statements should not be read to indicate that we have conducted an exhaustive inquiry into, or review of, all potentially available relevant information. These
statements are inherently uncertain and investors are cautioned not to unduly rely upon these statements as predictions of future events. Except as required by law, we assume
no obligation to update or revise these forward-looking statements for any reason, even if new information becomes available in the future.
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This Form 10-K also contains estimates, projections and other information concerning our industry, our business, and the markets for certain diseases, including data
regarding the estimated size of those markets, and the incidence and prevalence of certain medical conditions. Information that is based on estimates, forecasts, projections,
market research or similar methodologies is inherently subject to uncertainties and actual events or circumstances may differ materially from events and circumstances reflected
in this information. Unless otherwise expressly stated, we obtained this industry, business, market and other data from reports, research surveys, studies and similar data
prepared by market research firms and other third parties, industry, medical and general publications, government data and similar sources.
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PART I
 

Item 1. Business
 
Our Company
 
Company Overview
 

Vivani Medical, Inc. (“Vivani,” the “Company,” “we,” “us,” “our” or similar terms) is a preclinical stage biopharmaceutical company which develops miniaturized,
subdermal implants utilizing its proprietary NanoPortal™ technology to enable long-term, near constant-rate delivery of a broad range of medicines to treat chronic diseases.
Vivani uses this platform technology to develop and potentially commercialize drug implant candidates, alone or in collaboration with pharmaceutical company partners to
address a leading cause of poor clinical outcomes in the treatment of chronic disease, medication non-adherence. For example, approximately 50% of patients treated for type 2
diabetes are non-adherent to their medicines, which can lead to poor clinical outcomes. We are developing a portfolio of miniature, sub-dermal drug implant candidates that,
unlike most oral and injectable medicines, are designed with the goal of guaranteeing adherence by delivering therapeutic drug levels for up to 6 months or longer. In addition,
our aim is to minimize fluctuations in patients’ drug levels through the use of our NanoPortal technology, which may improve the tolerability profiles for medicines that
produce side effects associated with fluctuating drug levels in the blood.

 
Vivani resulted from the business combination of Second Sight Medical Products, Inc. (“Second Sight”) and Nano Precision Medical, Inc. (“NPM”). Vivani’s main priority

is the further development of the company’s lead programs NPM-115 and NPM-119, which are miniature, 6-month, GLP-1 implant candidates for the treatment of chronic
weight management and patients with type 2 diabetes, respectively. In parallel, Vivani’s management team remained committed to identifying and exploring strategic options
for the Neuromodulation Division (formerly Second Sight) that will enable further development of its pioneering neurostimulation systems from legacy company Second Sight
aimed at helping patients recover critical body functions.

 
Moving forward, Vivani’s focus will be on the further development of NPM-115, NPM-119, and its emerging pipeline of innovative miniature, long-term drug implants to

treat patients with chronic diseases and high unmet medical need. The origins of this business started while its current Vivani CEO and NPM co-founder Adam Mendelsohn and
two of his graduate school colleagues, Kathleen Fischer and Lily Peng, at the University of California, San Francisco (“UCSF”) and the University of California, Berkeley
(“UCB”), entered business school competitions leveraging their growing knowledge of chemistry, drug delivery, and nanoscale technology to propose the development of new
miniature, biocompatible, drug implant prototypes capable of releasing therapeutic drug levels over an extended period of time. Based on their success and encouragement from
professors and others, including medical device/pharmaceutical icon Alfred E. Mann, Dr. Mendelsohn and colleagues started NPM in 2009 and operations began in 2011 in an
incubator on the UCB campus. Today, the Company has grown to 37 full-time employees and its current headquarters and operations are located at 1350 South Loop Road,
Alameda, California.

 
Vivani’s implant technology, which we refer to as NanoPortal, utilizes a space-efficient design that allows a miniaturized implant to provide many months of therapeutic

delivery of potent molecules. The technology has no moving parts, which is intended to minimize fluctuating drug delivery over the duration of the implant and is also tunable.
Vivani has primarily been developing implant candidates around peptide therapeutics, but the technology has potential application across a wide range of molecular types. The
key innovative component of the technology is a biocompatible titanium-oxide nano-porous membrane which consists of millions of precisely sized nanotubes whose inner
diameters represent the only path for drug molecules to exit the reservoir once the implant is fully assembled.

 
In February 2022, we announced the signing of a definitive merger agreement between NPM and Second Sight, pursuant to which NPM became a wholly-owned

subsidiary of Second Sight. On August 30, 2022, the two companies completed the merger, concurrent with which Second Sight changed its name to Vivani Medical, Inc. and
now conducts the present business of the Company. In September 2022, we announced the formation of the Company’s Biopharm Division to advance the assets of the former
NPM which includes the further development of the Company’s lead programs, NPM-115 and NPM-119, a miniature, 6-month, GLP-1 implant candidates for the treatment of
chronic weight management and patients with type 2 diabetes, respectively. Vivani’s management team remains committed to identifying and exploring strategic options for the
Neuromodulation Division (formerly Second Sight) that will enable further development of its pioneering neurostimulation systems from Second Sight to help patients recover
critical body functions. On December 28, 2022, the assets and liabilities of this segment were contributed to Cortigent, Inc. a newly formed wholly owned subsidiary of Vivani,
in exchange for 20,000,000 shares of common stock of Cortigent. As of December 31, 2023, after giving effect to a 1-for-4 reverse stock split that we implemented, Cortigent
had 5,000,000 shares of common stock outstanding, all owned by Vivani.

 
In March 2023, Vivani announced the filing of a Registration Statement on Form S-1 with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) for the proposed initial

public offering of Cortigent. Cortigent, currently a wholly-owned subsidiary of Vivani, was formed for the purpose of advancing the Company’s pioneering neurostimulation
technology. The Registration Statement on Form S-1 was recently amended and filed with the SEC in February 2024 to refresh the financial information and provide minor
updates to the business.

 
On July 6, 2023, Vivani changed its state of incorporation from the State of California to the State of Delaware by means of a plan of conversion, effective July 5, 2023.

The reincorporation, including the principal terms of the plan of conversion, was submitted to a vote of, and approved by, Vivani’s stockholders at its 2023 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders held on June 15, 2023. As part of this change of incorporation the Company established a par value of $0.0001 per share and all periods have been retroactively
adjusted to reflect this change.

  
An Investigational New Drug Application (“IND”) for NPM-119 (GLP-1 implant) was filed with the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) on July 14, 2023, to

support the initiation of the first-in-human study of NPM-119 in patients with type 2 diabetes, also named LIBERATE-1™. On August 18, 2023, FDA provided written
notification that the LIBERATE-1 study was on full clinical hold, primarily due to insufficient Chemistry, Manufacturing, and Controls (“CMC”) information to assess the risk
to human subjects. Vivani remains actively engaged in discussions with FDA as part of its efforts to lift the clinical hold and plans to submit a Complete Response to the FDA
during the first half of 2024.

 
On August 25, 2023, Vivani and Cortigent entered into an Amendment No. 1 (the “Amendment”) to the Transition Funding, Support and Services Agreement dated March

19, 2023 (the “TFSSA”). Pursuant to the TFSSA, Vivani has agreed to advance funds and provide or cause to be provided to Cortigent the services and funding intended to
cover salaries and related costs, rent and other overhead in order to permit Cortigent to operate in substantially the same manner in which business operations of Cortigent were
previously operated by Second Sight, prior to the formation of Cortigent, which obligations will continue, in the case of the funding obligations, until the earlier of December
31, 2024 or the closing of an initial public offering of Cortigent (the “Funding Support Term”). Under the Amendment, Cortigent has agreed to repay $1,500,000 to Vivani at
the conclusion of the Funding Support Term. In addition, at the conclusion of the Funding Support Term, Cortigent will enter into a five-year promissory note at 5% interest for
$2,000,000 in favor of Vivani. Consequently, Vivani will forgive any remaining amounts due by Cortigent to it under the TFSSA. In October 2023, Vivani implemented a
reduction-in-force to conserve cash that decreased Cortigent’s employees from 14 to 7 while continuing the ongoing Orion® clinical study and basic operations.

 
In the fourth quarter of 2023, Vivani Medical Australia Pty Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary in Australia was established to support studies of our products and product

candidates.
 



In February 2024, Vivani announced positive NPM-115 preclinical weight loss data comparable to semaglutide, the active ingredient in Ozempic®/Wegovy®, and
disclosed NPM-139 as a semaglutide implant as our strategy shifted to prioritize our obesity portfolio. In a study in high-fat diet-induced obese mice, NPM-115 generated
weight loss of approximately 20% compared to a sham implant control after a 28-day treatment duration, comparable to weight loss observed in mice treated with semaglutide
injections (Ozempic®/Wegovy®) in the same study. The Company also disclosed that semaglutide is the active pharmaceutical ingredient in NPM-139, a miniature, subdermal
GLP-1 implant in development for chronic weight management, with the added potential benefit of once-yearly administration.

 
On March 1, 2024, the Company announced that it had entered into a securities purchase agreement with an institutional investor to purchase 3,947,368 shares of common

stock and warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 3,947,368 shares of common stock at a purchase price of $3.80 per share and accompanying warrant in a registered direct
offering. The warrants have an exercise price of $3.80 per share, are exercisable immediately upon issuance, and will expire three years following the date of issuance.

  
On March 6, 2024, the Company announced the appointment of Daniel Bradbury to its Board of Directors. Under Bradbury’s leadership as CEO, Amylin Pharmaceuticals,

with partner Alkermes, secured the 2012 approval of Bydureon® (exenatide injection), the world’s first GLP-1 receptor agonist, a class of drugs that now includes blockbusters
Ozempic®, Trulicity® and Wegovy®. 
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Our Proprietary NanoPortal™ Implant Technology
 

Vivani’s implant technology, which we refer to as NanoPortal, utilizes a space-efficient design that allows a miniaturized implant to provide many months of therapeutic
delivery of potent molecules. The technology has no moving parts, which is intended to minimize fluctuating drug delivery over the duration of the implant and is also tunable.
Vivani has primarily been developing implant candidates around peptide therapeutics, but the technology has potential application across a wide range of molecular types. The
key innovative component of the technology is a biocompatible titanium-oxide nano-porous membrane which consists of millions of precisely sized nanotubes whose inner
diameters represent the only path for drug molecules to exit the reservoir once the implant is fully assembled.

 

 
 
We believe the key to the technology’s ability to achieve near constant release of drug without moving parts is the ability to precisely tune the inner diameter of the

nanotubes to the same size range as individual drug molecules. If the inner diameter of the nanotubes is smaller than the size of a given drug molecule, there would be no
release at all. If the inner diameter of the nanotubes is much larger than the size of a given drug molecule, the rate at which the drug leaves the reservoir would follow
traditional physics and would decrease over time as the drug concentration decreases. However, when the opening is close enough in size to the drug molecules, the drug
release is constrained and can result in a variety of desirable delivery profiles, including near constant release. Vivani’s NanoPortal technology has demonstrated near constant
release in an animal model for six months.

 
For drug molecules with adequate potency and stability, NanoPortal can allow minimization of the implant size while extending implant duration. A custom delivery profile

can also be achieved by adjusting the number of accessible nanotubes, engineering changes to the implant, and/or changes in formulation parameters. With the design flexibility
afforded by the NanoPortal technology, Vivani plans to develop a portfolio of drug implant candidates aimed at addressing chronic diseases with high unmet medical need.
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Vivani’s NanoPortal technology has demonstrated near constant in vitro release for two dose configurations (see left portion of the chart below). In vitro testing was
performed at 37°C on implant devices stored in a buffer solution adjusted to a physiological pH of 7.4. For a high-dose configuration, the observed near-constant release was
demonstrated over the 12-week measurement period, after which the drug began to be depleted. For a low-dose configuration, the observed near-constant release lasted for 24
weeks. In addition, the near-constant in vitro release observed has been shown to translate into sustained exposure levels in vivo over a 6-month duration in an animal model
(depicted in a separate chart below). Finally, NanoPortal has demonstrated minimal in vitro fluctuations during 2.5-hour interval sampling periods which demonstrates a very
smooth release profile (see right portion of the chart below for individual device release rates).

 

 
 
Our Emerging Portfolio 
 

Although Vivani’s proprietary NanoPortal implant technology may potentially be broadly applied across a wide range of therapeutic molecules and disease areas, our initial
focus is on peptide therapeutics for the treatment of patients with metabolic disease. The pipeline table below depicts our current portfolio of four distinct pre-clinical stage
programs targeting type 2 diabetes (in humans and companion cats), and obesity/chronic weight management.

 

 
 
Below is a summary description of each pipeline program:
 
NPM-115: This high-dose exenatide implant candidate is in preclinical stage development for the treatment of chronic weight management in patients with obesity or

overweight. Vivani believes that higher doses of exenatide can achieve similar weight loss effects as other GLP-1 products similar to the strategy Novo Nordisk has taken with
its semaglutide injection franchise, Ozempic® and Wegovy® for type 2 diabetes and obesity, respectively. Vivani holds all commercial rights to NPM-115.
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Obesity is a global epidemic. There are over 764 million people with obesity today and only approximately 2% of these people are medically treated. Obesity affects both

the individual and society at large. Obesity is associated with over 200 health complications and is associated with over 8% of the healthcare budget per country.
 
Similar to type 2 diabetes, the treatment of chronic weight management with GLP-1 products has challenges associated with medication adherence and persistence which

can lead to sub-optimal patient outcomes. As shown in the graph below, results from a large, retrospective cohort study recently published in the research journal Obesity,
shows improved medication persistence with the newer GLP-1 weight loss products compared to previous products. That said, the one-year persistence of patients taking
semaglutide was still only 40%. This highlights the potential for further improvement for the 60% of individuals who were no longer taking semaglutide after one year. The
potential benefits for a long-term implant like NPM-115 are clearly apparent when considering that body weight begins to increase shortly after GLP-1 therapy is discontinued.
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Preliminary weight loss data of NPM-115 in preclinical models is encouraging. In a study in high fat diet-induced obese mice, NPM-115 generated weight loss of

approximately 20% compared to a sham implant control after a 28-day treatment duration, comparable to weight loss observed in mice treated with semaglutide
(Ozempic®/Wegovy®) in the same study. The supratherapeutic doses provided for both NPM-115 (single administration delivering exenatide at ~530 nmol/kg/day), and
semaglutide (weekly injections of ~2,700 nmol/kg/week), were selected to maximize the weight-loss potential of both exenatide and semaglutide.

 
Weight loss in high fat diet-induced obese mice. % weight change from baseline for NPM-115 (exenatide) vs Ozempic® (semaglutide), corrected to control (sham

implant). Values are mean ± SE.
 

 
 

Emerging data on the durability of effect on weight with NPM-119 provides confidence that a higher-dose exenatide implant (e.g. NPM-115) has the potential as a
treatment for chronic weight management. As depicted in the graph below, in a study in healthy rats, a single administration of the Company’s exenatide implant NPM-119, in
development for the treatment of type 2 diabetes, resulted in body weights that were approximately 25% lower than a vehicle implant control after 15 weeks of treatment with
an expected duration of effect of six months. NPM-119 delivered exenatide at a rate of approximately 320 nmol/kg/day and has demonstrated smooth, non-fluctuating release of
exenatide in both in vitro and in vivo studies. NPM-119 has previously demonstrated pharmacokinetic data exhibiting continuous and therapeutic exenatide exposure levels over
a 6-month duration in healthy rats. Since NPM-115 is a higher-dose version of an otherwise similar product as NPM-119, the durability of the effect on weight demonstrated in
this study is expected to translate to future studies utilizing NPM-115.

 
Weight difference from control in healthy Sprague-Dawley Rats. % weight change from baseline for NPM-119 (exenatide) corrected to control (vehicle implant).

Values are mean ± SE.
 

 
 

NPM-119: This exenatide implant candidate is in preclinical stage development for the treatment of patients with type 2 diabetes with an anticipated duration of six
months. Exenatide is a GLP-1 receptor agonist (GLP-1 RA or GLP-1) and was originally approved as the twice-daily subdermal injection, Byetta® (exenatide) injection,
approved in 2005 by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) as adjunctive therapy to improve glycemic control in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus who are
taking metformin, a sulfonylurea, or a combination of metformin and a sulfonylurea but have not achieved adequate glycemic control. Byetta was the first GLP-1 to reach the
U.S. marketplace. Bydureon BCise® (exenatide extended-release) injection is a once-weekly administration and was approved for use in the US in 2017.
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According to the CDC, more than 37 million Americans have diabetes and 90-95% have type 2 diabetes. The total number of people living worldwide with diabetes today

is 537 million and is projected to rise to 643 million by 2030 and 783 million by 2045. Of the 537 million people with diabetes today, only 15% have good glycemic control.
According to the American Diabetes Association (“ADA”), the total cost of diagnosed diabetes in the U.S. was $327 billion in 2017, including $237 billion for direct medical
costs and $90 billion for reduced productivity. In 2022, global sales of GLP-1 receptor agonists products were nearly $20 billion. Because the current drug adherence rate for
type 2 diabetes is only 40-60% for oral and injectable GLP-1 products, Vivani believes there is significant unmet need for a GLP-1 implant that could address non-adherence.
Vivani holds all commercial rights to NPM-119.

 
We believe NPM-119, our lead drug implant candidate, has the potential to address two important limitations of the GLP-1 category, namely, poor real-world medication

adherence, and a potentially undesirable gastrointestinal tolerability profile.
 

● To address real-world medication adherence, NPM-119 is designed to provide 6 months of steady dosing from a single miniature, subdermal implant. Current
GLP-1 products are associated with only 50-60% real-world medication adherence. Non-adherent patients do not receive the full potential benefits of existing
treatments. In addition, medication non-adherence for patients with type 2 diabetes is associated with approximately $5,500 per non-adherent patient in avoidable
healthcare costs associated with unnecessary acute care and hospitalization visits.  NPM-119 has the potential to offer a highly differentiated 6-month dosage form
to address the medication adherence challenge. Results from a small, third-party market research study funded by Vivani indicate that the majority of physicians
will be highly likely to recommend a product with the NPM-119 target product profile to their type 2 diabetes patients. In the market research study, primary care
physicians (n=10) provided an average rating of 8.3 out of 10 in terms of likelihood of recommending a product with NPM-119’s target product profile. These
preliminary results are encouraging since 90% of type 2 diabetes patients are treated in a primary care setting.

 
● During the September 28, 2023, FDA Open Public Hearing to review the approvability of ITCA 650 (exenatide implant), the independent third-party market

research firm dQ&A Market Research reported results from a patient preference study testing a product profile reflective of both ITCA 650 and NPM-119 (e.g.
miniature, six-month, subdermal, GLP-1 implant). Of the 324 patients currently on GLP-1 therapy, 56% indicated either “Definitely” or “Likely” when asked
about the likelihood of getting and using a GLP-1 implant if it was approved by FDA, recommended by their healthcare provider, and covered by insurance. The
results from this dQ&A study along with our own market research continue to indicate significant market potential for our NPM-119 product profile.

 
A well-documented side effect of the GLP-1 class is poor gastrointestinal (“GI”) tolerability. GI intolerance can present as nausea, vomiting, and/or diarrhea which can lead

to volume loss (“hypovolemia”), acute kidney injury (“AKI”) and potentially major cardiovascular adverse events. GI-related issues are the most commonly reported side effect
for all drugs in the GLP-1 class. In responding to a marketing application filed for Intarcia Therapeutics’ ITCA 650 exenatide implant candidate, with a proposed indication for
use as an adjunct to diet and exercise to improve glycemic control in adults with type 2 diabetes mellitus (“T2DM”), the FDA stated in a July 29, 2022 letter that they believe
that marked increases in the dose of a GLP-1 are responsible for increased risk of GI intolerance. The establishment of marked GLP-1 dose increases being responsible for GI
intolerance combined with the daily in vitro variability exhibited by ITCA 650 resulted in the FDA summarizing their findings as “The clinical data in the three pivotal clinical
trials for ITCA 650–including the high rates of nausea, vomiting, and diarrhea, the high rates of discontinuations due to these adverse gastrointestinal reactions, and most
notably, the increased risk of AKI comprise safety signals whose root cause can reasonably be concluded to be irregular and uncontrolled exenatide release” and “The data
provided to validate the limits of the in vitro dose delivery specifications did not support the safe and effective use of the device constituent of ITCA 650.” We believe Vivani’s
NanoPortal technology, which is specifically designed and tested to deliver regular and controlled exenatide release, may overcome these challenges. Our NanoPortal implant
technology has no moving parts that could otherwise contribute to variations in drug release rates. NanoPortal has demonstrated the ability to release exenatide with minimal
fluctuations in vitro on time scales that are even shorter than a day as exhibited by the 2.5-hour in vitro release rates that are shown in the NanoPortal Implant Technology
section above. Since the half-life of exenatide in humans is 2.4-4 hours, steady release from one 2.5-hour interval to the next is expected to be associated with minimal device-
related exposure fluctuations, potentially minimizing the opportunity for gastrointestinal events.
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On July 14, 2023, an investigational new drug application (“IND”) to support the initiation of clinical studies with NPM-119 was submitted. Vivani’s First-in-Human

(“FIH”) study, called LIBERATE-1, is designed as a 12-week, randomized, clinical study to investigate the safety, tolerability, and full pharmacokinetic profile of NPM-119 in
patients with type 2 diabetes. The study will include a Bydureon BCise® (exenatide extended-release injectable suspension) comparator and will also measure changes in
glycemic control and changes in body weight. The study will recruit patients on a non-exenatide GLP-1 therapy which will be discontinued prior to randomization. Conditional
institutional review board (“IRB”) approval has been obtained pending IND clearance. On August 18, 2023, FDA provided written notification that the LIBERATE-1 study was
on full clinical hold due primarily to insufficient Chemistry, Manufacturing and Controls (“CMC”) information. Vivani remains actively engaged in discussions with the FDA
as part of its efforts to lift the clinical hold and enable the expeditious initiations of LIBERATE-1. In parallel, Vivani submitted an application to a Human Research Ethics
Committee in Australia to support the initiation of the Company’s FIH study in that country. This initial application was not approved and the only cited reason was the existing
FDA clinical hold. Vivani remains in discussions with the Human Research Ethics Committee towards obtaining approval in Australia once the FDA clinical hold is lifted. If
available, Vivani intends to utilize research and development incentives and rebates from the Australian government in order to defray a portion of the costs from the trial. Since
clinical studies conducted in Australia comply with the International Conference on Harmonization guidelines and data generated in Australia are acceptable to the FDA and
other regulatory authorities. Vivani plans to use relevant clinical data generated in Australia to support regulatory submissions in other geographies including the US. Additional
guidance will be provided as new information becomes available.

 
The LIBERATE-1 study design was discussed in multiple FDA interactions and our Complete Response to the clinical hold is planned for submission to FDA during

the first half of 2024. The pharmacokinetic profile obtained in a preclinical study with the NPM-119 configuration (n=8) intended for use in LIBERATE-1 is provided in the
graphic below. The left axis shows experimentally measured exenatide plasma concentrations from rats implanted with NPM-119. The right axis shows expected exenatide
plasma concentrations in humans, assuming there are no NPM-119 specific translation effects, based on previously established clearance rate differences between rats and
humans when exposed to steady state delivery of exenatide. Since the EC50 (concentration of exenatide which provides half maximal response) is 0.0835 ng/mL, this
pharmacokinetic profile is expected to provide therapeutic exposure levels of exenatide in humans unless, for example, there are any device-specific pharmacokinetic
translation effects from rats to humans which the results of LIBERATE-1 will determine.
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Vivani has also made progress towards preparing for future clinical development of NPM-119. In September 2023, Vivani relocated into a new facility designed to provide

suitable capacity for manufacturing of clinical materials for registration studies as well as commercial-scale supply. Based on preliminary discussions with the FDA, Vivani
intends to explore the potential use of the 505(b)(2) pathway and believes that a single pivotal trial evaluating a 6-month NPM-119 configuration that is representative of the
proposed commercial configuration may be sufficient to support registration in the U.S. That said, throughout the NPM-119 development process, we also intend to further
engage with regulatory authorities on the timing, duration, endpoints, number of enrolled patients and other aspects of trial design for future clinical trials of NPM-119.

 
We have conducted a preclinical study to evaluate proof-of-concept activity of NPM-119. In that study, a six-month implantation of NPM-119 into rats was associated with

steady exenatide concentration over the duration of the implant, as depicted in the figure below.    
 

 
 
NPM-139: The Company recently identified semaglutide as the active pharmaceutical ingredient in NPM-139, a miniature, subdermal GLP-1 implant in development for

chronic weight management, with the added potential benefit of once-yearly administration.
 
The market for GLP-1 therapy in the treatment of patients with obesity is also attractive and growing rapidly. As an example, Novo Nordisk’s Wegovy® (semaglutide

injection) sold approximately nearly $4.5 billion in 2023 and continues to grow rapidly.
 
OKV-119: This exenatide implant is under development for metabolic diseases in cats including for the treatment of obesity and diabetes. In 2017, there were over 90

million cats in the U.S. It is estimated that up to 40% of cats are clinically obese, and 1-4 million cats have diabetes. Americans spent $136.8 billion on their pets in 2022, an
increase of 10.68% from 2021. Spending on pets is expected to triple over the next 10 years, with pet health representing the fastest-growing sub-segment of this market. Since
cats are difficult to medicate, we believe that a small subdermal implant administered by a veterinarian at a routine clinic visit can be a welcome option for many pet owners.

 
The program is partnered with Okava Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Okava”) who is responsible for all clinical development and regulatory activities of OKV-119 and, if

approved, ultimate commercialization of this product. In 2022, OKV-119 advanced out of the feasibility stage after having produced data demonstrating adequate exenatide
exposure and sustained weight loss in cats over a 12-week study. Vivani does not anticipate any significant Vivani focus beyond the support of implant development and
manufacturing activities.
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Beyond our current pipeline, Vivani intends to apply its extensive experience and proprietary implant technology to develop a pipeline of drug implant candidates that have
the potential to address chronic diseases with high unmet medical needs across multiple therapeutic categories and disease areas. For example, Vivani is also following the
evaluation of the GLP-1 agonist semaglutide in the treatment of MASH (metabolic associated steatohepatitis) and Alzheimer’s disease. If one or more of these trials shows
encouraging results, Vivani believes that a miniature long-term drug implant could have the potential to be an attractive alternative treatment option in these underserved patient
populations.

 
Our Strategy
 

Vivani’s mission is to provide people with the freedom to live healthier. Vivani develops miniaturized drug implants using its proprietary NanoPortal implant technology to
enable delivery of a broad range of medicines to treat chronic diseases. These products, designed to address poor medication adherence, are anticipated to significantly improve
the health of otherwise non-adherent patients and to provide assurance to their family members and to the health care professionals who treat them.

 
Vivani plans to initially test its technology and business model through the clinical and regulatory development of its lead programs, NPM-115 (high-dose exenatide) and

NPM-119 (exenatide implant). The active drug, exenatide, is a member of the GLP-1 receptor agonist class of drugs. Drug products, including drug substances within this
relatively new drug class, have already been successfully developed and marketed for the treatment of both type 2 diabetes and obesity and GLP-1 products are the category
leader in revenue for both the type 2 diabetes and obesity drug treatment categories. In addition, GLP-1 receptor agonists have shown promising early clinical results in MASH
and they are being evaluated in other therapeutic areas including Alzheimer’s disease. Vivani completed IND-enabling studies and submitted an IND to permit a FIH study of
NPM-119 in type 2 diabetes in 2023. In addition, Vivani intends to advance its early-stage programs in chronic weight management in obese and overweight individuals. Its
business strategy includes:

 
● Submitting a Complete Response to the FDA aimed at lifting the current clinical hold on NPM-119 during the first half of 2024;

■ Since the deficiencies clinical hold resolving the current clinical hold issues, which are primarily Chemistry, Manufacturing and Control, should support future
clinical investigations of both NPM-115 as well as NPM-119;

● Filing a new IND to support the conduct of a First-in-Human study with NPM-115 to investigate the treatment of obesity or chronic weight management before the end of
2024;

■ Initiating a First-in-Human study of NPM-115 and/or NPM-119 in the US or Australia as soon as practical pending the applicable regulatory clearances;
● Advancing the feasibility assessments for NPM-139 in 2024;
● Developing manufacturing capabilities and systems to produce materials for future clinical development of our product candidates;
● Maintaining, expanding, and protecting our intellectual property portfolio;
● Seeking regulatory approvals for any product candidates that successfully complete clinical trials; and
● Adding operational, financial, and management information systems and personnel, including personnel to support its planned product development and commercialization

efforts, as well as to support its regulatory responsibilities as a public reporting company.
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Competition
 

Our industry is characterized by rapidly advancing technologies, intense competition and a strong emphasis on proprietary products. We face competition and potential
competition from a number of sources, including pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, generic drug companies, drug delivery companies and academic and research
institutions. Some of these companies are developing therapies that are directly competitive to our approach. We believe the key competitive factors that will affect the
development and commercial success of our product candidates include ease of administration and convenience of dosing, therapeutic efficacy, safety and tolerability profiles
and cost. Many of our potential competitors have substantially greater financial, technical, and human resources than we do, as well as more experience in the development of
product candidates, obtaining FDA and other foreign regulatory approvals of products, and the commercialization of those products. Consequently, our competitors may
develop similar products to address the indications targeted by our current product candidates or for other indications we may pursue in the future, and such competitors’
products may be more effective, better tolerated and less costly than our product candidates. Our competitors may also be more successful in manufacturing and marketing their
products than we are. We will also face competition in recruiting and retaining qualified personnel and establishing clinical trial sites and patient enrollment in clinical trials.

 
The competition for Vivani will be dependent upon the individual product candidate in development. For Vivani’s lead assets, NPM-115 and NPM-119, the competition

could be defined as any drug product/manufacturer approved for use in the treatment of patients with obesity or type 2 diabetes, respectively. However, we believe that our
more direct competitors comprise other GLP-1 receptor agonist and combination products with a GLP-1 receptor agonist component approved or in development for those
respective indications. In May 2022, Lilly’s Mounjaro™ (tirzepatide) was approved as the first and only combination GIP and GLP-1 receptor agonist for the treatment of
adults with type 2 diabetes and in November 2023, Lilly secured approval of a higher dose formulation of tirzepatide injection with the brand name Zepbound® for chronic
weight management in adults with obesity or overweight with at least one weight-related condition. Manufacturers with approved GLP-1 receptor agonists or dual receptor
agonists include Lilly, Novo Nordisk, AstraZeneca, and Sanofi.

 
In addition to the marketed GLP-1 products, Intarcia Therapeutics has continued to seek approval of ITCA 650 (six-month exenatide implant) for the treatment of patients

with type 2 diabetes since 2016. In public correspondence, FDA asserted that the ITCA 650 New Drug Application did not meet criteria for approval because (i) data submitted
in the application do not show that the product would be safe under the proposed conditions of use and (ii) the methods used in, and the facilities and controls used for, the
manufacture, processing, or packing of the product are not shown to be adequate to preserve its identity, strength, quality, and purity. Further correspondence disclosed
additional deficiencies which included, but were not limited to, data that did not demonstrate adequate device reliability in regard to dose delivery. At the conclusion of the
September 28, 2023, FDA Public Forum to debate the approvability of the ITCA 650, Advisory Committee members voted 19-0 that “based on the available data, the Applicant
has not demonstrated that the benefits of the ITCA 650 drug-device combination outweigh its risks for the treatment of T2DM”. As a result, the ultimate fate of ITCA 650
(exenatide implant) remains unclear.

 
NPM-115
 

NPM-115 (high-dose exenatide implant) candidate is a GLP-1 receptor agonist in development for the treatment of chronic weight management in obese and/or overweight
patients. Competition in the GLP-1 class for this indication includes the following:

 
 ● Teva’s Adipex® (phentermine) and generics
 ● Roche’s Xenical® (orlistat) generics
 ● Vivus’s Qsymia® (phentermine/topiramate extended release)
 ● Orexigen’s Contrave® (bupropion/naltrexone)
 ● Lilly (Zepbound®/tirzepatide)
 ● Novo Nordisk (Saxenda®/liraglutide); and (Wegovy®/semaglutide)

 
In addition to the approved products noted above, there are multiple GLP-1 monotherapy agonists, dual agonists and triple agonists in various stages of clinical
development.
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We believe NPM-115, our lead drug implant candidate for chronic weight management, has the potential to address two important aspects of the GLP-1 category which are
associated with the above-mentioned products, namely, poor real-world medication adherence and potential undesirable gastrointestinal tolerability.

 
NPM-119
 

NPM-119 (exenatide implant) candidate is a GLP-1 receptor agonist in development for the treatment of type 2 diabetes. Competition in the GLP-1 class for this indication
includes the following:

 
 ● Lilly (Trulicity®/dulaglutide) and (Mounjaro®/ tirzepatide)
 ● Novo Nordisk (Victoza®/liraglutide); (Ozempic®/semaglutide); and (Rybelsus®/semaglutide)
 ● AstraZeneca (Bydureon BCise®/exenatide); and (Byetta®/exenatide)
 ● Sanofi (Adlyxin®/lixisenatide)

 
In addition to the approved products noted above, there are multiple GLP-1 monotherapy agonists, dual agonists and triple agonists in various stages of clinical

development which include but are not limited to Lilly (retatrutide) and (orforglipron), Altimmune (pevidutide), Novo Nordisk (CagriSema); Structure Therapeutics (GSBR-
1290), and Amgen AMG 133.
 

We believe NPM-119, our lead drug implant candidate for type 2 diabetes, has the potential to address two important aspects of the GLP-1category which are associated
with the above-mentioned products, namely, poor real-world medication adherence and potential undesirable gastrointestinal tolerability.

 
NPM-139
 

NPM-139 (semaglutide implant) candidate is in feasibility testing for the treatment of chronic weight management in obese and/or overweight patients. According to the
World Obesity Atlas 2022, one billion adults globally will have obesity (BMI ≥30 kg/m2), or about 18% of the adult population, by 2030. In addition, it is expected that there
will be 103 million children and 150 million adolescents living with obesity by 2030 as well.

 
Competition in the treatment of obesity includes the following:
 

 ● Teva’s Adipex® (phentermine) and generics
 ● Roche’s Xenical® (orlistat) generics
 ● Vivus’s Qsymia® (phentermine/topiramate extended release)
 ● Orexigen’s Contrave® (bupropion/naltrexone)
 ● Lilly (Zepbound®/tirzepatide)
 ● Novo Nordisk’s Saxenda® (liraglutide) and Wegovy® (semaglutide)
 ● Roche CT-388 (Phase 2); CT-868 (Phase 2) and CT-996 (Phase 1)
 
Sales and Marketing
 

Vivani currently does not have a commercial infrastructure in any geography. As we progress our programs through development, we may build a commercial
infrastructure in the United States and selected other territories to support the commercialization of each of our product candidates when we believe a regulatory approval in a
particular territory is likely. We intend to conduct market research in connection with designing our commercialization strategy for each of our product candidates. We may seek
licensing or other strategic collaborations with, for example, global pharmaceutical company partners, to support our commercialization efforts. We will consider a range of
options including building a commercial capability internally, leveraging third-party biopharmaceutical commercialization organizations, other strategic partners, distributors
and/or contract sales forces to expand the commercial availability of our product candidates when appropriate.

 
Our Corporate Information
 

Vivani was incorporated under the laws of California on December 17, 2009. Its operations began in 2010.
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On July 6, 2023, Vivani changed its state of incorporation from the State of California to the State of Delaware by means of a plan of conversion, effective July 5, 2023.
 
Vivani’s corporate office is located at 1350 South Loop Road, Alameda, CA 94502; its telephone number is (415) 506-8462; and its website is located at www.vivani.com.
 

Chemistry, Manufacturing, and Controls
 

Vivani has developed production processes and quality systems to support the manufacture of NPM-119 clinical materials for use in the currently planned FIH
(LIBERATE-1) clinical study. A small number of processes are continuing to be refined prior to the production of the materials to be used in the study. In addition, efforts have
also been initiated to support potential subsequent clinical investigations.

 
Vivani has established in-house research, development, and manufacturing capabilities in its corporate headquarters in Alameda, California, U.S. Vivani has also engaged

with contract manufacturers and/or analytical laboratories for selected processes when appropriate. In general, Vivani purchases the drug substance from a third-party
manufacturer. Vivani intends to conduct all assembly processes in which the drug substance is present, including the associated in-process testing, when producing materials for
Phase 1 and Phase 2 clinical trials. Vivani anticipates that all assembly processes in which the drug substance is present, including the associated in-process testing, will be
performed by contract manufacturers when producing materials for any registration trial or commercial use. Several device components and all raw materials are purchased
from outside vendors according to established specifications. The device assembly processes, including the associated in-process testing, and final product testing are
anticipated to be performed by Vivani in Alameda, California. The custom applicator, which is intended to facilitate subdermal placement of the implant in patients, has been
designed and will be manufactured by a contract manufacturer. Several device components and the drug substance are purchased from outside vendors according to established
specifications. 

 
As the NPM-119 program advances, Vivani may also engage with additional contract analytical and manufacturing organizations as needed. Currently, Vivani is not a party

to any long-term, commercial manufacturing agreements.
 

Intellectual Property 
 

As of December 31, 2023, Vivani held or controlled 14 issued U.S. patents, 8 pending U.S. patent applications, and 12 patents in various jurisdictions outside the United
States. Additionally, Vivani is pursuing 22 corresponding patent applications that are pending in various foreign jurisdictions. Further advancement of Vivani’s intellectual
property portfolio will require the filing of patent applications related to its proprietary manufacturing process and product candidates. Vivani has patents extending into
Australia, China, Germany, India, Japan, Netherlands, New Zealand, Republic of Korea, Russia and the United States of America, as well as trade secrets protecting Vivani’s
intellectual property. Vivani’s patent prosecution strategy includes exploration of opportunities to expand its patent life and use cases in order to broaden its existing patent
portfolio.

 
Below is a further description of certain of Vivani’s key issued patents, including the category of protection, expiration date, number of related patents issued in foreign

jurisdictions and the product candidates to which each patent relates. Vivani currently holds or controls:
 
 ● 14 patents issued in the United States (U.S. Patent Nos. 7,687,431, 9,511,212, 9,770,412, 9,814,867, 10,045,943, 10,105,523, 10,479,868, 10,525,248, 10,688,056,

10,792,481, 11,021,576, 11,129,791, 11,191,935 and 11,478,430) and 12 patents issued in foreign jurisdictions. One US patent has been allowed but has not yet been
issued. The patents are directed to the manufacture and use of a drug delivery system and more specifically, to a titania nanotube membrane and capsule utilizing the
proprietary NanoPortal technology platform. The methods include methods of drug delivery and treatment with a composition such as exenatide, methods to implant a
drug delivery system, and methods of manufacturing a nanoporous membrane, as well as an implantable drug delivery system, a titania nanotube membrane, and
titania nanotubes. These U.S. patents relate to an apparatus to implant a drug delivery system, an implantable drug delivery system comprising exenatide, a titania
nanotube membrane, a method of making a titania nanotube membrane, and a method of making titania nanotubes, which are expected to expire in 2025-2038, while
patents issued in foreign jurisdictions are expected to expire in 2024-2035;

 ● 4 of the patents issued in the United States (U.S. Patent Nos. 9,511,212, 10,792,481, 11,129,791 and 11,478,430) are also directed to implantable drug delivery
devices. These U.S. patents relate to exenatide and are expected to expire in 2035 and 2037;
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 ● 5 of the patents issued in the United States (U.S. Patent Nos. 9,511,212, 10,105,523, 10,525,248, 10,792,481 and 11,191,935) are also directed to apparatuses and

methods for promoting fluid uptake. These U.S. patents relate to an apparatus to implant a drug delivery system and are expected to expire in 2036 and 2038;
 ● 5 of the patents issued in the United States (U.S. Patent Nos. 10,479,868, 11,021,576, 10,045,943, 10,688,056 and 11,478,430) and 3 of the patents issued in a foreign

jurisdiction are also directed to formulations. These U.S. patents relate to an exenatide composition and an implantable drug delivery system comprising exenatide and
are expected to expire in 2035;

 ● 1 of the patents issued in the United States (U.S. Patent No. 9,770,412) is also directed to coated nanoporous membranes. This U.S. patent relates to a method of
manufacturing a nanoporous membrane and a nanopore membrane, which is expected to expire in 2035;

 ● 1 of the patents issued in the United States (U.S. Patent No. 9,814,867) and 4 of the patents issued in foreign jurisdictions, are also directed to titania nanotube
membranes. This U.S. patent relates to a method of making a titania nanotube membrane and is expected to expire in 2034;

 ● 1 of the patents issued in the United States (U.S. Patent No. 7,687,431) and 5 of the patents issued in foreign jurisdictions, are also directed to nanotube fabrication.
This U.S. patent relates to a method of making titania nanotubes and is expected to expire in 2025; and

 ● 19 pending U.S. applications and 18 applications pending in foreign jurisdictions, which are directed to implantable drug delivery devices, methods to control release,
and formulations.

 
Wherever possible, Vivani seeks to protect its inventions by filing U.S. patents as well as foreign counterpart applications in select other countries. Because patent

applications in the U.S. are maintained in secrecy for at least eighteen months after the applications are filed, and since publication of discoveries in the scientific or patent
literature often lags behind actual discoveries, Vivani cannot be certain that it was the first to make the inventions covered by each of its issued or pending patent applications,
or that Vivani was the first to file for protection of inventions set forth in such patent applications. Vivani’s planned, or potential products may be covered by third-party patents
or other intellectual property rights, in which case continued development and marketing of its products would require a license. Required licenses may not be available to
Vivani on commercially acceptable terms, if at all. If Vivani does not obtain these licenses, it could encounter delays in product introductions while it attempts to design around
the patents, or Vivani could find that the development, manufacture, or sale of products requiring such licenses are not possible.

 
In addition to patent protection, Vivani also relies on know-how, trade secrets, and the careful monitoring of proprietary information, all of which can be difficult to protect.

Vivani seeks to protect some of its proprietary technology and processes by entering into confidentiality agreements with its employees, consultants, and contractors. These
agreements may be breached, Vivani may not have adequate remedies for any breach and its trade secrets may otherwise become known or be independently discovered by
competitors. To the extent that Vivani’s employees or its consultants or contractors use intellectual property owned by others in their work for Vivani, disputes may also arise as
to the rights in related or resulting know-how and inventions.

 
Government Regulation
 

Regulatory authorities in the U.S. at the federal, state, and local level and in other countries extensively regulate, among other things, the research and clinical
development, testing, manufacture, quality control, approval, labeling, packaging, storage, record-keeping, promotion, advertising, distribution, post-approval monitoring and
reporting, marketing, pricing, and export and import of drugs, medical devices and combinations of drugs and devices (combination products) such as those we are developing.
Generally, before a new drug or drug-device combination product can be marketed, considerable data demonstrating its quality, safety, and efficacy must be obtained, organized
into a format specific to each regulatory authority, submitted for review, and approved by the relevant regulatory authority.
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In the U.S., the FDA regulates drugs, devices and combination products under the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (“FDCA”), and its implementing regulations.
These products are also subject to other federal, state and local statutes and regulations. The process of obtaining regulatory approvals and the subsequent compliance with
appropriate federal, state, local and foreign statutes and regulations require the expenditure of substantial time and financial resources. Failure to comply with the applicable
U.S. requirements at any time during the product development process, approval process or after approval, may subject an applicant to administrative or judicial sanctions.
These sanctions could include, among other actions, the FDA’s, or another regulatory authority’s, refusal to approve pending applications, withdrawal of an approval, a clinical
hold, untitled or warning letters, product recalls or withdrawals from the market, product seizures, total or partial suspension of production or distribution, injunctions, fines,
debarment, refusals of government contracts, restitution, disgorgement, or civil or criminal penalties. Any agency or judicial enforcement action could have a material adverse
effect on us.
 
U.S. Drug Development
 

Our product candidates are subject to regulation as combination products, which means that they are composed of both a drug product and device product. If marketed
individually, each component would be subject to different regulatory pathways and reviewed by different centers within the FDA. A combination product, however, is assigned
to a center that will have primary jurisdiction over its regulation based on a determination of the combination product’s primary mode of action, which is the single mode of
action that provides the most important therapeutic action. In the case of our product candidates, the primary mode of action is attributable to the drug component of the
product, which means that the FDA’s Center for Drug Evaluation and Research has primary jurisdiction over the premarket development, review and approval of our product
candidates. Accordingly, we plan to investigate our products through the IND framework and seek approval through the NDA pathway. The process required by the FDA before
a drug may be marketed in the U.S. generally involves the following:

 
 ● completion of extensive preclinical laboratory tests, animal studies and formulation studies in accordance with applicable regulations, including the FDA’s Good

Laboratory Practice regulations;
 
 ● submission to the FDA of an IND, which must become effective before human clinical trials may begin;
 
 ● approval by an independent IRB representing each clinical site before each clinical trial may be initiated;
 
 ● performance of adequate and well-controlled human clinical trials in accordance with an applicable IND and other clinical study related regulations, sometimes

referred to as good clinical practices (“GCP”) regulations, to establish the safety and efficacy of the proposed drug for its proposed indication;
 
 ● submission to the FDA of an NDA which, for a combination product like our product candidates, is expected to include information and data regarding the drug

delivery device technology;
 
 ● satisfactory completion of an FDA pre-approval inspection of the manufacturing facility or facilities at which the product, or components thereof, are produced to

assess compliance with the FDA’s current good manufacturing practice requirements (“cGMP”);
 
 ● potential FDA inspection of Vivani, the clinical trial sites or other vendors that generated the data in support of the NDA;
 
 ● payment of associated user fees;
 
 ● review by an FDA advisory committee, where appropriate or if applicable;
 
 ● FDA review and approval of the NDA prior to any commercial marketing or sale; and
 
 ● compliance with any post-approval requirements, including the potential requirement to implement a Risk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategy (“REMS”), and the

potential requirements to conduct post-approval studies.
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Once a pharmaceutical product candidate is identified for development, it enters the preclinical testing stage. Preclinical tests include laboratory evaluations of product
chemistry, toxicity, formulation and stability, as well as animal studies. A sponsor must submit the results of the preclinical tests, together with manufacturing information,
analytical data and any available clinical data or literature, to the FDA as part of the IND. An IND is an exemption from the FDCA that allows an unapproved product to be
shipped in interstate commerce for use in an investigational clinical trial and a request for FDA authorization to administer such investigational product to humans. The sponsor
must also include a protocol detailing, among other things, the objectives of the initial clinical trial, the parameters to be used in monitoring safety and the effectiveness criteria
to be evaluated if the initial clinical trial lends itself to an efficacy evaluation. Some preclinical testing may continue even after the IND is submitted. The IND automatically
becomes effective 30 days after receipt by the FDA, unless the FDA raises concerns or questions related to a proposed clinical trial and places the trial on a clinical hold within
that 30-day period. In such a case, the IND sponsor and the FDA must resolve any outstanding concerns before the clinical trial can begin. Clinical holds also may be imposed
by the FDA at any time before or during clinical trials due to safety concerns or non-compliance and may be imposed on all drug products within a certain class of drugs. The
FDA also can impose partial clinical holds, for example, prohibiting the initiation of clinical trials of a certain duration or for a certain dose.
 

All clinical trials must be conducted under the supervision of one or more qualified investigators in accordance with GCP regulations. These regulations include the
requirement that all research subjects provide informed consent in writing before their participation in any clinical trial. Further, an IRB must review and approve the plan for
any clinical trial before it commences at any institution, and the IRB must conduct continuing review and reapprove the study at least annually. An IRB considers, among other
things, whether the risks to individuals participating in the clinical trial are minimized and are reasonable in relation to anticipated benefits. The IRB also approves the
information regarding the clinical trial and the consent form that must be provided to each clinical trial subject or his or her legal representative and must monitor the clinical
trial until completed.

 
Each new clinical protocol and any amendments to the protocol must be submitted for FDA review, and to the IRBs for approval. Protocols detail, among other things, the

objectives of the clinical trial, dosing procedures, subject selection and exclusion criteria, and the parameters to be used to monitor subject safety.
 
Human clinical trials are typically conducted in three sequential phases that may overlap or be combined:
 

 ● Phase 1. The product is initially introduced into a small number of healthy human subjects or patients and tested for safety, dosage tolerance, absorption, metabolism,
distribution and excretion and, if possible, to gain early evidence on effectiveness. In the case of some products for severe or life-threatening diseases, especially when
the product is suspected or known to be unavoidably toxic, the initial human testing may be conducted in patients.

 
 ● Phase 2. Involves clinical trials in a limited patient population to identify possible adverse effects and safety risks, to preliminarily evaluate the efficacy of the product

for specific targeted diseases and to determine dosage tolerance and optimal dosage and schedule.
 
 ● Phase 3. Clinical trials are undertaken to further evaluate dosage, clinical efficacy and safety in an expanded patient population at geographically dispersed clinical

trial sites. These clinical trials are intended to establish the overall risk/benefit relationship of the product and provide an adequate basis for product labeling.
 

Post-approval trials, sometimes referred to as Phase 4 clinical trials, may be conducted after initial marketing approval. These studies are used to gain additional experience
from the treatment of patients in the intended therapeutic indication. In certain instances, the FDA may mandate the performance of Phase 4 trials. Companies that conduct
certain clinical trials also are required to register them and post the results of completed clinical trials on a government-sponsored database, such as ClinicalTrials.gov in the
United States, within certain timeframes. Failure to do so can result in fines, adverse publicity and civil and criminal sanctions.
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Progress reports detailing the results of the clinical trials, among other information, must be submitted at least annually to the FDA, and written IND safety reports must be
submitted to the FDA and the investigators for serious and unexpected adverse events, findings from other studies that suggest a significant risk to humans exposed to the
product, findings from animal or in vitro testing that suggest a significant risk to human subjects, and any clinically important increase in the rate of a serious suspected adverse
reaction over that listed in the protocol or investigator brochure. Phase 1, Phase 2 and Phase 3 clinical trials may not be completed successfully within any specified period, if at
all. The FDA or the clinical trial sponsor may suspend or terminate a clinical trial at any time on various grounds, including a finding that the research subjects or patients are
being exposed to an unacceptable health risk. Similarly, an IRB can suspend or terminate approval of a clinical trial at its institution if the clinical trial is not being conducted in
accordance with the IRB’s requirements or if the product has been associated with unexpected serious harm to patients. Additionally, some clinical trials are overseen by an
independent group of qualified experts organized by the clinical trial sponsor, known as a data safety monitoring board or committee. This group provides authorization for
whether a trial may move forward at designated check points based on access to certain data from the study. The clinical trial sponsor may also suspend or terminate a clinical
trial based on evolving business objectives and/or competitive climate.
 

Concurrent with clinical trials, companies usually complete additional animal studies and must also develop additional information about the chemistry and physical
characteristics of the product and finalize a process for manufacturing the product in commercial quantities in accordance with cGMP requirements. The manufacturing process
must be capable of consistently producing quality batches of the product candidate and, among other things, the manufacturer must develop methods for testing the identity,
strength, quality and purity of the final product. Additionally, appropriate packaging must be selected and tested and stability studies must be conducted to demonstrate that the
product candidate does not undergo unacceptable deterioration over its shelf life. In addition, for certain combination products it may be necessary to conduct human factors
studies prior to NDA submission to ascertain the usability of the product by patients in real-world settings.

 
NDA and FDA Review Process
 

The results of product development, preclinical studies and clinical trials, along with descriptions of the manufacturing process, analytical tests conducted on the drug,
proposed labeling and other relevant information, are submitted to the FDA as part of an NDA for a new drug, requesting approval to market the product. An NDA for a new
drug must contain proof of the drug’s safety and efficacy. The submission of an NDA is subject to the payment of a substantial application user fee, and the sponsor of an
approved NDA is also subject to an annual program user fee; although a waiver of some such fees may be obtained under certain limited circumstances. For example, the
agency will waive the application fee for the first human drug application that a small business or its affiliate submits for review.

 
The FDA reviews all NDAs submitted before it accepts them for filing and may request additional information rather than accepting an NDA for filing. The FDA typically

makes a decision on accepting an NDA for filing within 60 days of receipt. The decision to accept the NDA for filing means that the FDA has made a threshold determination
that the application is sufficiently complete to permit a substantive review. Under the goals and policies agreed to by the FDA under the Prescription Drug User Fee Act
(PDUFA), the FDA’s goal to complete its substantive review of a standard NDA and respond to the applicant is ten months from the receipt of the NDA. The FDA does not
always meet its PDUFA goal dates, and the review process is often significantly extended by FDA requests for additional information or clarification and may go through
multiple review cycles.

 
After the NDA submission is accepted for filing, the FDA reviews the NDA to determine, among other things, whether the proposed product is safe and effective for its

intended use, and whether the product is being manufactured in accordance with cGMPs to assure and preserve the product’s identity, strength, quality and purity. During its
review, the FDA will likely re-analyze the clinical trial data, which could result in extensive discussions between the FDA and us during the review process. The review and
evaluation of an NDA by the FDA is extensive and time consuming and may take longer than originally planned to complete, and we may not receive a timely approval, if at
all. The FDA may refer applications for novel drug products or drug products which present difficult questions of safety or efficacy to an advisory committee, typically a panel
that includes clinicians and other experts, for review, evaluation and a recommendation as to whether the application should be approved and under what conditions. The FDA
is not bound by the recommendations of an advisory committee, but it considers such recommendations carefully when making decisions.
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Before approving an NDA, the FDA will conduct a pre-approval inspection of the manufacturing facilities for the new product to determine whether they comply with
cGMPs. The FDA will not approve the product unless it determines that the manufacturing processes and facilities are in compliance with cGMP requirements and adequate to
assure consistent production of the product within required specifications. In reviewing the NDA for a drug-device combination product, FDA reviewers in the drug center
could consult with their counterparts in the device center to ensure that the device component of the combination product met applicable requirements regarding safety,
effectiveness, durability and performance. In addition, under FDA regulations, combination products are subject to cGMP requirements applicable to both drugs and devices,
including the Quality System Regulations (“QSRs”) applicable to medical devices. In addition, before approving an NDA, the FDA may also audit data from clinical trials to
ensure compliance with GCP requirements. After the FDA evaluates the application, manufacturing process and manufacturing facilities, it may issue an approval letter or a
complete response letter (“CRL”). An approval letter authorizes commercial marketing of the drug with specific prescribing information for specific indications. A CRL
indicates that the review cycle of the application is complete and the application will not be approved in its present form. A CRL usually describes all the specific deficiencies
in the NDA identified by the FDA. The CRL may require additional clinical data and/or an additional pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial(s), and/or other significant and time-
consuming requirements related to clinical trials, nonclinical studies or manufacturing. If a CRL is issued, the applicant may either resubmit the NDA, addressing all the
deficiencies identified in the letter, or withdraw the application. Even if such data and information are submitted, the FDA may ultimately decide that the NDA does not satisfy
the criteria for approval. Data obtained from clinical trials are not always conclusive, and the FDA may interpret data differently than we interpret the same data.

 
There is no assurance that the FDA will ultimately approve a product for marketing in the United States, and we may encounter significant difficulties or costs during the

review process. If a product receives marketing approval, the approval may be significantly limited to specific diseases and dosages or the indications for use may otherwise be
limited, which could restrict the commercial value of the product. Further, the FDA may require that certain contraindications, warnings, or precautions be included in the
product labeling or may condition the approval of the NDA on other changes to the proposed labeling, development of adequate controls and specifications, or a commitment to
conduct post-market testing or clinical trials and surveillance to monitor the effects of approved products. For example, the FDA may require Phase 4 clinical trials to further
assess drug safety and effectiveness and may require testing and surveillance programs to monitor the safety of approved products that have been commercialized. The FDA
may also place other conditions on approvals including the requirement for a REMS to assure the safe use of the drug. If the FDA concludes a REMS is needed, the sponsor of
the NDA must submit a proposed REMS; the FDA will not approve the NDA without an approved REMS, if required. A REMS could include medication guides, physician
communication plans, or elements to assure safe use, such as restricted distribution methods, patient registries, and other risk minimization tools. Any of these limitations on
approval or marketing could restrict the commercial promotion, distribution, prescription or dispensing of products. Product approvals may be withdrawn for non-compliance
with regulatory requirements or if problems occur following initial marketing.

 
505(b)(2) Approval Process
 

NDAs for most new drug products are based on at least two adequate and well-controlled clinical studies and must contain substantial evidence of the safety and
effectiveness of the proposed new product for the proposed use. These applications are submitted under Section 505(b)(1) of the FDCA. The FDA is authorized, however, to
approve an alternative type of NDA under Section 505(b)(2) of the FDCA. An application under 505(b)(2) provides an alternate regulatory pathway for the FDA to approve a
new product and permits reliance for such approval on published literature or an FDA finding of safety and effectiveness for a previously approved similar drug product, or
published literature. Specifically, Section 505(b)(2) permits the filing of an NDA where one or more of the investigations relied upon by the applicant for approval were not
conducted by or for the applicant and for which the applicant has not obtained a right of reference.

 
Thus, Section 505(b)(2) authorizes the FDA to approve an NDA based on safety and effectiveness data that were not developed by the applicant. NDAs filed under Section

505(b)(2) may provide an alternative and potentially more expeditious pathway to FDA approval for new or improved formulations or new uses of previously approved
products. If the 505(b)(2) applicant can establish that reliance on the FDA’s previous approval is scientifically appropriate, the applicant may eliminate the need to conduct
certain preclinical or clinical studies of the new product. Typically, 505(b)(2) applicants must perform additional trials to support the change from the previously approved drug
and to further demonstrate the new product’s safety and effectiveness. The FDA may then approve the new product candidate for all or some of the labeled indications for
which the referenced product has been approved, as well as for any new indication sought by the 505(b)(2) applicant.
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Pediatric Trials
 

Under the Pediatric Research Equity Act (“PREA”), an NDA or supplement to an NDA must contain data to assess the safety and efficacy of the product for the claimed
indications in all relevant pediatric subpopulations and to support dosing and administration for each pediatric subpopulation for which the product is safe and effective. The
FDCA requires that a sponsor who is planning to submit a marketing application for a drug or biological product that includes a new active ingredient, new indication, new
dosage form, new dosing regimen or new route of administration submit an initial Pediatric Study Plan (“PSP”) within sixty days of an end-of-Phase 2 meeting or as may be
agreed between the sponsor and FDA. The initial PSP must include an outline of the pediatric study or studies that the sponsor plans to conduct, including study objectives and
design, age groups, relevant endpoints and statistical approach, or a justification for not including such detailed information, and any request for a deferral of pediatric
assessments or a full or partial waiver of the requirement to provide data from pediatric studies along with supporting information. The FDA and the sponsor must reach
agreement on the PSP. A sponsor can submit amendments to an agreed-upon initial PSP at any time if changes to the pediatric plan need to be considered based on data
collected from nonclinical studies, early phase clinical trials, and/or other clinical development programs. The FDA may, on its own initiative or at the request of the applicant,
grant deferrals for submission of data or full or partial waivers.

 
Post-Marketing Requirements
 

Any products for which we receive FDA approval are subject to continuing regulation by the FDA, including, among other things, monitoring and recordkeeping activities,
reporting to the applicable regulatory authorities of adverse events with the product, providing the regulatory authorities with updated safety and efficacy information, and
product sampling and distribution requirements in accordance with the Prescription Drug Marketing Act, a part of the FDCA. Moreover, each component of a combination
product retains its regulatory status (as a drug or device, for example) and is subject to the requirements established by the FDA for that type of component. The FDA strictly
regulates labeling, advertising, promotion and other types of information on products that are placed on the market.

 
Prescription drug advertising is subject to federal, state and foreign regulations. In the United States, the FDA regulates prescription drug promotion and advertising,

including direct-to-consumer advertising. Prescription drug promotional materials must be submitted to the FDA in conjunction with their first use. In addition, a
pharmaceutical company must comply with restrictions on promoting drugs for uses or in patient populations that are not described in the drug’s approved labeling (known as
“off-label use”), limitations on industry-sponsored scientific and educational activities, and requirements for promotional activities involving the internet. Although physicians
may prescribe legally available drugs for off-label uses, manufacturers and their agents may not market or promote such off-label uses or provide off-label information in the
promotion of drug products that is not consistent with the approved labeling for those products. The FDA and other regulatory and enforcement authorities actively enforce
laws and regulations prohibiting promotion of off-label uses and the promotion of products for which marketing approval has not been obtained. A company that is found to
have improperly promoted off-label uses may be subject to corrective advertising in addition to significant liability, which may include civil and administrative remedies as well
as criminal sanctions.

 
In the U.S., once a product is approved, its manufacture is subject to comprehensive and continuing regulation by the FDA. The FDA regulations require that combination

products be manufactured in specific approved facilities and in accordance with cGMPs applicable to drugs and devices, including certain QSR requirements. We rely, and
expect to continue to rely, on third parties for the production of clinical and commercial quantities of our products in accordance with cGMP regulations. cGMP regulations
require among other things, quality control and quality assurance as well as the corresponding maintenance of records and documentation and the obligation to investigate and
correct any deviations from cGMP. Drug manufacturers and other entities involved in the manufacture and distribution of approved drugs are required to register their
establishments with the FDA and certain state agencies and are subject to periodic unannounced inspections by the FDA and certain state agencies for compliance with cGMPs
and other laws. Accordingly, manufacturers must continue to expend time, money, and effort in the area of production and quality control to maintain cGMP compliance. These
regulations also impose certain organizational, procedural and documentation requirements with respect to manufacturing and quality assurance activities. NDA holders using
contract manufacturers, laboratories or packagers are responsible for the selection and monitoring of qualified firms, and, in certain circumstances, qualified suppliers to these
firms. These firms and, where applicable, their suppliers are subject to inspections by the FDA at any time, and the discovery of violative conditions, including failure to
conform to cGMPs, could result in enforcement actions that interrupt the operation of any such facilities or the ability to distribute products manufactured, processed or tested
by them. Discovery of problems with a product after approval may result in restrictions on a product, manufacturer, or holder of an approved NDA, including, among other
things, recall or withdrawal of the product from the market. Additionally, manufacturers and other parties involved in the drug supply chain for prescription drug products must
also comply with product tracking and tracing requirements and for notifying the FDA of counterfeit, diverted, stolen and intentionally adulterated products or products that are
otherwise unfit for distribution in the U.S.
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The FDA also may require post-marketing testing, known as Phase 4 testing, a REMS to assure the safe use of the drug, and surveillance to monitor the effects of an
approved product or place conditions on an approval that could restrict the distribution or use of the product. Discovery of previously unknown problems with a product or the
failure to comply with applicable FDA requirements can have negative consequences, including adverse publicity, judicial or administrative enforcement, untitled or warning
letters from the FDA, mandated corrective advertising or communications with doctors, and civil or criminal penalties, among others. Newly discovered or developed safety or
effectiveness data may require changes to a product’s approved labeling, including the addition of new warnings and contraindications, and may require the implementation of
other risk management measures. Also, new government requirements, including those resulting from new legislation, may be established, or the FDA’s policies may change,
which could delay or prevent regulatory approval of our products under development and impact approved products already on the market.

 
Orphan Designation and Exclusivity
 

The FDA may grant orphan drug designation to drugs intended to treat a rare disease or condition that affects fewer than 200,000 individuals in the United States.
Alternatively, orphan drug designation may be available if the disease or the condition affects 200,000 or more individuals in the United States and there is no reasonable
expectation that the cost of developing and making the drug for this type of disease or condition will be recovered from sales in the United States.

 
Orphan drug designation entitles a party to financial incentives such as opportunities for grant funding towards clinical trial costs, tax advantages, and user-fee waivers. In

addition, if a product is the first to receive FDA approval of the indication for which it has orphan designation, the product is entitled to orphan drug exclusivity, which means
the FDA may not approve any other application to market the same drug for the same orphan indication for a period of seven years, except in limited circumstances, such as a
showing of clinical superiority over the product with orphan exclusivity. Competitors, however, may receive approval of different products for the indication for which the
orphan product has exclusivity or obtain approval for the same product but for a different indication for which the orphan product has exclusivity, which may permit off-label
use for the orphan indication. Orphan product exclusivity also could block the approval of one of our products for seven years if a competitor obtains approval of the same drug
or biological product as defined by the FDA for the same orphan indication or if our product candidate is determined to be contained within the competitor’s product for the
same indication or disease. If a drug or biological product designated as an orphan product receives marketing approval for an indication broader than what is designated, it
may not be entitled to orphan product exclusivity.

 
U.S. Marketing Exclusivity
 

Market exclusivity provisions under the FDCA can delay the submission or the approval of certain marketing applications. The FDCA provides a five-year period of non-
patent data exclusivity within the U.S. to the first applicant to obtain approval of an NDA for a new chemical entity. A drug is a new chemical entity if the FDA has not
previously approved any other new drug containing the same active moiety, which is the molecule or ion responsible for the action of the drug substance. During the exclusivity
period, the FDA may not accept for review an abbreviated new drug application (“ANDA”) or 505(b)(2) NDA, submitted by another company for another drug based on the
same active moiety, regardless of whether the drug is intended for the same indication as the original innovative drug or for another indication, where the applicant does not
own or have a legal right of reference to all the data required for approval. However, an application may be submitted after four years if it contains a certification of patent
invalidity or non-infringement to one of the patents listed with the FDA by the innovator NDA holder.
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The FDCA alternatively provides three years of marketing exclusivity for an NDA, or supplement to an existing NDA if new clinical investigations, other than
bioavailability studies, that were conducted or sponsored by the applicant are deemed by the FDA to be essential to the approval of the application, for example new
indications, dosages or strengths of an existing drug. This three-year exclusivity covers only the modification for which the drug received approval on the basis of the new
clinical investigations and does not prohibit the FDA from approving ANDAs or 505(b)(2) NDAs for drugs containing the active agent for the original indication or condition
of use. Five-year and three-year exclusivity will not delay the submission or approval of a full NDA. However, an applicant submitting a full NDA would be required to
conduct, or obtain a right of reference to, all of the preclinical studies and adequate and well-controlled clinical trials necessary to demonstrate safety and effectiveness.

 
Pediatric exclusivity is another type of marketing exclusivity available in the U.S. Pediatric exclusivity provides for an additional six months of marketing exclusivity

attached to another period of exclusivity if a sponsor conducts clinical trials in children in response to a Written Request from the FDA. The issuance of a Written Request does
not require the sponsor to undertake the described clinical trials.

 
Healthcare Laws & Regulations
 

In the U.S., the research, manufacturing, distribution, sale and promotion of drug products and medical devices are potentially subject to regulation by various federal, state
and local authorities in addition to the FDA, including the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (“CMS”), other divisions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human
Services (e.g., the Office of Inspector General), the Drug Enforcement Administration, the Consumer Product Safety Commission, the Federal Trade Commission, the
Occupational Safety & Health Administration, the Environmental Protection Agency, state Attorneys General and other state and local government agencies. For example,
sales, marketing, and scientific/educational grant programs must comply with the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, the federal False Claims Act, the privacy regulations
promulgated under the Health Information Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (“HIPAA”), and similar state laws. Pricing and rebate programs must also comply with
the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program requirements of the Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1990, as amended, provisions of the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022, and the
Veterans Health Care Act of 1992, as amended. The handling of any controlled substances must comply with the U.S. Controlled Substances Act and Controlled Substances
Import and Export Act. Products must meet applicable child-resistant packaging requirements under the U.S. Poison Prevention Packaging Act. All of these activities are also
potentially subject to federal and state consumer protection and unfair competition laws.

 
The Medicare Modernization Act (“MMA”) established the Medicare Part D program to provide a voluntary prescription drug benefit to Medicare beneficiaries. Under

Part D, Medicare beneficiaries may enroll in prescription drug plans offered by private entities which will provide coverage of outpatient prescription drugs. Unlike Medicare
Part A and B, Part D coverage is not standardized. Part D prescription drug plan sponsors are not required to pay for all covered Part D drugs, and each drug plan can develop
its own drug formulary that identifies which drugs it will cover and at what tier or level. However, Part D prescription drug formularies must include drugs within each
therapeutic category and class of covered Part D drugs, though not necessarily all the drugs in each category or class. Any formulary used by a Part D prescription drug plan
must be developed and reviewed by a pharmacy and therapeutic committee. Government payment for some of the costs of prescription drugs may increase demand for products
for which Vivani may receive regulatory approval. However, any negotiated prices for Vivani’s products (if covered by a Part D prescription drug plan) will likely be lower than
the prices Vivani might otherwise obtain. Moreover, while the MMA applies only to drug benefits for Medicare beneficiaries, private payors often follow Medicare coverage
policy and payment limitations in setting their own payment rates. Any reduction in payment under Medicare may result in a similar reduction in payments from non-
government payors.

 
The distribution of pharmaceutical products is subject to additional requirements and regulations, including extensive record-keeping, licensing, storage, and security

requirements intended to prevent the unauthorized sale of pharmaceutical products.
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In addition, in some foreign countries, the proposed pricing for a drug must be approved before it may be lawfully marketed. The requirements governing drug pricing vary
widely from country to country. For example, the European Union provides options for its member states to restrict the range of medicinal products for which their national
health insurance systems provide reimbursement and to control the prices of medicinal products for human use. A member state may approve a specific price for the medicinal
product, or it may instead adopt a system of direct or indirect controls on the profitability of the company placing the medicinal product on the market. There can be no
assurance that any country that has price controls or reimbursement limitations for pharmaceutical products will allow favorable reimbursement and pricing arrangements for
any of Vivani’s products. Historically, products launched in the European Union do not follow price structures of the U.S. and generally tend to be priced significantly lower
than in the U.S.

 
In the U.S., once Vivani has products on the market, the company will be subject to complex laws and regulations pertaining to healthcare “fraud and abuse,” including, but

not limited to, the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, the federal False Claims Act, and other state and federal laws and regulations. The federal Anti-Kickback Statute makes it
illegal for any person, including a prescription drug manufacturer, or a party acting on its behalf, to knowingly and willfully solicit, receive, offer or pay any remuneration that
is intended to induce the referral of business, including the purchase, order or prescription of a particular drug, or other good or service for which payment in whole or in part
may be made under a federal healthcare program, such as Medicare or Medicaid. Violations of this law are punishable by up to five years in prison, criminal fines,
administrative civil money penalties and exclusion from participation in federal healthcare programs. In addition, many states have adopted laws similar to the federal Anti-
Kickback Statute. Some of these state prohibitions apply to the referral of patients for healthcare services reimbursed by any insurer, not just federal healthcare programs such
as Medicare and Medicaid. Due to the breadth of these federal and state anti-kickback laws, the absence of guidance in the form of regulations or court decisions and the
potential for additional legal or regulatory change in this area, it is possible that Vivani’s future sales and marketing practices or Vivani’s future relationships with medical
professionals might be challenged under anti-kickback laws, which could harm Vivani.

 
The federal False Claims Act prohibits anyone from knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, for payment to federal programs (including Medicare and Medicaid)

claims for items or services, including drugs, that are false or fraudulent, claims for items or services not provided as claimed or claims for medically unnecessary items or
services. Although Vivani would not submit claims directly to payors, manufacturers can be held liable under these laws if they are deemed to “cause” the submission of false
or fraudulent claims by, for example, providing inaccurate billing or coding information to customers or promoting a product off-label. In addition, Vivani’s future activities
relating to the reporting of wholesaler or estimated retail prices for Vivani’s products, the reporting of prices used to calculate Medicaid rebate information and other
information affecting federal, state, and third-party reimbursement for Vivani’s products, and the sale and marketing of Vivani’s products, are subject to scrutiny under this law.
For example, pharmaceutical companies have been found liable under the federal False Claims Act in connection with their off-label promotion of drugs. Penalties for a federal
False Claims Act violation include three times the actual damages sustained by the government, plus mandatory civil penalties of between $13,946 and $27,894 for each
separate false claim, the potential for exclusion from participation in federal healthcare programs and, although the federal False Claims Act is a civil statute, conduct those
results in a federal False Claims Act violation may also implicate various federal criminal statutes. If the government were to allege that Vivani was, or convict Vivani of,
violating these false claims laws, Vivani could be subject to a substantial fine. In addition, private individuals could bring actions under the federal False Claims Act and certain
states have enacted laws modelled after the federal False Claims Act.

 
The federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA, imposes criminal and civil liability for, among other things, executing a scheme to

defraud any healthcare benefit program, or knowingly and willfully falsifying, concealing or covering up a material fact or making any materially false statement in connection
with the delivery of or payment for healthcare benefits, items or services. Similar to the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, a person or entity does not need to have actual
knowledge of the statute or specific intent to violate it in order to have committed a violation.

 
The federal physician payment transparency requirements, sometimes referred to as the “Sunshine Act” under the ACA require certain manufacturers of drugs, devices,

biologics and medical supplies that are reimbursable under Medicare, Medicaid or the Children’s Health Insurance Program to report to HHS information related to payments
and other transfers of value made to physicians (defined to include doctors, dentists, optometrists, podiatrists and chiropractors), certain other licensed health care practitioners
and teaching hospitals; as well as the ownership and investment interests of such physicians and their immediate family members.
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Federal price reporting laws require manufacturers to calculate and report complex pricing metrics to government programs, where such reported prices may be used in the
calculation of reimbursement and/or discounts on approved products.

 
HIPAA, as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act of 2009 and its implementing regulations, also imposes obligations on

certain covered entity healthcare providers, health plans, and healthcare clearinghouses as well as their business associates that perform certain services involving the use or
disclosure of individually identifiable health information, as well as their covered subcontractors, including mandatory contractual terms, with respect to safeguarding the
privacy, security and transmission of individually identifiable health information. HITECH also created new tiers of civil monetary penalties, amended HIPAA to make civil
and criminal penalties directly applicable to business associates, and gave state attorneys general new authority to file civil actions for damages or injunctions in federal courts
to enforce the federal HIPAA laws and seek attorneys’ fees and costs associated with pursuing federal civil actions. In addition, there may be additional federal, state and non-
U.S. laws which govern the privacy and security of health and other personal information in certain circumstances, many of which differ from each other in significant ways
and may not have the same effect, thus complicating compliance efforts.

 
Analogous state laws and regulations, such as state anti-kickback and false claims laws, may apply to sales or marketing arrangements and claims involving healthcare

items or services reimbursed by non-governmental third-party payors, including private insurers, and may be broader in scope than their federal equivalents; some state laws
require pharmaceutical companies to comply with the pharmaceutical industry’s voluntary compliance guidelines and the relevant compliance guidance promulgated by the
federal government in addition to requiring drug manufacturers to report information related to payments to physicians and other health care providers or marketing
expenditures.

 
State laws governing the privacy and security of health information in certain circumstances may also apply, many of which differ from each other in significant ways and

often are not pre-empted by HIPAA, thus complicating compliance efforts, and analogous foreign laws and regulations.
 
In addition, federal consumer protection and unfair competition laws broadly regulate marketplace activities and activities that potentially harm consumers.
 
Similar healthcare laws and regulations in the European Union and other non-U.S. jurisdictions, including reporting requirements detailing interactions with and payments

to healthcare providers and laws governing the privacy and security of certain protected information, such as the General Data Protection Regulation, (“GDPR”), which
imposes obligations and restrictions on the collection and use of personal data relating to individuals located in the EU (including health data). There are also an increasing
number of state laws that require manufacturers to make reports to states on pricing and marketing information. Many of these laws contain ambiguities as to what is required
to comply with the laws. In addition, as discussed below, a similar federal requirement requires manufacturers to track and report to the federal government certain payments
made to physicians and teaching hospitals in the previous calendar year. These laws may affect Vivani’s sales, marketing and other promotional activities by imposing
administrative and compliance burdens on Vivani. In addition, given the lack of clarity with respect to these laws and their implementation, Vivani’s reporting actions could be
subject to the penalty provisions of the pertinent state, and soon federal, authorities.

 
The failure to comply with regulatory requirements subjects companies to possible legal or regulatory action. Depending on the circumstances, failure to meet applicable

regulatory requirements can result in criminal prosecution, fines or other penalties, injunctions, recall or seizure of products, total or partial suspension of production, denial or
withdrawal of product approvals or refusal to allow a company to enter into supply contracts, including government contracts.
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Changes in regulations, statutes or the interpretation of existing regulations could impact Vivani’s business in the future by requiring, for example: (1) changes to Vivani’s
manufacturing facility; (2) additions or modifications to product labeling; (3) the recall or discontinuation of Vivani’s products; or (4) additional record-keeping requirements. If
any such changes were to be imposed, they could adversely affect the operation of Vivani’s business.

 
Rest of the World Regulation
 

Outside of the United States, the requirements governing the conduct of clinical trials, product licensing, pricing and reimbursement vary from country to country.
Additionally, the clinical trials must be conducted in accordance with GCP requirements and the applicable regulatory requirements and the ethical principles that have their
origin in the Declaration of Helsinki.

 
If we fail to comply with applicable foreign regulatory requirements, we may be subject to, among other things, fines, suspension or withdrawal of regulatory approvals,

product recalls, seizure of products, operating restrictions and criminal prosecution.
 

Healthcare Reform & the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act
 

Payors, whether domestic or foreign, or governmental or private, are developing increasingly sophisticated methods of controlling healthcare costs, and those methods are
not always specifically adapted for new technologies such as gene therapy and therapies addressing rare diseases such as those we are developing. In both the United States and
certain foreign jurisdictions, there have been a number of legislative and regulatory changes to the health care system that could impact our ability to sell our products
profitably.

 
In March 2010, the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act of 2010, collectively the PPACA, was

enacted, which includes measures that significantly change the way healthcare is financed by both governmental and private insurers. Among the provisions of the PPACA of
greatest importance to the pharmaceutical industry are the following:

 
 ● The Medicaid Drug Rebate Program requires pharmaceutical manufacturers to enter into and have in effect a national rebate agreement with the Secretary of the

Department of Health and Human Services as a condition for states to receive federal matching funds for the manufacturer’s covered outpatient drugs furnished to
Medicaid patients. Effective in 2010, the PPACA made several changes to the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program, including increasing pharmaceutical manufacturers’
rebate liability by raising the minimum basic Medicaid rebate on most branded prescription drugs and biologic agents to 23.1% of the AMP and adding a new rebate
calculation for “line extensions” (i.e., new formulations, such as extended release formulations) of solid oral dosage forms of branded products, as well as potentially
impacting their rebate liability by modifying the statutory definition of AMP. The PPACA also expanded the universe of Medicaid utilization subject to drug rebates by
requiring pharmaceutical manufacturers to pay rebates on Medicaid managed care utilization and by expanding the population potentially eligible for Medicaid drug
benefits;

 
 ● In order for a pharmaceutical product to receive federal reimbursement under the Medicare Part B and Medicaid programs or to be sold directly to U.S. government

agencies, the manufacturer must extend discounts to entities eligible to participate in the 340B drug pricing program. The required 340B discount on a given product is
calculated based on the AMP and Medicaid rebate amounts reported by the manufacturer. The PPACA expanded the types of entities eligible to receive discounted
340B pricing, although, under the current state of the law, with the exception of children’s hospitals, these newly eligible entities will not be eligible to receive
discounted 340B pricing on orphan drugs when used for the orphan indication. In addition, as 340B drug pricing is determined based on AMP and Medicaid rebate
data, the revisions to the Medicaid rebate formula and AMP definition described above could cause the required 340B discount to increase;

 
 ● The PPACA imposes a requirement on manufacturers of branded drugs and biologic agents to provide a 50% discount off the negotiated price of branded drugs

dispensed to Medicare Part D patients in the coverage gap (i.e., “donut hole”). This requirement was later increased to a 70% discount; and
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 ● The PPACA imposes an annual, non-deductible fee on any entity that manufactures or imports certain branded prescription drugs and biologic agents, apportioned

among these entities according to their market share in certain government healthcare programs, although this fee would not apply to sales of certain products
approved exclusively for orphan indications.

 
Since its enactment, there have also been executive, judicial, and Congressional challenges to certain aspects of the PPACA. In June 2021, the United States Supreme Court

held that Texas and other challengers had no legal standing to challenge the PPACA, dismissing the case without specifically ruling on the constitutionality of the PPACA.
Accordingly, the PPACA remains in effect in its current form. It is unclear how this Supreme Court decision, future litigation, or healthcare measures promulgated by the Biden
administration will impact our business, financial condition, and results of operations. Complying with any new legislation or changes in healthcare regulation could be time-
intensive and expensive, resulting in material adverse effect on our business.

 
Other legislative changes have been proposed and adopted in the United States since the ACA was enacted. The Budget Control Act of 2011, among other things, created

measures for spending reductions by Congress. This includes aggregate reductions of Medicare payments to providers up to 2% per fiscal year. Subsequent legislation extended
the 2% payment reduction which remains in effect through 2031. Under current legislation the actual reduction in Medicare payments will vary from 1% in 2022 to up to 4% in
the final fiscal year of this sequester. Due to the Statutory Pay-As-You-Go Act of 2010, estimated budget deficit increases resulting from the American Rescue Plan Act of
2021, and subsequent legislation, Medicare payments to providers will be further reduced starting in 2025 absent further legislation. The U.S. American Taxpayer Relief Act of
2012 further reduced Medicare payments to several types of providers and increased the statute of limitations period for the government to recover overpayments to providers
from three to five years. The American Rescue Plan Act of 2021 eliminate the statutory Medicaid drug rebate cap, currently set at 100% of a drug’s average manufacturer price,
for single source and innovator multiple source drugs, beginning January 1, 2024.

 
Additionally, there has been increasing legislative and enforcement interest in the United States with respect to drug pricing practices. Specifically, there has been

heightened governmental scrutiny over the manner in which manufacturers set prices for their marketed products, which has resulted in several U.S. Congressional inquiries
and proposed and enacted federal and state legislation designed to, among other things, bring more transparency to drug pricing, reduce the cost of prescription drugs under
Medicare, and review the relationship between pricing and manufacturer patient programs. President Biden has issued multiple executive orders that have sought to reduce
prescription drug costs. Although a number of these and other proposed measures may require authorization through additional legislation to become effective, and the Biden
administration may reverse or otherwise change these measures, both the Biden administration and Congress have indicated that they will continue to seek new legislative
measures to control drug costs.

 
The Inflation Reduction Act of 2022, or IRA includes several provisions that may impact our business to varying degrees, including provisions that reduce the out-of-

pocket cap for Medicare Part D beneficiaries to $2,000 starting in 2025 (thereby effectively eliminating the so-called “donut hole”); impose new manufacturer financial liability
on certain drugs under Medicare Part D; allow the U.S. government to negotiate Medicare Part B and Part D price caps for certain high-cost drugs and biologics without generic
or biosimilar competition; require companies to pay rebates to Medicare for certain drug prices that increase faster than inflation, and delay the rebate rule that would limit the
fees that pharmacy benefit managers can charge. The effects of the IRA on our business and the healthcare industry in general is not yet known.

 
Further, healthcare reform measures have been subject to several executive orders of the Biden Administration, including orders that address pharmaceutical pricing. At the

state level, a number of states are considering or have recently enacted state drug price transparency and reporting laws that could substantially increase our compliance burdens
and expose us to greater liability under such state laws if and when we begin commercialization after obtaining regulatory approval for any of our product candidates.

 
Properties
 

Our principal offices and facilities are located at 1350 South Loop Road, Alameda, CA 94502 and 27200 Tourney Road, Suite 315, Valencia, CA 91355 and are both
leased.
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In November 2022, Vivani signed a long-term lease at 1350 South Loop Road, Alameda, CA 94502 to accommodate office space, R&D, analytical labs and a GMP
manufacturing suite to support our research and development activities for our Biopharm Division. We moved into the new facility in September 2023.

 
On February 1, 2023, our Neuromodulation division entered into a lease agreement, effective March 1, 2023, to sublease office space at 27200 Tourney Road, Suite 315,

Valencia, CA 91355 to replace their existing headquarters, under a lease that expired on March 1, 2023.
 

Employees
 

As of December 31, 2023, we had 37 employees in our Biopharm Division and 7 employees in our Neuromodulation division. Of these persons, all are employed in the
United States. We believe that the continued success of our business will depend, in part, on our ability to attract and retain qualified personnel, and we are committed to
developing our people and providing them with opportunities to contribute to our growth and success. None of these employees is covered by a collective bargaining
agreement, and we believe our relationship with our employees is good to excellent.

 
Available Information
 

Our website address is www.vivani.com. We make available free of charge through a link provided at our website our Forms 10-K, 10-Q and 8-K as well as any
amendments thereto. These reports are available as soon as reasonably practicable after they are filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors
 
This Form 10-K contains forward-looking information based on our current expectations. Because our business is subject to many risks and our actual results may differ
materially from any forward-looking statements made by or on behalf of us, this section includes a discussion of important factors that could affect our business, operating
results, financial condition and the trading price of our common stock. You should carefully consider these risk factors, together with all of the other information included in
this Form 10-K as well as our other publicly available filings with the SEC.
 
Risks Related to Our Financial Position and Need for Additional Capital
 
We are a preclinical-stage company with a limited operating history, and have no products approved for commercial sale. 
 

We are a preclinical-stage biopharmaceutical company. In August 2022, we completed a business combination of Second Sight and NPM, to form our current company.
Following the business combination, we are focusing primarily on the development of our proprietary NanoPortal technology and the development of miniaturized, subdermal
drug implants capable of the long-term delivery of medicine in patients with chronic diseases with high unmet medical need. Our pipeline includes our current product
candidates NPM-115, NPM-119, NPM-139 and OKV-119, which we have partnered with Okava Pharmaceuticals, Inc. All of our product candidates are in early-stage
development and none of our product candidates have entered into clinical-stage testing, been approved for marketing, or are being marketed or commercialized. 

 
As a result, we have no meaningful historical operations upon which to evaluate our business and prospects and we have not yet demonstrated an ability to successfully

initiate and conduct clinical trials or obtain marketing approval for any of our product candidates or otherwise successfully overcome the risks and uncertainties frequently
encountered by companies in the biopharmaceutical industry. We have not generated any revenues to date, and we continue to incur significant research and development and
other expenses. As a result, we have not been profitable and have incurred operating losses in every reporting period since our inception. During the years ended December 31,
2022 and 2023, we reported net losses of $13.9 million and $25.7 million, respectively, and had an accumulated deficit of $98.4 million as of December 31, 2023.

 
For the foreseeable future, we expect to continue to incur significant and increasing losses as we expand our research and development activities, seek regulatory approvals

for our product candidates and begin to commercialize them if they are approved by the FDA the European Medicines Agency (“EMA”) or comparable foreign authorities.
Even if one or more of our product candidates complete their clinical development, achieve marketing approval and are commercialized, we may never become profitable. 

 
In addition, we may encounter unforeseen expenses, difficulties, complications, delays and other known and unknown factors and risks frequently experienced

biopharmaceutical companies in rapidly evolving fields. If one or more of our product candidates receive marketing approval, we also may need to transition from a company
with a research and development focus to a company capable of supporting commercial activities. We have not yet demonstrated an ability to successfully overcome such risks
and difficulties, or to make such a transition.

 
We do not anticipate generating revenue from product sales for the foreseeable future and may never be profitable.
 

The viability of our business depends on our ability to generate revenue from product sales. Vivani’s current pipeline is focused on the development of our proprietary
NanoPortal™ technology and the development of miniaturized, subdermal drug implants capable of the long-term delivery of medicine in patients with chronic diseases with
high unmet medical need. However, we may never be able to develop or commercialize marketable products from our current pipeline or achieve profitability. Revenue from
the sale of any product candidate for which regulatory approval is obtained will be dependent, in part, upon the size of the markets in the territories for which regulatory
approval is obtained, the accepted price for the product, the acceptance of the product by physicians and patients, the ability to obtain reimbursement at any price and whether
we own the commercial rights for that territory. In addition, if the market size for our product candidates is smaller than estimated, the indication or intended use approved by
regulatory authorities is narrower than expected, or the target patient population for treatment is narrowed by competition, physician choice or treatment guidelines, we may not
generate significant revenue from sales of such products, even if approved. Even if we are able to generate revenue from the sale of any approved products, we may not become
profitable. Even if we achieve profitability in the future, such profitability may not be sustained in subsequent periods.
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Our ability to generate revenue and achieve profitability depends significantly on our ability, either independently or in collaboration with third parties, to achieve several

objectives, including:
 

 ● successful completion of preclinical studies resulting in data that is supportive of advancing to an IND submission;
 ● successful submission and acceptance of INDs or comparable applications;
 ● successful initiation of clinical trials;
 ● successful and timely completion of nonclinical and clinical development of our product candidates;
 ● establishing and maintaining relationships with contract research organizations (CROs) and clinical sites for the clinical development of our product candidates;
 ● timely receipt of marketing approvals from applicable regulatory authorities for any product candidates for which we successfully complete clinical development;
 ● developing an efficient and scalable manufacturing process for our candidates, including obtaining finished products that are appropriately packaged for sale;
 ● establishing and maintaining commercially viable supply and manufacturing relationships with third parties that can provide adequate, in both amount and quality,

products and services to support clinical development and meet the market demand for our product candidates, if approved;
 ● successful commercial launch following any marketing approval, including the development of a commercial infrastructure, whether in-house or with one or more

collaborators;
 ● a continued acceptable safety profile following any marketing approval of our product candidates;
 ● commercial acceptance of our product candidates by patients, the medical community and third-party payors;
 ● satisfying any required post-marketing approval commitments to applicable regulatory authorities;
 ● identifying, assessing, and developing new product candidates;
 ● obtaining, maintaining, and expanding patent protection, trade secret protection and regulatory exclusivity in the United States and target international markets;
 ● protecting our rights in our intellectual property portfolio;
 ● defending against third-party interference or infringement claims, if any;
 ● entering into, on favorable terms, any collaboration, licensing, or other arrangements that may be necessary or desirable to develop, manufacture or commercialize our

product candidates;
 ● obtaining coverage and adequate reimbursement by third-party payors for our product candidates;
 ● addressing any competing therapies and technological and market developments; and
 ● attracting, hiring, and retaining qualified personnel.

 
We may never be successful in achieving its objectives and, even if we do, may never generate revenue that is significant or large enough to achieve or maintain

profitability. Any failure to become and remain profitable would decrease the value of our company and could impair our ability to maintain or further our research and
development efforts, raise additional necessary capital, grow our business, and continue our operations.

 
We will require substantial additional financing to pursue our business objectives, which may not be available on acceptable terms, or at all. A failure to obtain this
necessary capital when needed could force us to delay, limit, reduce or terminate our product development, commercialization efforts or other operations.
 

Developing pharmaceutical products, including conducting preclinical studies and clinical trials, is a very time-consuming, expensive, and uncertain process that takes
years to complete. Our operations have consumed substantial amounts of cash, and we expect our expenses to increase in connection with our ongoing activities, particularly as
we conduct clinical trials of our product candidates. Even if one or more of our product candidates is approved for commercial sale, we will incur significant costs associated
with sales, marketing, manufacturing, and distribution activities. Our expenses could increase beyond expectations if required by the FDA, the EMA or other regulatory
agencies to perform clinical trials or preclinical studies in addition to those that we currently anticipate. For example, on August 18, 2023, FDA provided written notification
that the LIBERATE-1 study was on Full Clinical Hold exclusively due to insufficient CMC information to assess the risk to human subjects. Vivani remains actively engaged in
discussions with FDA as part of its efforts to lift the clinical hold and enable the expeditious initiation of LIBERATE-1. If we are required to conduct additional nonclinical
and/or clinical activities, our overall expenditures relating to our NPM-119 program would increase. Other unanticipated costs may also arise. Because the design and outcome
of our planned and anticipated clinical trials are highly uncertain, we cannot reasonably estimate the actual amount of resources and funding that will be necessary to
successfully complete the development and commercialization of any product candidate. We are not permitted to market or promote any product candidate before it receives
marketing approval from the regulatory authorities. Accordingly, we will need to obtain substantial additional funding in order to continue our operations and pursue our
business objectives.
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There can be no assurance that we will be able to raise sufficient additional capital on acceptable terms or at all. If such additional financing is not available on satisfactory

terms, or is not available in sufficient amounts, we may be required to delay, limit, or eliminate one or more of our business objectives, and our competitiveness, and business,
financial condition and results of operations may be materially adversely affected. If we are unable to continue our business, including due to inadequate funding, you could
lose your investment.

 
Vivani’s future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including, but not limited to:
 

 ● the scope, rate of progress, results and cost of its clinical trials, preclinical studies, and other related activities;
 ● its ability to establish and maintain strategic collaborations, licensing or other arrangements and the financial terms of such arrangements;
 ● the timing of, and the costs involved in, obtaining regulatory approvals for any of its current or future product candidates;
 ● the number and characteristics of the product candidates it seeks to develop or commercialize;
 ● the cost of manufacturing clinical supplies, and establishing commercial supplies, of its product candidates;
 ● the cost of commercialization activities if any of its current or future product candidates are approved for sale, including marketing, sales, and distribution costs;
 ● the expenses needed to attract and retain skilled personnel;
 ● the costs associated with being a public company;
 ● the amount of revenue, if any, received from commercial sales of its product candidates, should any of its product candidates receive marketing approval; and
 ● the costs involved in preparing, filing, prosecuting, maintaining, defending, and enforcing possible patent claims, including litigation costs and the outcome of any

such litigation.
 
We may raise capital in the form of equity or debt financing, partnerships, collaborations, licensing, spin-offs or other strategic transactions. If we raise additional capital

by issuing equity securities, the ownership of our existing may be reduced, and accordingly these shareholders may experience substantial dilution. We may also issue equity
securities that provide for rights, preferences, and privileges senior to those of its common stock. If we raise funding through debt instruments or facilities, lenders may require
us to pledge some or all of our assets as collateral. We may also be required to observe financial, operational and other covenants that constrain our business and operations. If
we enter into partnerships, collaborations, licensing or other strategic transactions, we may be required to grant rights to third parties, including rights to develop and market
product candidates, that we would otherwise have retained.

 
Our ability to utilize its net operating loss (“NOL”) carry-forwards and certain other tax attributes may be limited. 
 

Under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the Code if a corporation undergoes an “ownership change” (generally defined as a greater than
50% change (by value) in its equity ownership over a three-year period), the corporation’s ability to use its pre-change NOL carry-forwards and other pre-change tax attributes
to offset its post-change income may be limited. We have not completed a study to assess whether any ownership changes, as defined by Section 382 of the Code, have
occurred. Past, current and future ownership changes may limit our ability to utilize remaining tax attributes.
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As of December 31, 2023, we had federal and apportioned state NOL and federal and state R&D credit carry-forwards available to offset future taxable income and income

taxes as follows (in thousands):
 

  As of
December 31, 2023  

Pre TCJA (Tax Cuts and Jobs Acts of 2017) period federal NOL carry-forward, begin expiring 2030  $     47,353 
Post TCJA period federal NOL carry-forward, with no carry-forward limitation   136,332 
Total federal NOL carry-forward  $  183,685 
     
State NOL carry-forward, begin expiring 2030  $ 120,068 
     
Federal R&D tax credit carry-forward, begin expiring in 2036  $ 2,518 
State R&D carry-forward, no expiration date  $ 7,524 
     
Total R&E related deferred income tax assets (net of applicable amortization)  $ 5,120 
     
Reserve for uncertain income tax positions   Nil 

 
Furthermore, under recently enacted U.S. tax legislation, although the treatment of tax losses generated in taxable years ending before December 31, 2017, has generally

not changed, tax losses generated in taxable years beginning after December 31, 2017 may only be utilized to offset 80% of taxable income annually. This change may require
us to pay federal income taxes in future years despite generating a loss for federal income tax purposes in prior years.

 
Risks Related to Product Development, Clinical Testing and Commercialization
 
We are dependent on the successful development, regulatory approval and commercialization of one or more of our product candidates, there can be no assurance that we
may achieve any of these objectives. 
 

We have spent significant time, money and effort on the licensing and development of our core assets, including NPM-115 (high-dose exenatide implant), NPM-119
(exenatide implant) in preclinical stage development, NPM-139 (semaglutide implant), and OKV-119 (exenatide implant for feline patients) in initial feasibility testing with our
proprietary NanoPortal implant technology. To date, we have not commenced clinical testing of any of our product candidates. All of our product candidates will require
additional development, including clinical trials as well as further preclinical studies to evaluate their safety, tolerability and pharmacokinetics, and to optimize their
formulation. Our product candidates may require significant additional testing before advancing to pivotal clinical trials that are designed to generate sufficient safety and
efficacy data to support a marketing application. Even if we conduct and complete such testing of our product candidates, there can be no assurance that we will obtain
marketing approval for one or more of these candidates. Positive results obtained during early development do not necessarily mean later development will succeed or that
regulatory approvals will be obtained. Our drug development efforts may not lead to commercially-viable products for any number of reasons, including because our product
candidates fail to demonstrate safety and efficacy to the satisfaction of applicable regulatory authorities to support marketing approval, or because we have inadequate financial
or other resources to advance our product candidates through development and approval processes. If any of our product candidates fail to demonstrate sufficient safety or
efficacy data at any time to support their continued development, or we encounter other challenges in the development of our product candidates, we would experience
potentially significant delays in, or be required to abandon, development of the product candidate.

 
We do not anticipate that any of our product candidates will be eligible to receive regulatory approval from the FDA, the EMA or comparable foreign authorities and begin

commercialization for a number of years, if ever. Even if we ultimately receive regulatory approval for any of these product candidates, we may be unable to commercialize
them successfully for a variety of reasons, either independently or in collaboration with third parties. These include, for example, the availability of alternative treatments, lack
of cost-effectiveness, the cost of manufacturing the product on a commercial scale and competition with other drugs. The success of our product candidates may also be limited
by the prevalence and severity of any adverse side effects or the willingness of patients and healthcare providers to use or administer our drug implants. If we fail to develop,
obtain approval for and commercialize one or more of our product candidates, our business would be materially and adversely impacted.
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Clinical development involves a lengthy and expensive process with uncertain outcomes. We may incur additional costs and experience delays in developing our product
candidates, and our clinical development efforts may not yield favorable results.
 

To receive regulatory approval for our product candidates, adequate and well-controlled clinical trials must be conducted to demonstrate safety and efficacy in humans to
the satisfaction of the FDA, the EMA, and comparable foreign authorities. We have not yet conducted clinical trials for our current product candidates and clinical testing of
such product candidates may not yield results to support continued development or seeking regulatory approval. The development process is expensive, can take many years
and has an uncertain outcome. Failure can occur at any stage of the process. We may experience numerous unforeseen events during, or as a result of, the development process
that could delay or prevent development and approval of our product candidates, including the following:

 
 ● we may be unable to initiate or conduct planned clinical trials on our anticipated timelines, including as a result of failing to obtain any clearances necessary to conduct

clinical trials or being subject to clinical holds that prevent continuation of such trials;
 ● clinical trials may produce negative or inconclusive results;
 ●  preclinical studies conducted with product candidates during clinical development to, among other things, evaluate their safety, tolerability and pharmacokinetics and

optimize their formulation may produce unfavorable results;
 ● patient recruitment and enrollment in clinical trials may be slower than anticipated;
 ● costs of development may be greater than anticipated;
 ● our product candidates may cause undesirable side effects that delay or preclude regulatory approval or limit their commercial use or market acceptance, if approved;
 ● if one or more product candidates are developed in collaboration with third parties, such parties may not devote sufficient resources to these clinical trials or other

preclinical studies of these candidates or conduct them in a timely manner;
 ● we may face delays or other challenges associated with the availability and sourcing key raw materials and/or key components; and
 ● we may encounter difficulties in developing product candidates related to our proprietary NanoPortal implant technology or difficulties associated with the long-term

purity, potency, safety, or stability of our product candidates.
 
For example, on August 18, 2023, FDA provided written notification that the LIBERATE-1 study was on Full Clinical Hold exclusively due to insufficient Chemistry,

Manufacturing, and Controls (“CMC”) information to assess the risk to human subjects. Vivani remains actively engaged in discussions with FDA as part of its efforts to lift the
clinical hold and enable the expeditious initiation of LIBERATE-1. However, there can be no assurance that we can address the issues identified by the FDA in a timely manner
or at all, and we may incur additional expenses in connection with our efforts to advance NPM-119 into the clinic.

 
Even if we experience success in early development for any product candidate, that experience may not be replicated in later development or with respect to any other

product candidates. For example, in our industry, product candidates in later-stage clinical trials routinely fail to demonstrate adequate safety and efficacy despite having
progressed through initial clinical trials or preclinical testing.

 
Even if our clinical trials generate data that we believe are promising, such data may not be sufficient to support seeking marketing approval by the FDA, the EMA, or

comparable foreign authorities. Further, data generated during development can be interpreted in different ways, and the FDA, the EMA or comparable foreign authorities may
interpret such data in different ways than we do. If we fail to generate data that adequately demonstrate the safety and efficacy of our product candidates to support marketing
approval from regulatory authorities, we will not be able to market and commercialize these product candidates.
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From time to time, in addition to or as an alternative to raising capital through equity or debt offerings, we may seek to selectively and opportunistically enter into

collaborations with third parties to assist in the development and potential future commercialization of some or all of our product candidates. However, there can be no
assurance that we will be able to establish such collaborations on acceptable terms, if at all, or it may take longer than expected to establish new collaborations. Even if we enter
into one or more of such collaborations, the risks associated with the development of product candidates still remain, and there can be no assurance that our potential
collaborators will successfully develop, seek approval for and commercialize any of our product candidates.

 
Our product candidates may have serious adverse, undesirable or unacceptable side effects that could delay, pause or terminate our clinical trials, or prevent us from
obtaining regulatory approval for or commercialize such product candidates. If such side effects are identified during the development of our product candidates or
following approval, if any, we may need to abandon our development of such product candidates, the commercial profile of any approved label may be limited, or we may
be subject to other significant negative consequences following marketing approval, if any.
 

Undesirable side effects observed in preclinical studies or clinical trials of our product candidates could interrupt, delay, or halt their development and could result in the
denial of regulatory approval by the FDA, the EMA, or comparable foreign authorities for any or all targeted indications or adversely affect the marketability of any such
product candidates that receive regulatory approval.

 
Our product candidates may exhibit adverse effects in preclinical toxicology studies and adverse interactions with other drugs. Our product candidates may require a risk

management program that could include patient and healthcare provider education, usage guidelines, appropriate promotional activities, a post-marketing observational study,
and ongoing safety and reporting mechanisms, among other requirements. Prescribing could be limited to physician specialists or physicians trained in the use of the drug or
could be limited to a more restricted patient population. Any risk management program required for approval of our product candidates could potentially have an adverse effect
on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

 
Undesirable side effects involving our product candidates may have other significant adverse implications on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

For example:
 

 ● our collaborators may terminate any development agreements covering these product candidates;
 ● if any development agreements are terminated, we may determine not to further develop the affected product candidates due to resource constraints and may not be

able to establish additional collaborations for their further development on acceptable terms, if at all;
 ● if we were to later continue the development of these product candidates and receive regulatory approval, earlier findings may significantly limit their marketability

and thus significantly lower our potential future revenues from their commercialization; and
 ● we may be subject to product liability or shareholder litigation.

 
In addition, even if any of our product candidates receive marketing approval and we or others later identify undesirable side effects caused by such products (or any other

similar products) after such approval, a number of potentially significant negative consequences could result, including:
 

 ● regulatory authorities may withdraw or limit their approval of the product, or we may decide to cease marketing and sale of the product voluntarily;
 ● regulatory authorities may require the addition of labeling statements, such as a “boxed” warning or a contraindication;
 ● regulatory authorities may impose conditions under a risk evaluation and mitigation strategy (“REMS”), including distribution of a medication guide to patients

outlining the risks of such side effects or imposing distribution or use restrictions and/or requiring special training for prescribers of the product;
 ● change the way the product is administered, conduct additional clinical trials or preclinical studies regarding the product, change the labeling of the product, or change

the product’s manufacturing facilities;
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 ● we may be subject to regulatory investigations and government enforcement actions;
 ● we may decide to recall or remove such products from the marketplace;
 ● we could be sued and held liable for injury caused to individuals exposed to or taking our product candidates;
 ● we may fail to secure acceptance of our product candidates from physicians, healthcare payers, patients and the medical community; and
 ● our reputation may suffer.

 
Any of these events could prevent us from achieving or maintaining market acceptance of the affected product and could substantially increase the costs and expenses of

commercializing the product, which in turn could delay or prevent us from generating significant revenues from the sale of the product.
 

Our efforts to identify and develop product candidates beyond those in our current pipeline may not succeed, and any product candidates that we select for clinical
development may not actually begin clinical trials.
 

We intend to expand our current pipeline of core assets by advancing drug implants from future and ongoing feasibility programs into preclinical and clinical development.
However, the process of identifying and developing drug implants is expensive, time-consuming, and unpredictable. Data from our current preclinical programs may not
support the clinical development of its lead compounds or other compounds from these programs, and we may not identify any additional drug compounds suitable for
recommendation for clinical development. Moreover, any drug compounds that we select for clinical development may not generate sufficient safety and efficacy data that
would support advancement into clinical trials or to continue clinical trials that are ongoing. Such findings would potentially impede our ability to maintain or expand our
development pipeline. Our ability to identify new drug implants and advance them into preclinical and clinical development also depends upon our ability to fund our research
and development operations, and there can be no assurance that additional funding will be available on acceptable terms, or at all.

 
We could experience delays in the commencement or completion of clinical trials, which could result in increased costs or otherwise impair our research and development
efforts.
 

Delays in the commencement or completion of clinical trials could significantly impact our drug development costs and otherwise impair our research and development
efforts. We do not know whether planned clinical trials will begin on time or be completed on schedule, if at all. The commencement of clinical trials can be delayed for a
variety of reasons, including, but not limited to, delays related to:

 
 ● obtaining regulatory approval to commence one or more clinical trials;
 ● reaching agreement on acceptable terms with prospective third-party contract research organizations (“CROs”) and clinical trial sites;
 ● obtaining institutional review board approval to conduct one or more clinical trials at a prospective site;
 ● recruiting and enrolling patients to participate in one or more clinical trials; and
 ● the failure of our collaborators to adequately resource our product candidates.

 
For example, on August 18, 2023, FDA provided written notification that the LIBERATE-1 study was on Full Clinical Hold primarily due to insufficient Chemistry,

Manufacturing, and Controls (“CMC”) information to assess the risk to human subjects. Vivani remains actively engaged in discussions with FDA as part of its efforts to lift the
clinical hold and enable the expeditious initiation of LIBERATE-1. However, there can be no assurance that we can address the issues identified by the FDA in a timely manner
or at all, and we may incur additional expenses in connection with our efforts to advance NPM-119 into the clinic.

 
In addition, once a clinical trial has begun, it may be suspended or terminated by us or our collaborators, institutional review boards, or, if applicable, data safety

monitoring boards charged with overseeing our clinical trials, the FDA, the EMA, or comparable foreign authorities due to a number of factors, including:
 

 ● failure to conduct the clinical trial in accordance with regulatory requirements or clinical protocols;
 ● inspection of the clinical trial operations or clinical trial site by the FDA, the EMA or comparable foreign authorities resulting in the imposition of a clinical hold;
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 ● unforeseen safety issues; or
 ● lack of adequate funding to continue the clinical trial.

 
If we experience delays in the completion or termination of any clinical trial of our product candidates, the development of product candidates will be impaired. In

addition, any delays in completing our clinical trials will increase our costs and slow down our product candidate development process and our anticipated timelines for seeking
marketing approval. Such delays could also allow our competitors to obtain marketing approval for their own product candidates before we do or may shorten the patent
protection period during which we may have the exclusive right to commercialize our product, if approved. Any of these occurrences may harm our business, financial
condition, and prospects significantly. In addition, many of the factors that cause, or lead to, a delay in the commencement or completion of clinical trials may also ultimately
lead to the denial of regulatory approval of our product candidates.

 
Results of preclinical trials may not be predictive of the results of later-stage clinical trials, and many product candidates fail to achieve regulatory approval despite
showing initial promise in early-stage testing.
 

The results of preclinical studies of product candidates may not be predictive of the results of clinical trials, and results from early-stage clinical testing may not be
replicated in later-stage clinical trials. Product candidates in later stages of clinical trials may fail to show the desired safety and efficacy results despite having progressed
through preclinical studies and initial clinical trials. Many companies in the biopharmaceutical industry have suffered significant setbacks in advanced clinical trials due to
adverse safety profiles or lack of efficacy, notwithstanding promising results in earlier studies. We may experience similar setbacks in our development programs for these or
other reasons.

 
As product candidates are developed through preclinical, early-stage clinical and late-stage clinical trials towards approval and commercialization, it is customary that

various aspects of the development program, such as manufacturing and methods of administration, are altered along the way in an effort to optimize processes and results.
While these types of changes are common and are intended to optimize the product candidates for late-stage clinical trials, approval and commercialization, such changes carry
the risk that they will not achieve these intended objectives.

 
Any of these changes could make the results of our planned clinical trials or other future clinical trials less predictable and could cause our product candidates to perform

differently, including causing toxicities, which could delay completion of our clinical trials, delay approval of our product candidates, and/or jeopardize our ability to
commence product sales and generate revenues.

 
Interim, topline and preliminary data from our clinical trials that we announce or publish from time to time may change as more patient data become available and are
subject to audit and verification procedures that could result in material changes in the final data.
 

From time to time, we may publicly disclose interim, topline or preliminary data from our clinical trials, which is based on a preliminary analysis of then-available data,
and the results and related findings and conclusions are subject to change following a more comprehensive review of the data related to the particular study or trial. We also
make assumptions, estimations, calculations and conclusions as part of our analyses of data, and we may not have received or had the opportunity to fully and carefully evaluate
all data. As a result, the topline results that we report may differ from future results of the same studies, or different conclusions or considerations may qualify such results, once
additional data have been received and fully evaluated. Topline data also remain subject to audit and verification procedures that may result in the final data being materially
different from the preliminary data we previously published. As a result, topline data should be viewed with caution until the final data are available. From time to time, we may
also disclose interim data from our clinical studies. Interim data from clinical trials that we may complete are subject to the risk that one or more of the clinical outcomes may
materially change as patient enrollment continues and more patient data become available. Adverse differences between preliminary or interim data and final data could
significantly harm our business prospects. Further, others, including regulatory authorities, may not accept or agree with our assumptions, estimates, calculations, conclusions
or analyses or may interpret or weigh the importance of data differently, which could impact the value of the particular program, the approvability or commercialization of the
particular product candidate or product and our company in general. In addition, the information we choose to publicly disclose regarding a particular study or clinical trial is
based on what is typically extensive information, and you or others may not agree with what we determine is the material or otherwise appropriate information to include in our
disclosure, and any information we determine not to disclose may ultimately be deemed significant with respect to future decisions, conclusions, views, activities or otherwise
regarding a particular drug, drug candidate or our business. If the topline data that we report differ from actual results, or if others, including regulatory authorities, disagree
with the conclusions reached, our ability to obtain approval for, and commercialize, our product candidates may be harmed, which could harm our business, operating results,
prospects or financial condition.
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We may experience delays in the enrollment of patients in our clinical trials, which would adversely affect our ability to initiate, conduct and complete such trials on our
anticipated timelines.
 

Identifying and qualifying patients to participate in our clinical trials is critical to our success. Patient enrollment depends on many factors, including:
 

 ● the size of the patient population required for analysis of the trial’s primary endpoints and the process for identifying patients;
 ● identifying and enrolling eligible patients, including those willing to discontinue use of their existing medications;
 ● the design of the clinical protocol and the patient eligibility and exclusion criteria for the trial;
 ● safety profile, to date, of the therapeutic candidate under study;
 ● the willingness or availability of patients to participate in our trials, including due to the perceived risks and benefits, stigma or other side effects of use of a controlled

substance;
 ● the willingness or availability of patients to participate in our trials, including due to any public health crisis such as the COVID-19 pandemic and the emergence of

new COVID-19 variants;
 ● perceived risks and benefits of our approach to treatment of indication;
 ● the proximity of patients to clinical sites;
 ● our ability to recruit clinical trial investigators with the appropriate competencies and experience;
 ● the availability of competing clinical trials;
 ● the availability of new drugs approved for the indication the clinical trial is investigating;
 ● clinicians’ and patients’ perceptions of the potential advantages of the drug being studied in relation to other available therapies, including any new therapies that may

be approved for the indications we are investigating; and
 ● our ability to obtain and maintain patient informed consents.

 
Even once enrolled we must retain a sufficient number of patients to complete any of our trials.
 
If we fail to enroll and maintain the number of patients for which the clinical trial was designed, the statistical power of that clinical trial may be reduced, which may

impair the significance of such results and cause regulatory authorities to require additional testing. Additionally, enrollment delays in our clinical trials may result in increased
development costs for our product candidates, delay our development timelines or force us to abandon one or more of our programs altogether.

 
We may experience difficulty identifying, training and/or certifying an adequate number of healthcare professionals to properly implant and, when appropriate, explant
our drug implants candidates, which may impair our ability to conduct our clinical trials.
 

Our drug implant candidates require properly trained healthcare professionals, which may include doctors, nurse practitioners and nurses, for sub-dermal placement into
patients. These healthcare professionals would also be responsible for removal and replacement of a new drug implant. There can be no assurance that sufficient numbers of
trained and/or certified healthcare professionals will be available or that the training or certification requirements will not be more burdensome than anticipated. Both factors
could lead to difficulties in conducting our clinical trials and impair our development efforts for our product candidates.
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If our competitors have product candidates that are approved faster, marketed more effectively, are better tolerated, have a more favorable safety profile, or are
demonstrated to be more effective than our own, our commercial opportunity may be reduced or eliminated.
 

The biopharmaceutical industry is characterized by rapidly advancing technologies, intense competition, and a strong emphasis on proprietary products. While we believe
that our technology, knowledge, experience, and scientific resources enable us to compete in our industry, we face competition from many different sources, including
commercial biopharmaceutical enterprises, academic institutions, government agencies and private and public research institutions. Any product candidates that we develop
and, if approved, commercialize will compete with existing therapies and new therapies that may become available in the future.

 
Many of our competitors have significantly greater financial resources and expertise in research and development, manufacturing, preclinical studies, clinical trials,

regulatory approvals, and marketing approved products. Some of our competitors with the GLP-1 receptor agonist drug class include companies such as Novo Nordisk,
AstraZeneca, and Eli Lilly. Smaller or early-stage companies may also prove to be significant competitors, particularly through collaborative arrangements with large and
established companies. Our competitors may succeed in developing technologies and therapies that are more effective, better tolerated or less costly than those of our own, or
that would render our product candidates obsolete and non-competitive. Even if we obtain regulatory approval for any of our product candidates, our competitors may succeed
in obtaining regulatory approvals for their products earlier than we do. We will also face competition from these third parties in recruiting and retaining qualified scientific and
management personnel, in establishing clinical trial sites and patient registration for clinical trials, and in acquiring and in-licensing technologies and products complementary
to our programs or advantageous to our business.

 
We believe that the key competitive factors affecting the viability of product candidates, if approved, are likely to be their efficacy, safety, tolerability, frequency and route

of administration, convenience and price, the level of branded and generic competition and the availability of coverage and reimbursement from government and other third-
party payors.

 
Multiple GLP-1 receptor agonist products have been proven effective to reduce cardiovascular morbidity and mortality, including Trulicity (dulaglutide), Ozempic/Wegovy

(semaglutide injection), and Victoza (liraglutide), Medical Guidelines may recommend preferential use of GLP-1 receptor agonists that have positive cardiovascular morbidity
and mortality data in the products approved labeling. Since Bydureon, the NPM-119 reference drug, did not demonstrate a reduction in cardiovascular morbidity and mortality,
NPM-119 will not have this claim in the approved product label unless we generate positive cardiovascular outcomes data with NPM-119. The lack of a cardiovascular
outcomes benefit in the NPM-119 label may decrease its market potential, if approved. 

 
If the FDA or other applicable regulatory authorities approve generic products that compete with any of our product candidates, the sales of our product candidates, if
approved, could be adversely affected.
 

Once an NDA, including a Section 505(b)(2) application, is approved, the product covered becomes a “listed drug” which can be cited by potential competitors in support
of approval of an abbreviated new drug application, or ANDA. FDA regulations and other applicable regulations and policies provide incentives to manufacturers to create
modified versions of a drug to facilitate the approval of an ANDA or other application for similar substitutes. If these manufacturers demonstrate that their product has the same
active ingredient(s), dosage form, strength, route of administration, and conditions of use, or labeling, as our product candidate, they might only be required to conduct a
relatively inexpensive study to show that their generic product is absorbed in the body at the same rate and to the same extent as, or is bioequivalent to, our product candidate
(and in some cases even this limited bioequivalence testing can be waived by the FDA). Competition from generic equivalents to our product candidates could substantially
limit our ability to generate revenues and therefore to obtain a return on the investments we have made in our product candidates.
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We are subject to a multitude of manufacturing risks, any of which could substantially increase our costs and limit supply of our product candidates.
 

The process of manufacturing our product candidates is complex, highly regulated, and subject to numerous risks. For example, the process of manufacturing our product
candidates is susceptible to product loss due to contamination, equipment failure or improper installation or operation of equipment, or vendor or operator error. Even minor
deviations from normal manufacturing processes for any of our product candidates could result in reduced production yields, product defects, and other supply disruptions. If
microbial, viral, or other contaminations are discovered in our product candidates or in the manufacturing facilities in which our product candidates are made, such
manufacturing facilities may need to be closed for an extended period to investigate and remedy the contamination. In addition, the manufacturing facilities in which its product
candidates are made could be adversely affected by equipment failures, labor shortages, natural disasters, power failures and numerous other factors.

 
In addition, any adverse developments affecting manufacturing operations for our product candidates may result in shipment delays, inventory shortages, lot failures,

withdrawals or recalls, or other interruptions in the supply of our product candidates. We also may need to take inventory write-offs and incur other charges and expenses for
product candidates that fail to meet specifications, undertake costly remediation efforts, or seek costlier manufacturing alternatives.

 
The commercial success of our product candidates, if approved, depends upon their market acceptance among physicians, patients, healthcare payors, and the medical
community.
 

Even if our product candidates obtain regulatory approval, they may not gain market acceptance among physicians, patients, healthcare payors and the medical community.
The degree of market acceptance of any of our product candidates, if approved, will depend on several factors, including:

 
 ● the effectiveness of our approved product candidates as compared to competitive products;
 ● adequately trained healthcare professionals willing to administer our product candidates;
 ● patient willingness to adopt our approved product candidates rather than competitive therapies;
 ● our ability to provide acceptable evidence of safety and efficacy;
 ● relative convenience and ease of administration;
 ● the prevalence and severity of any adverse side effects;
 ● restrictions on use in combination with other products;
 ● availability of alternative treatments;
 ● pricing and cost-effectiveness assuming either competitive or potential premium pricing requirements, based on the profile of our product candidates and target

markets;
 ● effectiveness of our sales and marketing strategy;
 ● our ability to obtain sufficient third-party coverage or reimbursement; and
 ● potential product liability claims.

 
In addition, the potential market opportunity for our product candidates is difficult to estimate. Our estimates of the potential market opportunity for our product candidates

include several key assumptions based on our industry knowledge, industry publications, third-party research reports and other surveys. Independent sources have not verified
all of our assumptions. If any of these assumptions proves to be inaccurate, then the actual market for our product candidates could be smaller than our estimates of their
potential market opportunity. If the actual market for our product candidates is smaller than we expect, the market potential for our product candidates may be limited. If we fail
to achieve market acceptance of our product candidates, the viability of our business may be limited.

 
If we fail to obtain and sustain an adequate level of reimbursement by third-party payors for our product candidates, if approved, potential future sales would be materially
adversely affected.
 

Even if our product candidates receive marketing approval, there will be no viable commercial market without reimbursement from third-party payors. Reimbursement
policies may be affected by future healthcare reform measures. We cannot be certain that reimbursement will be available for our product candidates. Additionally, even if there
is a viable commercial market, if the level of reimbursement is below our expectations, our anticipated revenue and gross margins will be adversely affected.
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Third-party payors, such as government or private healthcare insurers, carefully review and increasingly question and challenge the coverage of and the prices charged for

drugs. Reimbursement rates from private health insurance companies vary depending on the company, the insurance plan, and other factors. Reimbursement rates may be based
on reimbursement levels already set for lower cost drugs and may be incorporated into existing payments for other services. There is a current trend in the U.S. healthcare
industry toward cost containment.

 
Large public and private payors, managed care organizations, group purchasing organizations and similar organizations are exerting increasing influence on decisions

regarding the use of, and reimbursement levels for, particular treatments. Such third-party payors, including Medicare, may question the coverage of, and challenge the prices
charged for, medical products and services, and many third-party payors limit coverage of or reimbursement for newly approved healthcare products. Third-party payors may
also limit the covered indications. Cost-control initiatives could decrease the price that we might establish for products, which could result in product revenues being lower than
anticipated. If we are unable to show a significant benefit over existing therapies, Medicare, Medicaid, and private payors may not be willing to provide reimbursement for our
product candidates, if approved, which would significantly reduce the likelihood of such product candidates gaining market acceptance.

 
We expect that private insurers will consider the efficacy, cost-effectiveness, safety, and tolerability of our product candidates in determining whether to approve

reimbursement for such product candidates and at what level. Obtaining these approvals can be a time consuming and expensive process. Our business, financial condition and
results of operations would be materially adversely affected if we do not receive adequate reimbursement of our product candidates, if approved, from private insurers on a
timely or satisfactory basis. Limitations on coverage could also be imposed at the local Medicare carrier level or by fiscal intermediaries. Medicare Part D, which provides a
pharmacy benefit to Medicare patients, does not require participating prescription drug plans to cover all drugs within a class of products. Our business, financial condition and
results of operations could be materially adversely affected if Part D prescription drug plans were to limit access to, or deny or limit reimbursement of, our product candidates.

 
Reimbursement systems in international markets vary significantly by country and by region, and reimbursement approvals must be obtained on a country-by-country

basis. In many countries, the product cannot be commercially launched until reimbursement is approved. In some foreign markets, prescription pharmaceutical pricing remains
subject to continuing governmental control even after initial approval is granted. The negotiation process in some countries can exceed 12 months. To obtain reimbursement or
pricing approval in some countries, we may be required to conduct a clinical trial that generates cost-effectiveness or health economics data of our product candidates in
comparison to other available therapies.

 
If the prices for our product candidates, if approved, are reduced or if governmental and other third-party payors do not provide adequate coverage and reimbursement of

our products, our future revenue, cash flows and prospects for profitability will suffer.
 
Since our product candidates are designed to deliver active medication for up to six months or longer, there may be additional risks associated with the third-party payor’s

willingness or desire to reimburse the full product cost at the time of purchase. We may develop customized reimbursement practices or policies to address potential concerns
from payors if appropriate. There are no assurances that customized reimbursement practices or policies, if needed, will be effective and the potential impact on revenues and
profits is difficult to project.

 
Risks Related to Regulatory Approval and Other Legal and Compliance Matters
 
Our product candidates are subject to extensive regulation under the FDA, the EMA and comparable foreign authorities, and must undergo extensive clinical testing that
can be costly and time consuming, with no assurance that regulatory approval will be obtained for any of our product candidates. 
 

The clinical development, manufacturing, labeling, storage, record-keeping, advertising, promotion, export, marketing, and distribution of our product candidates are
subject to extensive regulation by the FDA and other U.S. regulatory agencies, the EMA, or comparable authorities in foreign markets. In the U.S., neither we nor any
collaborators are permitted to conduct clinical testing in humans with our product candidates unless and until clearance is received to conduct clinical investigations under an
investigational new drug application (IND) from the FDA or receive similar authorizations abroad. For example, we are not able to commence clinical trials of NPM-119 in the
U.S. until we successfully address and lift the FDA’s current clinical hold. In addition, marketing of such product candidates may not occur unless and until approval of a new
drug application (NDA) from the FDA or similar approvals by comparable foreign regulatory authorities are secured.
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The process of obtaining these approvals is expensive, often takes many years, and can vary substantially based upon the type, complexity and novelty of the product

candidates involved. Approval policies or regulations may change and may be influenced by the results of other similar or competitive products, making it more difficult for us
to achieve such approval in a timely manner or at all. Any guidance that may result from recent FDA advisory panel discussions may make it more expensive to develop and
commercialize such product candidates. In addition, with respect to our current pipeline, we have filed only one IND, which is on clinical hold, and no NDAs with the FDA or
similar applications with other foreign regulatory agencies. This lack of experience may impede our ability to obtain FDA or other foreign regulatory agency approval in a
timely manner, if at all, for our product candidates.

 
Despite the time and expense invested, and even if we observe promising results from clinical testing of our product candidates, regulatory approval is never guaranteed. In

our industry, many companies have experienced significant setbacks when seeking marketing approval from regulatory agencies, despite having generated promising data from
clinical testing of their product candidates. For example, the FDA has rejected both original and resubmitted NDAs from Intarcia Therapeutics for its exenatide implant
candidate for the treatment of type 2 diabetes. Based on public correspondence from the FDA, the agency asserted that the data submitted in the applications did not show that
the product would be safe under the proposed conditions of use and that the methods used in, and the facilities and controls used for, the manufacture, processing, or packing of
the product were not shown to be adequate to preserve its identity, strength, quality, and purity. Further correspondence disclosed additional deficiencies, including that data that
did not demonstrate adequate device reliability in regard to dose delivery. While we seek to avoid such outcomes in developing our product candidates based on our proprietary
NanoPortal technology, there can be no assurance that such product candidates will not experience similar setbacks if and when we apply for regulatory approval. Similar
results would significantly jeopardize the approvability of our product candidates that employ the NanoPortal technology.

 
Any inability to obtain these approvals would prevent us from commercializing our product candidates. The FDA, the EMA or comparable foreign authorities can delay,

limit, or deny approval of a product candidate for many reasons, including:
 

 ● a product candidate may not be deemed safe or effective;
 ● the FDA could determine that we cannot rely on the Section 505(b)(2) regulatory pathway or other pathways we have selected, as applicable, for our lead product

candidate;
 ● agency officials of the FDA, the EMA or comparable foreign authorities may find the data from non-clinical or preclinical studies, chemistry, manufacturing, and

controls, and/or clinical trials generated during development is inadequate, contained clinical deficiencies or otherwise failed to demonstrate the safety and
effectiveness of our product candidate for any indication;

 ● the FDA, the EMA or comparable foreign authorities may not find the data from bioequivalence studies and/or clinical trials sufficient to support the submission of an
NDA or to obtain marketing approval in the U.S., including any findings that the clinical and other benefits of our product candidate outweigh their safety risks;

 ● the FDA, the EMA or comparable foreign authorities may determine that we have identified the wrong listed drug or drugs or that approval of our Section 505(b)(2)
application for our product candidate is blocked by patent or non-patent exclusivity of the listed drug or drugs or of other previously approved drugs with the same
conditions of approval as our product candidate, as applicable;

 ● the FDA, the EMA or comparable foreign authorities may not approve in the manufacturing processes or facilities of third-party manufacturers with which we enter
into agreements for the manufacture of our product candidates;

 ● the FDA, the EMA or comparable foreign authorities may audit some or all of our clinical research study sites to determine the integrity of our data and may reject any
or all of such data;

 ● the FDA, the EMA, or a comparable foreign authority may approve our lead product candidate for fewer or more limited indications than we request, or may grant
approval contingent on the performance of costly post-approval clinical trials;
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 ● the FDA, the EMA or a comparable foreign authority may change its approval policies or adopt new regulations; or
 ● may not approve the labeling claims that we believe are necessary or desirable for the successful commercialization of our lead product candidate.

 
With respect to one or more of our product candidates, including NPM-119 (exenatide implant), we plan to seek regulatory approval in the U.S. by filing an NDA under

Section 505(b)(2) of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, which is referred to as the 505(b)(2) pathway. The 505(b)(2) pathway allows at least some of the information
required for NDA approval, such as safety and efficacy information on the active ingredient, to come from studies not conducted by or for the applicant. For NPM-119, we
intend to rely on certain information from Bydureon® and/or Bydureon BCise®, AstraZeneca’s exenatide extended-release injectable products. If we are unable to reference
data generated for Bydureon® and/or Bydureon BCise®, additional clinical studies, including a cardiovascular outcomes (CVOT) study, may be required and would add
significant additional costs and a significant delay in our efforts to seek and secure marketing approval. Further, if a CVOT study were conducted, there can be no assurance
that the study would generate favorable results and support U.S. registration.

 
Although we have discussed our intention to use the 505(b)(2) regulatory pathway with the FDA, there can be no assurance that this pathway will be acceptable, and there

can be no assurance that the FDA will not require additional testing to support seeking approval in the U.S. If the 505(b)2 regulatory pathway is not available, the costs of
development may significantly increase and the projected timeline to approval and launch would be significantly delayed.

 
Even if a product is approved, the FDA may limit the indications for which the product may be marketed, require extensive warnings on the product labeling or require

expensive and time-consuming clinical trials and/or reporting as conditions of approval. Regulators of other countries and jurisdictions have their own procedures for the
approval of product candidates with which we must comply prior to marketing in those countries or jurisdictions.

 
Obtaining regulatory approval for marketing of a product candidate in one country does not ensure that we will be able to obtain regulatory approval in any other country.

In addition, delays in approvals or rejections of marketing applications in the U.S. or other countries may be based upon many factors, including regulatory requests for
additional analyses, reports, data, preclinical studies and clinical trials, regulatory questions regarding different interpretations of data and results, changes in regulatory policy
during the period of product development and the emergence of new information regarding our product candidate.

 
We intend to utilize the 505(b)(2) pathway for the regulatory approval of NPM-119 and other of our product candidates. Final marketing approval of NPM-119 or any of
our other product candidates by the FDA, or other regulatory authorities may be delayed, limited, or denied, any of which would adversely affect our ability to generate
operating revenues.
 

We intend to pursue a regulatory pathway pursuant to Section 505(b)(2) of the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act, or FDCA, for the approval of NPM-119 and other of
our product candidates, which allows us to rely on existing clinical data for the drug. Section 505(b)(2) was enacted as part of the Drug Price Competition and Patent Term
Restoration Act of 1984, or the Hatch-Waxman Amendments, and permits the submission of an NDA where at least some of the information required for approval comes from
preclinical studies or clinical trials not conducted by or for the applicant and for which the applicant has not obtained a right of reference. The FDA interprets Section 505(b)(2)
of the FDCA to permit the applicant to rely upon the FDA’s previous findings of safety and efficacy for an approved product. The FDA requires submission of information
needed to support any changes to a previously approved drug, such as published data or new studies conducted by the applicant or clinical trials demonstrating safety and
efficacy. The FDA could refuse to file our NDA submissions, request additional information before accepting our submissions for filing or require additional information to
sufficiently demonstrate safety and efficacy to support approval.
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If the FDA does not agree that the 505(b)(2) regulatory pathway is appropriate or scientifically justified for our product candidates, we may need to conduct additional

clinical trials, provide additional data and information, and meet additional standards for regulatory approval. For example, if we are unable to establish a bridge between our
product candidates and the listed drug upon which we rely to demonstrate that such reliance is justified, we may be required to show safety and efficacy through one or more
additional clinical trials. If this were to occur, the time and financial resources required to obtain FDA approval for these product candidates, and the complications and risks
associated with these product candidates, would likely substantially increase. Moreover, an inability to pursue the 505(b)(2) regulatory pathway would likely result in new
competitive products reaching the market more quickly than our product candidates, which would likely materially adversely impact our competitive position and prospects.
Even if we are allowed to pursue the 505(b)(2) regulatory pathway, we cannot assure you that our product candidates will receive the requisite approvals for commercialization.

 
Notwithstanding the approval of many products by the FDA pursuant to 505(b)(2), over the last few years some pharmaceutical companies and others have objected to the

FDA’s interpretation of Section 505(b)(2) to allow reliance on the FDA’s prior findings of safety and effectiveness. If the FDA changes its interpretation of Section 505(b)(2), or
if the FDA’s interpretation is successfully challenged in court, this could delay or even prevent the FDA from approving any Section 505(b)(2) application that we submit.
Moreover, the FDA adopted an interpretation of the three-year exclusivity provisions whereby a 505(b)(2) application can be blocked by exclusivity even if does not rely on the
previously-approved drug that has exclusivity (or any safety or effectiveness information regarding that drug). Under the FDA’s interpretation, the approval of NPM-119 or
other of our product candidates may be blocked by exclusivity awarded to a previously-approved drug product that shares certain innovative features with NPM-119 or our
other product candidate, even if our 505(b)(2) application does not identify the previously-approved drug product as a listed drug or rely upon any of its safety or efficacy data.
Any failure to obtain regulatory approval of our product candidates would significantly limit our ability to generate revenues, and any failure to obtain such approval for all of
the indications and labeling claims we deem desirable could reduce our potential revenues.

 
Even if we are successful in pursuing the 505(b)(2) regulatory pathway for NPM-119, or other of our product candidates, we cannot assure you that we will receive the

requisite or timely approval for commercialization of NPM-119 or other of our product candidates. Although the Section 505(b)(2) pathway allows us to rely in part on the
FDA’s prior findings of safety or efficacy for approved listed drugs or on published literature for which we do not have a right of reference, the FDA may determine that prior
findings by the FDA or the published literature that we believe supports the safety or efficacy of NPM-119 or other of our product candidates is insufficient or not applicable to
our application or that additional studies will need to be conducted. To the extent that we are relying on the 505(b)(2) regulatory pathway based on the approval of a listed drug
for a similar indication, the FDA may require that we include in the labeling of NPM-119 or another of our product candidates, if approved, some or all of the safety
information that is included in the labeling of the approved listed drug. Moreover, even if any of our product candidates are approved via the 505(b)(2) regulatory pathway, the
approval may be subject to limitations on the indicated uses for which the product may be marketed or to other conditions of approval, or may contain requirements for costly
post-marketing testing and surveillance to monitor the safety or efficacy of the product, such as a Risk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategy, or REMS, which is a risk mitigation
plan which could include medication guides, physician communication plans, or elements to assure safe use, or ETASU, such as restricted distribution methods, patient
registries and other risk minimization tools.

 
Additional time may be required to obtain regulatory approval for our product candidates because they are combination products.
 

Some of our product candidates, including NPM-119 which is designed as a GLP-1 implant for treatment of type 2 diabetes, are drug-device combination products which
require coordination within the FDA and similar foreign regulatory agencies for review of their device and drug components. A combination product generally is defined as a
product comprised of components from two or more regulatory categories (e.g., drug/device, device/biologic, drug/biologic). Each component of a combination product is
subject to the requirements established by the FDA for that type of component, whether a new drug, biologic or device. In order to facilitate pre-market review of combination
products, the FDA designates one of its centers to have primary jurisdiction for the pre-market review and regulation of the overall product based upon a determination by the
FDA of the primary mode of action of the combination product. Where approval of the drug and device is sought under a single application, there could be delays in the
approval process due to the increased complexity of the review process and the lack of a well-established review process and criteria. The EMA has a parallel review process in
place for combination products, the potential effects of which in terms of approval and timing could independently affect our ability to market our combination products in
Europe. Although the FDA and similar foreign regulatory agencies have systems in place for the review and approval of combination products such as ours, we may experience
delays in the development and commercialization of our product candidates due to regulatory timing constraints and uncertainties in the product development and approval
process.
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We and our contract manufacturers are subject to significant regulation with respect to manufacturing our product candidates. The manufacturing facilities on which we
rely may not continue to meet regulatory requirements.
 

All entities involved in the preparation of therapeutics for clinical trials or commercial sale, including our contract manufacturers for our product candidates, are subject to
extensive regulation. Components of a finished therapeutic product approved for commercial sale or used in clinical trials must be manufactured in accordance with cGMPs.
These regulations govern manufacturing processes and procedures and the implementation and operation of quality systems to control and assure the quality of investigational
products and products approved for sale. Poor control of production processes can lead to the introduction of contaminants or to inadvertent changes in the properties or
stability of our product candidates that may not be detectable in final product testing. We or our contract manufacturers must supply all necessary documentation in support of
an NDA or marketing authorization application (MAA) on a timely basis and must adhere to good laboratory practices (GLP) and cGMP regulations enforced by the FDA, the
EMA, or comparable foreign authorities through their facilities inspection program. The facilities and quality systems of some or all of our third-party contractors must pass a
pre-approval inspection for compliance with the applicable regulations as a condition of regulatory approval of our product candidates. In addition, the regulatory authorities
may, at any time, audit or inspect a manufacturing facility involved with the preparation of our product candidates or the associated quality systems for compliance with the
regulations applicable to the activities being conducted. Although we plan to oversee the contract manufacturers that we use, we cannot control the manufacturing process of,
and are completely dependent on, our contract manufacturers for compliance with the regulatory requirements. If these facilities do not pass a pre-approval plant inspection,
regulatory approval of the products may not be granted or may be substantially delayed until any violations are corrected to the satisfaction of the regulatory authority, if ever.

 
The regulatory authorities also may, at any time following approval of a product for sale, audit the manufacturing facilities of our third-party contractors. If any such

inspection or audit identifies a failure to comply with applicable regulations or if a violation of our product specifications or applicable regulations occurs independent of such
an inspection or audit, we or the relevant regulatory authority may require remedial measures that may be costly or time consuming for us or a third party to implement, and
that may include the temporary or permanent suspension of a clinical trial or commercial sales or the temporary or permanent closure of a facility. Any such remedial measures
imposed upon us or third parties with whom we contract could materially harm our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

 
If we or any of our third-party manufacturers fail to maintain regulatory compliance, the FDA, the EMA, or comparable foreign authorities can impose regulatory sanctions

including, among other things, refusal to approve a pending application for a product candidate, withdrawal of an approval, or suspension of production. As a result, our
business, financial condition, and results of operations may be materially and adversely affected.

 
Additionally, if supply from one manufacturer is interrupted, an alternative manufacturer would need to be qualified through an NDA supplement or MAA variation, or

equivalent foreign regulatory filing, which could result in further delay. The regulatory agencies may also require additional studies or trials if a new manufacturer is relied
upon for commercial production. Switching manufacturers may involve substantial costs and is likely to result in a delay in our desired clinical and commercial timelines.
These factors could cause us to incur higher costs and could cause the delay or termination of clinical trials, regulatory submissions, required approvals, or commercialization
of our product candidates. Furthermore, if our suppliers fail to meet contractual requirements and we are unable to secure one or more replacement suppliers capable of
production at a substantially equivalent cost, our clinical trials may be delayed, and our development efforts would be impaired.
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Even if one or more of our product candidates receive regulatory approval in the U.S., we may never receive comparable approvals outside of the U.S.
 

In order to market any products outside of the U.S., we must establish and comply with numerous and varying regulatory requirements of other countries regarding safety
and efficacy. For example, even if the FDA grants marketing approval of a product candidate, comparable regulatory authorities in foreign jurisdictions must also approve the
manufacturing, marketing and promotion of the product candidate in those countries. Approval procedures vary among countries and can involve requirements and
administrative review periods different from, and greater than, those in the United States, including additional preclinical studies or clinical trials as clinical studies conducted
in one jurisdiction may not be accepted by regulatory authorities in other jurisdictions. In many jurisdictions outside the United States, a product candidate must be approved
for reimbursement before it can be approved for sale in that jurisdiction. In some cases, the price that we intend to charge for our products is also subject to approval. The time
required to obtain approval in other countries might differ from that required to obtain FDA approval. The regulatory approval process in other countries may include all of the
risks detailed in these risk factors regarding FDA approval in the U.S. as well as other risks. Regulatory approval in one country does not ensure regulatory approval in another,
but a failure or delay in obtaining regulatory approval in one country may have a negative effect on the regulatory process in others. Failure to obtain regulatory approval in
other countries or any delay seeking or obtaining such approval would impair our ability to commercialize our product candidates in territories outside of the U.S.   

 
Even if any of our product candidates receive regulatory approval, we will be subject to ongoing legal and regulatory compliance requirements, and regulatory agencies
may impose post-approval requirements or, under certain circumstances, withdraw such approval. We may be subject to substantial penalties regulatory requirements or if
we experience unanticipated problems with our products following approval.
 

Even if one or more of our product candidates receive regulatory approval, the FDA, the EMA, or comparable foreign authorities may still impose significant restrictions
on the indicated uses or marketing of the product candidates or impose ongoing requirements for potentially costly post-approval studies and trials. In addition, regulatory
agencies subject a product, its manufacturer and the manufacturer’s facilities to continual review and periodic inspections. Manufacturers and manufacturers’ facilities are
required to comply with extensive FDA, and comparable foreign regulatory authority, requirements, including ensuring that quality control and manufacturing procedures
conform to cGMP regulations and applicable product tracking and tracing requirements. Manufacturers and other parties involved in the drug supply chain for prescription drug
products must also comply with product tracking and tracing requirements and for notifying the FDA of counterfeit, diverted, stolen and intentionally adulterated products or
products that are otherwise unfit for distribution in the U.S. If a regulatory agency discovers previously unknown problems with a product, including adverse events of
unanticipated severity or frequency, or problems with the facility where the product is manufactured, a regulatory agency may impose restrictions on that product, on our
company or on any of our collaborators, including requiring withdrawal of the product from the market.

 
Our product candidates will also be subject to ongoing FDA, the EMA, or comparable foreign authorities’ requirements, including those related to the labeling, packaging,

storage, advertising, promotion, record-keeping and submission of safety and other post-market information on the drug. Any government investigation of alleged violations of
law could require us to expend significant time and resources in response and could generate negative publicity. Any failure to comply with ongoing regulatory requirements
may significantly and adversely affect our ability to generate revenues from any of our product candidates that are approved for commercialization. If our product candidates
fail to comply with applicable regulatory requirements, or there is later discovery of previously unknown adverse events or other problems with our products or their
manufacturers or manufacturing processes, a regulatory agency may:

 
 ● issue warning or untitled letters or other notices of possible violations;
 ● impose civil or criminal penalties or fines or seek disgorgement of revenue or profits;
 ● suspend any ongoing clinical trials;
 ● refuse to approve pending applications or supplements to approved applications filed by us or our collaborators;
 ● withdraw any regulatory approvals;
 ● impose restrictions on operations, including costly new manufacturing requirements, or shut down our manufacturing operations;
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 ● refuse to approve pending applications or supplements to approved applications that we submit;
 ● recall our products;
 ● refuse to permit the import or export of products; or
 ● seize or detain products or require a product recall.

 
Additionally, under the Food and Drug Omnibus Reform Act of 2022, sponsors of approved drugs and biologics must provide 6 months’ notice to the FDA of any changes

in marketing status, such as the withdrawal of a drug, and failure to do so could result in the FDA placing the product on a list of discontinued products, which would revoke
the product’s ability to be marketed.

 
The FDA, the EMA and comparable foreign authorities actively enforce the laws and regulations prohibiting the promotion of off-label uses.   
 

The FDA, the EMA and comparable foreign authorities strictly regulate the promotional claims that may be made about prescription products, such as our product
candidates, if approved. In particular, a product may not be promoted for uses that are not approved by the FDA, the EMA or comparable foreign authorities as reflected in the
product’s approved labeling. If we receive marketing approval for one or more of our product candidates for any particular indications, physicians may nevertheless use our
products for their patients in a manner that is inconsistent with the approved label, if the physicians personally believe in their professional medical judgment that our products
could be used in such manner. However, if we are found to have promoted our products for any off-label uses, the federal government could levy civil, criminal, or
administrative penalties, and seek fines against us. Such enforcement has become more common in the industry. The FDA, the EMA or comparable foreign authorities could
also request that we enter into a consent decree or a corporate integrity agreement or seek a permanent injunction against us under which specified promotional conduct is
monitored, changed, or curtailed. If we cannot successfully manage the promotion of our product candidates, if approved, we could become subject to significant liability,
which would materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

 
Current and future legislation may increase the difficulty and cost of commercializing our product candidates and may affect the prices that we may obtain if our product
candidates are approved for commercialization.
 

In the United States and foreign jurisdictions, there have been a number of legislative and regulatory changes and proposed changes regarding the healthcare system that
could prevent or delay regulatory approval of our product candidates, restrict, or regulate post-approval activities and affect our ability to profitably sell any product candidates
that obtain regulatory approval. We expect that current laws, as well as other healthcare reform measures that may be adopted in the future, may result in additional reductions
in Medicare and other healthcare funding, more rigorous coverage criteria, new payment methodologies and in additional downward pressure on the price that we, or any of our
collaborators, may receive for any approved products. For more information, see “Business-Government Regulation – Healthcare Reform & the Patient Protection and
Affordable Care Act.”

 
Current and future legislation may increase the difficulty and cost to commercialize our product candidates, if approved, and affect the prices obtained, including changes

in coverage and reimbursement policies in certain market segments for our product candidates, which could make it difficult to sell our product candidates, if approved,
profitably. Third-party payors, whether domestic or foreign, or governmental or commercial, are developing increasingly sophisticated methods of controlling healthcare costs.
In both the United States and certain foreign jurisdictions, there have been a number of legislative and regulatory changes to the healthcare system that could impact our ability
to sell our product candidates, if approved, profitably.

 
Since its enactment, there have been executive, judicial, and Congressional challenges to certain aspects of the ACA. In June 2021, the United States Supreme Court held

that Texas and other challengers had no legal standing to challenge the ACA, dismissing the case without specifically ruling on the constitutionality of the ACA. Accordingly,
the ACA remains in effect in its current form. It is unclear how this Supreme Court decision, future litigation, or healthcare measures promulgated by the Biden administration
will impact our business, financial condition, and results of operations. Complying with any new legislation or changes in healthcare regulation could be time-intensive and
expensive, resulting in material adverse effect on our business.
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In addition, other legislative changes have been proposed and adopted in the United States since the ACA was enacted. The Budget Control Act of 2011, among other

things, created measures for spending reductions by Congress. A Joint Select Committee on Deficit Reduction, tasked with recommending a targeted deficit reduction of at least
$1.2 trillion for the years 2013 through 2021, was unable to reach required goals, thereby triggering the legislation’s automatic reduction to several government programs. This
includes aggregate reductions of Medicare payments to providers of 2% per fiscal year, which went into effect in 2013, and will remain in effect through 2031. Under the
current legislation, the actual reduction in Medicare payments will vary from 1% in 2022 to up to 3% in the final fiscal year of this sequester. The American Taxpayer Relief
Act of 2012 further reduced Medicare payments to several providers, including hospitals and cancer treatment centers, and increased the statute of limitations period for the
government to recover overpayments to providers from three to five years.

 
There have been, and likely will continue to be, legislative and regulatory proposals at the foreign, federal, and state levels directed at containing or lowering the cost of

healthcare. We cannot predict the initiatives that may be adopted in the future. The continuing efforts of the government, insurance companies, managed care organizations and
other payors of healthcare services to contain or reduce costs of healthcare and/or impose price controls may adversely affect:

 
 ● the demand for our product candidates if approved;
 ● our ability to receive or set a price that it believes is fair for its products;
 ● our ability to generate revenue and achieve or maintain profitability;
 ● the level of taxes that we will be required to pay; and
 ● the availability of capital.

 
We expect that the ACA, the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022, as well as other healthcare reform measures that may be adopted in the future, may result in additional

reductions in Medicare and other healthcare funding, more rigorous coverage criteria, lower reimbursement, and new payment methodologies. This could lower the price that
we receive for any product candidates, if approved. Any denial in coverage or reduction in reimbursement from Medicare or other government-funded programs may result in a
similar denial or reduction in payments from private payors, which may prevent us from being able to generate sufficient revenue, attain profitability or commercialize our
product candidates, if approved.

 
At the state level, individual states are also increasingly aggressive in passing legislation and implementing regulations designed to control pharmaceutical and biological

product pricing, including price or patient reimbursement constraints, discounts, restrictions on certain product access and marketing cost disclosure and transparency measures,
and, in some cases, designed to encourage importation from other countries and bulk purchasing. In addition, regional health care authorities and individual hospitals are
increasingly using bidding procedures to determine what pharmaceutical products and which suppliers will be included in their prescription drug and other health care
programs. These measures could reduce the ultimate demand for our products, once approved, or put pressure on our product pricing.

 
We expect that additional state and federal healthcare reform measures will be adopted in the future, any of which could limit the amounts that federal and state

governments will pay for healthcare products and services, which could result in reduced demand for our current or future product candidates or additional pricing pressures. In
particular any policy changes through CMS as well as local state Medicaid programs could have a significant impact on our business.

 
Inadequate funding for the FDA, the SEC, and other government agencies, including from government shutdowns, or other disruptions to these agencies’ operations,
could hinder their ability to hire and retain key leadership and other personnel, prevent new products and services from being developed or commercialized in a timely
manner or otherwise prevent those agencies from performing normal business functions on which the operation of our business may rely, which could negatively impact
our business.
 

The ability of the FDA to review and approve new products can be affected by a variety of factors, including government budget and funding levels, the ability to hire and
retain key personnel and the acceptance of user fees payments, and statutory, regulatory, and policy changes. Average review times at the agency have fluctuated in recent years
as a result. If a prolonged government shutdown occurs, if the FDA is required to furlough review staff or necessary employees, or if the agency operations are otherwise
impacted, it could significantly affect the ability of the FDA to timely review and process our regulatory submissions, which could have a material adverse effect on our
business. Further, future government shutdowns could impact our ability to access the public markets and obtain necessary capital in order to properly capitalize and continue
our operations.
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We may be exposed to product liability, non-clinical and clinical liability risks which could place a substantial financial burden on our business.
 

Our business exposes us to potential product liability and other liability risks that are inherent in the testing, manufacturing, and marketing of medical products and the
subsequent sale of these products by. In addition, the use in our clinical trials of pharmaceutical and related products and the subsequent sale of these products may cause us to
bear a portion of or all product liability risks. If a products liability claim is brought against us, we will be required to expend significant time and resources in defending
against such a claim, and such defense may not ultimately be successful. We do not currently maintain clinical trial liability insurance, although we intend to seek coverage in
connection with initiating our first clinical trial of NPM-119. There can be no assurance that we will secure clinical trial liability insurance on commercially reasonable terms or
at all. As a result, products liability risks could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

 
Our research and development activities involve the use of hazardous materials, which are subject to regulation, related costs and delays and potential liabilities. 
 

Our research and development activities may involve the controlled use of hazardous materials and chemicals. If an accident occurs, we could be held liable for resulting
damage, which could be substantial. We are also subject to numerous environmental, health and workplace safety laws and regulations, including those governing laboratory
procedures, exposure to blood-borne pathogens and the handling of biohazardous materials. Additional federal, state, and local laws and regulations affecting our operations
may be adopted in the future. We may incur substantial costs to comply with, and substantial fines or penalties if we violate any of these laws or regulations.

 
Risks Relating to Our Intellectual Property
 
We may not be able to adequately protect our proprietary or licensed technology.
 

Our business depends on our ability to protect our proprietary technology. We rely on a combination of trade secret, patent, copyright and trademark laws, and
confidentiality, licensing, and other agreements with employees and third parties, all of which offer only limited protection. We may also in-license additional intellectual
property rights in the future. We cannot be certain that patent enforcement activities by our current or future licensors have been or will be conducted in compliance with
applicable laws and regulations or will result in valid and enforceable patents or other intellectual property rights. We also cannot be certain that our current or future licensors
will allocate sufficient resources or prioritize enforcement of such patents. Even if we are not a party to these legal actions, an adverse outcome could prevent us from
continuing to license intellectual property that we may need to operate our business.

 
We plan to seek, through prosecution of patent applications covering our owned technology, adequate patent protection for our proprietary drug technology. If we are

compelled to spend significant time, money and resources protecting or enforcing our patents and future patents that we may possess, designing around patents held by others
or licensing or acquiring, potentially for large fees, patents or other proprietary rights held by others, our business, financial condition, and results of operations may be
materially and adversely affected. If we are unable to effectively protect the intellectual property that we own or in-license, other companies may be able to offer the same or
similar products for sale, which could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations. The patents of others from whom we may license
technology, and any future patents we may own, may be challenged, narrowed, invalidated, or circumvented, which could limit our ability to stop competitors from marketing
the same or similar products or limit the length of term of patent protection that we may have for our product candidates, if approved.
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Obtaining and maintaining patent protection depends on compliance with various procedural, document submission, fee payment and other requirements imposed by
governmental patent agencies, and our patent protection for licensed patents, pending patent applications and potential future patent applications and patents could be
reduced or eliminated for non-compliance with these requirements.
 

Periodic maintenance fees, renewal fees, annuity fees and various other governmental fees on patents and/or patent applications will be due to be paid to the U.S. Patent
and Trademark Office (USPTO) and various governmental patent agencies outside of the U.S. in several stages over the lifetime of the applicable patent and/or patent
application. The USPTO and various non-U.S. governmental patent agencies require compliance with a number of procedural, documentary, fee payment and other similar
provisions during the patent application process. In many cases, an inadvertent lapse can be cured by payment of a late fee or by other means in accordance with the applicable
rules. However, there are situations in which noncompliance can result in abandonment or lapse of the patent or patent application, resulting in partial or complete loss of patent
rights in the relevant jurisdiction. If this occurs with respect to our in-licensed patents or patent applications that we may file in the future, our competitors might be able to use
its technologies, which would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

 
The patent positions of pharmaceutical products are often complex and uncertain. The breadth of claims allowed in pharmaceutical patents in the U.S. and many

jurisdictions outside of the U.S. is not consistent. For example, in many jurisdictions, the support standards for pharmaceutical patents are becoming increasingly strict. Some
countries prohibit method of treatment claims in patents. Changes in either the patent laws or interpretations of patent laws in the U.S. and other countries may diminish the
value of our licensed or owned intellectual property or create uncertainty. In addition, publication of information related to our product candidates may prevent us from
obtaining or enforcing patents relating to these product candidates.

 
Patents that we currently own or license and patents that we may own or license in the future do not necessarily ensure the protection of our licensed or owned intellectual

property for a number of reasons, including, without limitation, the following:
 

 ● the patents may not be broad or strong enough to prevent competition from other products that are identical or similar to our own product candidates;
 ● there can be no assurance that the term of a patent can be extended under the provisions of patent term extensions afforded by U.S. law or similar provisions in foreign

countries, where available;
 ● the issued patents and patents that we may obtain or license in the future may not prevent generic entry into the market for our product candidates;
 ● we or our licensors may be required to disclaim part of the term of one or more patents;
 ● there may be prior art of which we are not aware that may affect the validity or enforceability of a patent claim;
 ● there may be prior art of which we are aware, which we do not believe affects the validity or enforceability of a patent claim, but which, nonetheless, ultimately may

be found to affect the validity or enforceability of a patent claim;
 ● there may be other patents issued to others that will affect our freedom to operate;
 ● if the patents are challenged, a court could determine that they are invalid or unenforceable;
 ● there might be a significant change in the law that governs patentability, validity and infringement of our licensed patents or any future patents that we may own that

adversely affects the scope of our patent rights;
 ● a court could determine that a competitor’s technology or product does not infringe our licensed patents, or any future patents we may own; and
 ● the patents could irretrievably lapse due to failure to pay fees or otherwise comply with regulations or could be subject to compulsory licensing. If we encounter delays

in our development efforts or clinical trials, the period of time during which we could market our product candidates, if approved, under patent protection would be
reduced.
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Our competitors may be able to circumvent our licensed patents or future patents we may own by developing similar or alternative technologies or products in a non-

infringing manner. Our competitors may seek to market generic versions of any approved products by submitting abbreviated new drug applications to the FDA in which our
competitors claim that our licensed patents or any future patents we may own are invalid, unenforceable, or not infringed. Alternatively, our competitors may seek approval to
market their own products similar to or otherwise competitive with our products. In these circumstances, we may need to defend or assert our licensed patents, or any future
patents we may own, including by filing lawsuits alleging patent infringement by such third parties. In any of these types of proceedings, a court or other agency with
jurisdiction may find our licensed patents or any future patents we may own invalid or unenforceable. We may also fail to identify patentable aspects of our research and
development efforts before it is too late to obtain patent protection. Even if we own or in-license valid and enforceable patents, these patents still may not provide protection
against competing products or processes sufficient to achieve our business objectives.

 
The issuance of a patent is not conclusive as to its inventorship, scope, ownership, priority, validity, or enforceability. In this regard, third parties may challenge our

licensed patents, or any future patents we may own in the courts or patent offices in the U.S. and abroad. Such challenges may result in loss of exclusivity or freedom to operate
or in patent claims being narrowed, invalidated, or held unenforceable, in whole or in part, which could limit our ability to stop others from using or commercializing similar or
identical technology and products, or limit the duration of the patent protection of our technology and product candidates. In addition, given the amount of time required for the
development, testing and regulatory review of new product candidates, patents protecting such product candidates might expire before or shortly after such product candidates
are commercialized.

 
We may not be successful in obtaining or maintaining necessary rights to develop and commercialize our product candidates.
 

We utilize our NanoPortal technology to develop long-term drug implant candidates that are designed to deliver active compounds to patients. Some of our product
candidates may deliver active compounds that are proprietary to one or more third parties. For example, from our current pipeline, NPM-139 delivers an active ingredient that
is proprietary to another company, although we do not anticipate submitting an application for marketing approval with NPM-139 until the relevant intellectual property owned
by another company has expired. Similarly, in the future, we may develop one or more additional product candidates that utilize active ingredients that are proprietary to
another third party. If we advance future programs utilizing compounds that are proprietary to another company for further development, we will need to negotiate and enter
into one or more licenses with the relevant third parties in order to conduct such activities. However, there can be no assurance that we can enter into such agreements on
commercially reasonable terms or at all.

 
We may also need to partner, acquire or in-license additional intellectual property in the future with respect to other product candidates. Moreover, we may be unable to

acquire or in-license any compositions, methods of use, processes, or other intellectual property rights from third parties that we identify as necessary for our product
candidates. We may face competition with regard to acquiring and in-licensing third-party intellectual property rights, including from a number of more established companies.
These established companies may have a competitive advantage over us due to their size, cash resources and greater clinical development and commercialization capabilities.
In addition, companies that perceive us to be a competitor may be unwilling to assign or license intellectual property rights to us. We also may be unable to acquire or in-license
third-party intellectual property rights on commercially acceptable terms or at all.

 
If we are unable to successfully obtain required third-party intellectual property rights or maintain our existing intellectual property rights, we may need to abandon

development of the related program and our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.
 

We may infringe the intellectual property rights of others, which may prevent or delay our development efforts and prevent us from commercializing or increase the costs of
commercializing our product candidates, if approved.
 

Our business depends significantly on our ability to operate without infringing the patents and other intellectual property rights of third parties. For example, there could be
issued patents of which we are not aware that our product candidates infringe. There also could be patents that we believe are not infringed, but that we may ultimately be found
to infringe.
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Moreover, patent applications are in some cases maintained in secrecy until patents are issued. The publication of discoveries in scientific or patent literature frequently

occurs substantially later than the date on which the underlying discoveries were made, and patent applications were filed. Because patents can take many years to issue, there
may be currently pending applications of which we are unaware that may later result in issued patents that our product candidates infringe. For example, pending applications
may exist that claim or can be amended to claim subject matter that our product candidates infringe. Competitors may file continuing patent applications claiming priority to
already issued patents in the form of continuation, divisional, or continuation-in-part applications, in order to maintain the pendency of a patent family and attempt to cover our
product candidates.

 
Third parties may assert that we are employing their proprietary technology without authorization and may sue us for patent or other intellectual property infringement.

These lawsuits are costly and could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations and divert the attention of managerial and scientific personnel. If
we are sued for patent infringement, we would need to demonstrate that our activities either do not infringe the claims of the relevant patent or that the patent claims are invalid,
and we may not be able to do this. Proving invalidity is difficult. For example, in the U.S., proving invalidity requires a showing of clear and convincing evidence to overcome
the presumption of validity enjoyed by issued patents. Even if we are successful in these proceedings, we may incur substantial costs and the time and attention of our
management and scientific personnel could be diverted in pursuing these proceedings, which could have a material adverse effect on our business. In addition, we may not have
sufficient resources to bring these actions to a successful conclusion. If a court holds that any third-party patents are valid, enforceable and cover our activities, the holders of
any of these patents may be able to block our ability to commercialize our product candidates, if approved, unless it we acquire or obtain a license under the applicable patents
or until the patents expire.

 
We may not be able to enter into licensing arrangements or make other arrangements on reasonable terms or at all. Any inability to secure licenses or alternative technology

could result in delays in the commercialization of our product candidates, if approved, or lead to the prohibition of their manufacture or sale. Even if we are able to obtain a
license, it may be non-exclusive, thereby giving our competitors access to the same technologies licensed to us. We could be forced, including by court order, to cease
commercializing the infringing technology or product. In addition, in any such proceeding or litigation, we could be found liable for monetary damages, including treble
damages and attorneys’ fees, if we are found to have willfully infringed a patent. A finding of infringement could prevent us from commercializing our product candidates or
force us to cease some of our business operations. Any claims by third parties that we have misappropriated their confidential information or trade secrets could have a similar
material and adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

 
An NDA submitted under Section 505(b)(2) subjects us to the risk that we may be subject to a patent infringement lawsuit that would delay or prevent the review or
approval of our product candidates.
 

We expect to submit NDAs under Section 505(b)(2) of the FDCA for our product candidates. Section 505(b)(2) permits the submission of an NDA where at least some of
the information required for approval comes from preclinical studies or clinical trials that were not conducted by, or for, the applicant and for which the applicant has not
obtained a right of reference. A 505(b)(2) NDA enables the applicant to reference published literature for which the applicant does not have a right of reference and the FDA’s
previous findings of safety and effectiveness for a previously approved drug. For 505(b)(2) NDAs, the patent certification and related provisions of the Hatch-Waxman
Amendments apply.

 
Accordingly, if the applicant relies for approval on the safety or effectiveness on information for a previously approved drug, referred to as a listed drug, the applicable is

required to include patent certifications in our 505(b)(2) NDA regarding any applicable patents covering the listed drug. If there are applicable patents listed in the FDA
publication Approved Drug Products with Therapeutic Equivalence Evaluations, commonly known as the Orange Book, for the listed drug, and the applicant seeks to obtain
approval prior to the expiration of one or more of those patents, the applicant is required to submit a Paragraph IV certification indicating its belief that the relevant patents are
invalid or unenforceable or will not be infringed by the manufacture, use or sale of the product that is the subject of the 505(b)(2) application. Otherwise, the 505(b)(2) NDA
cannot be approved by the FDA until the expiration of any patents listed in the Orange Book for the listed drug.
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If we submit any Paragraph IV certification that may be required, we will be required to provide notice of that certification to the NDA holder and patent owner. Under the

Hatch-Waxman Amendments, the patent owner may file a patent infringement lawsuit after receiving such notice. If a patent infringement lawsuit is filed within 45 days of the
patent owner’s or NDA holder’s receipt of notice (whichever is later), a one-time, automatic stay of the FDA’s ability to approve the 505(b)(2) NDA is triggered, which
typically extends for 30 months unless patent litigation is resolved in favor of the Paragraph IV filer or the patent expires before that time. Accordingly, we may invest a
significant amount of time and expense in the development of one or more product candidates only to be subject to significant delay and patent litigation before such product
candidates may be commercialized, if at all.

 
In addition, a 505(b)(2) NDA will not be approved until any applicable non-patent exclusivity listed in the Orange Book for the listed drug, or for any other drug with the

same protected conditions of approval as our product, has expired. The FDA also may require us to perform one or more additional clinical trials or measurements to support
the change from the listed drug, which could be time consuming and could substantially delay our achievement of regulatory approval. The FDA also may reject any future
505(b)(2) NDAs and require us to submit traditional NDAs under Section 505(b)(1), which would require extensive data to establish safety and effectiveness of the product for
the proposed use and could cause delay and additional costs. In addition, the FDA could reject any future 505(b)(2) application and require us to submit a Section 505(b)(1)
NDA or a Section 505(j) ANDA if, before the submission of our 505(b)(2) application, the FDA approves an application for a product that is pharmaceutically equivalent to
ours and determines that our product is inappropriate for review through the 505(b)(2) pathway. These factors, among others, may limit our ability to commercialize our
product candidates successfully.

 
Changes in U.S. patent law could diminish the value of patents in general, thereby impairing our ability to protect our product candidates.
 

As is the case with other biopharmaceutical companies, our success is heavily dependent on maintaining and protecting our intellectual property, particularly patents.
Obtaining and enforcing patents in the biopharmaceutical industry involves both technological and legal complexity and is costly, time-consuming, and inherently uncertain.
For example, the U.S. previously enacted and implemented wide-ranging patent reform legislation. Specifically, on September 16, 2011, the Leahy-Smith America Invents Act
(the “Leahy-Smith Act”) was signed into law and included a number of significant changes to U.S. patent law, and many of the provisions became effective in March 2013.
However, it may take the courts years to interpret the provisions of the Leahy-Smith Act, and the implementation of the statute could increase the uncertainties and costs
surrounding the prosecution of our patents and future patent applications and the enforcement or defense of our licensed and future patents.

 
In addition, the U.S. Supreme Court has ruled on several patent cases in recent years, either narrowing the scope of patent protection available in certain circumstances or

weakening the rights of patent owners in certain situations. In addition to increasing uncertainty regarding our ability to obtain patents in the future, this combination of events
has created uncertainty with respect to the value of patents once obtained. Depending on decisions by the U.S. Congress, the federal courts and the USPTO, the laws and
regulations governing patents could change in unpredictable ways that would weaken our ability to obtain new patents or to enforce patents that we might obtain in the future.

 
We may not be able to protect our intellectual property rights throughout the world.
 

Filing, prosecuting, and defending patents on product candidates in all jurisdictions throughout the world would be prohibitively expensive. Competitors may use our
licensed and owned technologies in jurisdictions where we have not licensed or obtained patent protection to develop their own products and, further, may export otherwise
infringing products to territories where we may obtain or license patent protection, but where patent enforcement is not as strong as that in the U.S. These products may
compete with our product candidates in jurisdictions where we do not have any issued or licensed patents and any future patent claims, or other intellectual property rights may
not be effective or sufficient to prevent them from so competing.

 
Many companies have encountered significant problems in protecting and defending intellectual property rights in foreign jurisdictions. The legal systems of certain

countries, particularly certain developing countries, do not favor the enforcement of patents and other intellectual property protection, particularly those relating to
biopharmaceuticals, which could make it difficult for us to stop the infringement of our licensed patents and future patents we may own, or marketing of competing products in
violation of our proprietary rights generally. Further, the laws of some foreign countries do not protect proprietary rights to the same extent or in the same manner as the laws of
the U.S. As a result, we may encounter significant problems in protecting and defending its licensed and owned intellectual property both in the U.S. and abroad. For example,
China currently affords less protection to a company’s intellectual property than some other jurisdictions. As such, the lack of strong patent and other intellectual property
protection in China may significantly increase our vulnerability regarding unauthorized disclosure or use of our intellectual property and undermine our competitive position.
Proceedings to enforce our future patent rights, if any, in foreign jurisdictions could result in substantial cost and divert our efforts and attention from other aspects of our
business.
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We may be unable to adequately prevent disclosure of trade secrets and other proprietary information.
 

To protect our proprietary and licensed technology and processes, we rely in part on confidentiality agreements with our corporate partners, employees, consultants,
manufacturers, outside scientific collaborators and sponsored researchers and other advisors. These agreements may not effectively prevent disclosure of our confidential
information and may not provide an adequate remedy in the event of unauthorized disclosure of confidential information. In addition, others may independently discover our
trade secrets and proprietary information. Failure to obtain or maintain trade secret protection could adversely affect our competitive business position.

 
Although we require all of our employees to assign their inventions to us, and require all of our employees, consultants, advisors and any third parties who have access to

our proprietary know how, information or technology to enter into confidentiality agreements, we cannot be certain that our trade secrets and other confidential proprietary
information will not be disclosed or that competitors will not otherwise gain access to our trade secrets or independently develop substantially equivalent information and
techniques.

 
We may be subject to claims that our employees, consultants, or independent contractors have wrongfully used or disclosed confidential information of third parties.
 

We expect to employ individuals who were previously employed at other biopharmaceutical companies. Although we have no knowledge of any such claims against us,
and to date none our employees have been subject to such claims, we may be subject to claims that we or our employees, consultants or independent contractors have
inadvertently or otherwise used or disclosed confidential information of such third parties. Litigation may be necessary to defend against these claims. There is no guarantee of
success in defending these claims, and even if we are successful, litigation could result in substantial cost and be a distraction to our management and other employees.

 
If we do not obtain additional protection under the Hatch-Waxman Amendments and similar foreign legislation extending the terms of our patents and any future patents
we may own, our business, financial condition and results of operations may be materially and adversely affected. 
 

Depending upon the timing, duration, and specifics of FDA regulatory approval for our product candidates, one or more of our licensed U.S. patents or future U.S. patents
that we may license or own may be eligible for limited patent term restoration under the Drug Price Competition and Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984, referred to as the
Hatch-Waxman Amendments. In certain instances, the Hatch-Waxman Amendments permit a patent restoration term of up to five years as compensation for patent term lost
during drug development and the FDA regulatory review process. This period is generally one-half the time between the effective date of an investigational new drug
application IND (falling after issuance of the patent), and the submission date of an NDA, plus the time between the submission date of an NDA and the approval of that
application. The patent term extension cannot extend the remaining term of a patent beyond a total of 14 years from the date of product approval, only one patent may be
extended and only those claims covering the approved drug, a method for using it, or a method of manufacturing it may be extended. However, we may not receive an
extension because of, for example, failing to apply within applicable deadlines, failing to apply prior to expiration of relevant patents or otherwise failing to satisfy applicable
requirements. Moreover, the length of the extension could be less than we request. If we are unable to obtain patent term extension or the term of any such extension is less than
we request, the period during which we can enforce our patent rights for that product will not be lengthened and third parties, including our competitors, may obtain approval to
market competing therapies sooner than we expect. As a result, our revenue from applicable therapies could be materially reduced and our business, financial condition, results
of operations, and prospects could be materially harmed. 
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Risks Related to Our Reliance on Third Parties
 
Use of third parties to manufacture our product candidates may increase the risk that we will not have sufficient quantities of our product candidates, products, or
necessary quantities at an acceptable cost.
 

We do not own or operate manufacturing facilities for the production of clinical or commercial quantities of our product candidates, and we lack the resources and the
capabilities to do so. As a result, we currently rely on third parties for supply of the active pharmaceutical ingredients, or API, in our product candidates, and our other drug
components, as well as the device components of our drug-device combination product candidates. Our current strategy is to outsource all manufacturing of our product
candidates and products to third parties.

 
We currently engage, or plan to engage, third-party manufacturers to manufacture our product candidates and related supplies and packaging. There is no guarantee that we

can maintain our relationships with these manufacturers and we may incur added costs and delays in identifying and qualifying any replacements for such manufacturers. There
is no assurance that we will be able to timely secure further needed supply arrangements on satisfactory terms, or at all. Our failure to secure these arrangements as needed
ability to commercialize our product candidates.

 
Reliance on third-party manufacturers entails additional risks, including: 
 

 ● reliance on third parties for manufacturing process development, regulatory compliance and quality assurance;
 ● limitations on supply availability resulting from capacity and scheduling constraints of third parties;
 ● the possible breach of manufacturing agreements by third parties because of factors beyond our control; and
 ● the possible termination or non-renewal of the manufacturing agreements by the third party, at a time that is costly or inconvenient to us.

 
If we do not maintain our key manufacturing relationships or if our third-party manufactures fail to comply with applicable regulations, we may need to find replacement

manufacturers or develop our own manufacturing capabilities, which could delay or impair our ability to obtain regulatory approval for our products. If we do find replacement
manufacturers and enter into agreements with them on terms and conditions favorable to us and there could be a substantial delay before new facilities could be qualified and
registered with the FDA and other foreign regulatory authorities.

 
If any third-party manufacturer with whom we contract fails to perform its obligations, we may be forced to manufacture the materials ourselves, for which we may not

have the capabilities or resources, or enter into an agreement with a different third-party manufacturer, which we may not be able to do on reasonable terms, if at all. In either
scenario, our product supply could be delayed significantly as we establish alternative supply sources. In some cases, the technical skills required to manufacture our products
or product candidates may be unique or proprietary to the original third-party manufacturer and we may have difficulty, or there may be contractual restrictions prohibiting us
from, transferring such skills to a back-up or alternate supplier, or we may be unable to transfer such skills at all. In addition, if we are required to change third-party
manufacturers for any reason, we will be required to verify that the new manufacturer maintains facilities and procedures that comply with quality standards and with all
applicable regulations. We will also need to verify, such as through a manufacturing comparability study, that any new manufacturing process will produce our product
candidate according to the specifications previously submitted to the FDA or another regulatory authority. The delays associated with the verification of a new manufacturer
could negatively affect our ability to develop product candidates or commercialize our products in a timely manner or within budget. Furthermore, a third-party manufacturer
may possess technology related to the manufacture of our product candidate that such manufacturer owns independently. This would increase our reliance on such third-party
manufacturer or require us to obtain a license from such manufacturer in order to have another third party manufacture our product candidates. In addition, changes in
manufacturers often involve changes in manufacturing procedures and processes, which could require that we conduct bridging studies between our prior clinical supply used in
our clinical trials and that of any new manufacturer. We may be unsuccessful in demonstrating the comparability of clinical supplies which could require the conduct of
additional clinical trials.
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Third-party manufacturers may not be able to comply with the regulatory requirements, known as cGMP, applicable to drug-device combination products, including

applicable provisions of the FDA’s drug cGMP regulations, device cGMP requirements embodied in the QSR or similar regulatory requirements outside the United States. Our
failure, third-party manufacturers, to comply with applicable regulations could result in sanctions being imposed on us, including clinical holds, fines, injunctions, civil
penalties, delays, suspension or withdrawal of approvals, license revocation, seizures or recalls of product candidates, operating restrictions and criminal prosecutions, any of
which could significantly affect supplies of our product candidates. The facilities used by our contract manufacturers to manufacture our product candidates must be approved
by the FDA pursuant to inspections that will be conducted after we submit our NDA to the FDA.

 
We do not control the manufacturing process of, and are completely dependent on, our contract manufacturing partners for compliance with cGMPs and QSRs. If our

contract manufacturers cannot successfully manufacture material that conforms to our specifications and the strict regulatory requirements of the FDA or others, they will not
be able to secure and/or maintain regulatory approval for their manufacturing facilities. In addition, we have no control over the ability of our contract manufacturers to
maintain adequate quality control, quality assurance and qualified personnel. If the FDA or a comparable foreign regulatory authority does not approve these facilities for the
manufacture of our product candidates or if it withdraws any such approval in the future, we may need to find alternative manufacturing facilities, which could cause significant
delays in our operating timelines and would significantly impact our ability to develop, obtain regulatory approval for or market our product candidates, if approved. Contract
manufacturers may face manufacturing or quality control problems causing drug substance production and shipment delays or a situation where the contractor may not be able
to maintain compliance with the applicable cGMP and QSR requirements. Any failure to comply with cGMP or QSR requirements or other FDA, EMA and comparable foreign
regulatory requirements could adversely affect our clinical research activities and our ability to develop our product candidates and market our products following approval.

 
The FDA and other foreign regulatory authorities require manufacturers to register manufacturing facilities. The FDA and corresponding foreign regulators also inspect

these facilities to confirm compliance with applicable cGMPs and QSRs. Contract manufacturers may face manufacturing or quality control problems causing drug substance
or device component production and shipment delays or a situation where the contractor may not be able to maintain compliance with the applicable cGMP or QSR
requirements. Any failure to comply with cGMP or QSR requirements or other FDA, EMA and comparable foreign regulatory requirements could adversely affect our clinical
research activities and our ability to develop our product candidates and market our products following approval.

 
We rely, and expect to continue to rely, on third parties to conduct our preclinical studies and clinical trials and perform other tasks. If these third parties do not
successfully perform carry out their contractual duties, meet expected deadlines, or comply with regulatory requirements, we may not be able to obtain regulatory approval
for or commercialize our product candidates on the timelines that we anticipate or at all. 
 

We have relied and intend to continue to rely upon third-party CROs, medical institutions, clinical investigators, and contract laboratories to monitor and manage data for
our ongoing research and development efforts. Nevertheless, we remain responsible for ensuring that each of our clinical trials and preclinical studies is conducted in
accordance with the applicable protocol, legal, regulatory, and scientific standards, and our reliance on these third parties does not relieve us of our responsibilities. We and our
CROs and other vendors are required to comply with cGMP, good clinical practices (“GCP”) and GLP, which are a collection of laws and regulations enforced by the FDA, the
EMA, and comparable foreign authorities for all of our product candidates in clinical development. Regulatory authorities enforce these regulations through periodic
inspections of preclinical study and clinical trial sponsors, principal investigators, preclinical study and clinical trial sites, and other contractors. If we or any of our CROs or
vendors fails to comply with applicable regulations, the data generated in our preclinical studies and clinical trials may be deemed unreliable and the FDA, the EMA or
comparable foreign authorities may require us to perform additional preclinical studies and clinical trials. We cannot guarantee that upon inspection by a given regulatory
authority, such regulatory authority will determine that any of our clinical trials comply with GCP regulations. In addition, our clinical trials must be conducted with products
produced consistent with cGMP regulations. Failure to comply with these regulations may require us to repeat clinical trials, which would delay the development and regulatory
approval processes.
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We may not be able to enter into arrangements with CROs on commercially reasonable terms, or at all. In addition, our CROs are not our own employees, and except for

remedies available to us under our agreements with such CROs, we will not be able to control whether they devote sufficient time and resources to our ongoing research and
development activities. If CROs do not successfully carry out their contractual duties or obligations or meet expected deadlines, if they need to be replaced or if the quality or
accuracy of the data they obtain is compromised due to the failure to adhere to our protocols, regulatory requirements, or for other reasons, our clinical trials may be extended,
delayed or terminated and our development activities will be impaired. CROs may also generate higher costs than anticipated. As a result, our business, financial condition and
results of operations and the commercial prospects for our product candidates could be materially and adversely affected, our costs could increase, and our ability to generate
revenue could be harmed.

 
Switching or adding additional CROs, medical institutions, clinical investigators or contract laboratories involves additional cost and requires management time and focus.

In addition, there is a natural transition period when a new CRO commences work replacing a previous CRO. As a result, delays occur, which can materially impact our ability
to meet our desired clinical development timelines. There can be no assurance that we will not encounter similar challenges or delays in the future or that these delays or
challenges will not have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, or results of operations.

 
Our efforts to seek, secure and maintain partnerships, collaborations or other strategic initiatives with respect to one or more of our programs may not be successful.
 

As part of our business strategy, we have entered into, and seek to enter into partnerships, collaborations and other strategic initiatives with respect to one or more of our
programs, with the goal of maximizing the value of such assets. For example, we have a collaboration with Okava Pharmaceuticals, Inc. with respect to OKV-119. In March
2023, we announced that our wholly owned subsidiary Cortigent, Inc., which was created to continue the historical business of Second Sight, has filed a registration statement
for a potential initial public offering of common stock. However, there can be no assurance that these arrangements will yield their intended benefits or that we will receive any
return on our efforts and resources invested into these arrangements.

 
In addition, we may from time to time in the future enter into additional arrangements with biopharmaceutical companies for the development or commercialization of our

product candidates. We face significant competition in seeking such transactions with such collaborators. Moreover, collaboration arrangements are complex, and time
consuming to negotiate, execute and implement. We may not be successful in our efforts to establish and implement collaborations or other alternative arrangements, and the
terms of these arrangements may not be favorable to us. If collaborate with a third party for development and commercialization of a product candidate, we may be required to
relinquish some or all of the control over that product candidate to the third party. The success of our collaboration arrangements will depend heavily on the efforts and
activities of our collaborators. Collaborators generally have significant discretion in determining the efforts and resources that they will apply to these collaborations.

 
Disagreements between parties to a collaboration arrangement can lead to delays in developing or commercializing the applicable product candidate and can be difficult to

resolve in a mutually beneficial manner. In some cases, collaborations with biopharmaceutical companies and other third parties are terminated or allowed to expire by the other
party. Any such termination or expiration would adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
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If we are unable to develop our own commercial organization or enter into agreements with third parties to sell and market our product candidates, if approved, we may be
unable to generate significant revenues.
 

We currently do not have a sales and marketing organization, and we have no experience as a company in the sales, marketing, and distribution of approved products. If
any of our product candidates are approved for commercialization, we may be required to develop its sales, marketing, and distribution capabilities, or make arrangements with
a third party to perform sales and marketing services. Developing a sales force is expensive and time consuming and could delay any product launch. We may be unable to
establish and manage an effective sales force in a timely or cost-effective manner, if at all, and any sales force that we do establish may not be capable of generating sufficient
demand for our product candidates, if approved. To the extent that we enter into arrangements with collaborators or other third parties to perform sales and marketing services,
we may be required to relinquish a portion of the revenues from product sales to those third parties. If we are unable to establish adequate sales and marketing capabilities,
independently or with others, we may not be able to generate significant revenues and may not become profitable.

 
Our current and future relationships with investigators, healthcare professionals, consultants, third-party payors, and customers will be subject to applicable healthcare
regulatory laws. Failure to comply with those laws could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition. 
 

Although we do not currently have any products on the market, our operations may be directly, or indirectly through our prescribers, consultants, customers, and third-party
payors, subject to various U.S. federal and state healthcare laws and regulations, including, without limitation, fraud and abuse and other healthcare laws and regulations. These
laws may constrain the business or financial arrangements and relationships through which we conduct our operations, including how it researches, markets, sells and
distributes its product candidates for which it obtains marketing approval. For more information, see “Business – Government Regulation – Healthcare Laws &
Reimbursement.”

 
The scope and enforcement of each of these laws is uncertain and subject to rapid change in the current environment of healthcare reform, especially in light of the lack of

applicable precedent and regulations. Federal and state enforcement bodies have increased their scrutiny of interactions between healthcare companies and healthcare providers,
which has led to a number of investigations, prosecutions, convictions and settlements in the healthcare industry. Ensuring that our internal operations and future business
arrangements with third parties comply with applicable healthcare laws and regulations will involve substantial costs. It is possible that governmental authorities will conclude
that our business practices do not comply with current or future statutes, regulations, agency guidance or case law involving applicable fraud and abuse or other healthcare laws
and regulations.

 
If we are found to be in violation of any of such laws or any other governmental regulations that apply to us, we may be subject to penalties, including civil and criminal

penalties, damages, fines, the curtailment or restructuring of our operations, the exclusion from participation in federal and state healthcare programs or similar programs in
other countries or jurisdictions, integrity oversight and reporting obligations to resolve allegations of non-compliance, and individual imprisonment, any of which could
adversely affect our ability to operate our business and our results of operations.

 
Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock
 
Our principal stockholders and management own a significant percentage of our stock and will be able to exercise significant influence over matters subject to stockholder
approval.
 

As of December 31, 2023, our executive officers, directors and principal stockholders, together with their respective affiliates, beneficially owned approximately 38% of
our common stock. Accordingly, these stockholders will be able to exert a significant degree of influence over our management and affairs and over matters requiring
stockholder approval, including the election of our board of directors and approval of significant corporate transactions. This concentration of ownership could have the effect
of entrenching our management and/or the board of directors, delaying or preventing a change in our control or otherwise discouraging a potential acquirer from attempting to
obtain control of us, which in turn could have a material and adverse effect on the fair market value of our common stock.
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Because we became a reporting company under the Exchange Act by means other than a traditional underwritten initial public offering, we may not be able to attract the
attention of research analysts at major brokerage firms.
 

Vivani resulted from the August 2022 business combination of Second Sight and NPM. Vivani’s main priority is the further development of the company’s lead programs
NPM-115 and NPM-119, which are miniature, 6-month, GLP-1 implant candidates for the treatment of chronic weight management and patients with type 2 diabetes,
respectively. In parallel, Vivani’s management team remained committed to identifying and exploring strategic options for the Neuromodulation Division (formerly Second
Sight) that will enable further development of its pioneering neurostimulation systems to help patients recover critical body functions.

 
Because the NPM business did not become a reporting company by conducting an underwritten initial public offering of our common stock, security analysts of brokerage

firms may not provide coverage of our company. In addition, investment banks may be less likely to agree to underwrite secondary offerings on our behalf than they might if
we became a public reporting company by means of an underwritten initial public offering, because they may be less familiar with our company as a result of more limited
coverage by analysts and the media, and because we became public at an early stage in our development. The failure to receive research coverage or support in the market for
our shares will have an adverse effect on our ability to develop a liquid market for our common stock.

 
Because we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends on our capital stock in the foreseeable future, capital appreciation, if any, will be your sole source of gain.
 

You should not rely on an investment in our common stock to provide dividend income. We do not anticipate that we will pay any cash dividends to holders of our
common stock in the foreseeable future. Instead, we plan to retain any earnings to maintain and expand our operations. In addition, any future debt financing arrangement we
enter into may contain terms prohibiting or limiting the amount of dividends that may be declared or paid on our common stock. Accordingly, investors must rely on sales of
their common stock after price appreciation, which may never occur, as the only way to realize any return on their investment. As a result, investors seeking cash dividends
should not purchase our common stock.

 
The designation of our common stock as “penny stock” would limit the liquidity of our common stock.
 

Our common stock may be deemed a “penny stock” (as that term is defined under Rule 3a51-1 of the Exchange Act) in any market that may develop in the future.
Generally, a “penny stock” is a common stock that is not listed on a securities exchange and trades for less than $5.00 a share. Prices often are not available to buyers and
sellers and the market may be very limited. Penny stock in start-up companies is among the riskiest equity investments. Broker-dealers who sell penny stock must provide
purchasers with a standardized risk-disclosure document prepared by the SEC. The document provides information about penny stock and the nature and level of risks involved
in investing in the penny stock market. A broker must also provide purchasers with bid and offer quotations and information regarding broker and salesperson compensation
and make a written determination that the penny stock is a suitable investment for the purchaser and obtain the purchaser’s written agreement to the purchase. Many brokers
choose not to participate in penny stock transactions. If our common stock is deemed “penny stock”, because of penny stock rules, there may be less trading activity in any
market that develops for our common stock in the future and stockholders are likely to have difficulty selling their shares.

 
FINRA sales practice requirements may limit a stockholder’s ability to buy and sell our common stock.
 

The Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (“FINRA”) has adopted rules requiring that, in recommending an investment to a customer, a broker-dealer must have
reasonable grounds for believing that the investment is suitable for that customer. Prior to recommending speculative or low-priced securities to their non-institutional
customers, broker-dealers must make reasonable efforts to obtain information about the customer’s financial status, tax status, investment objectives and other information.
Under interpretations of these rules, FINRA has indicated its belief that there is a high probability that speculative or low-priced securities will not be suitable for at least some
customers. If these FINRA requirements are applicable to us or our securities, they may make it more difficult for broker-dealers to recommend that at least some of their
customers buy our common stock, which may limit the ability of our stockholders to buy and sell our common stock and could have an adverse effect on the market for and
price of our common stock.
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The market price of our common stock may be highly volatile, and may be influenced by numerous factors, some of which are beyond our control.
 

The market price for our common stock may from time to time fluctuate substantially due to a variety of factors, including market perception of our ability to meet our
growth projections and expectations, quarterly operating results of other companies in the same industry, trading volume in our common stock, changes in general conditions in
the economy and the financial markets or other developments affecting our business and the business of others in our industry. In addition, the stock market itself is subject to
extreme price and volume fluctuations. This volatility has had a significant effect on the market price of securities issued by many companies for reasons related and unrelated
to their operating performance and could have the same effect on our common stock. The market price of shares of our common stock could be subject to wide fluctuations in
response to many risk factors listed in this section, and others beyond our control, including:

 
 ● results of clinical trials of our product candidates;
 ● the timing of the release of results of our clinical trials;
 ● results of clinical trials of our competitors’ products;
 ● safety issues with respect to our products or our competitors’ products;
 ● regulatory actions with respect to our products or our competitors’ products;
 ● actual or anticipated fluctuations in our financial condition and operating results;
 ● publication of research reports by securities analysts about us or our competitors or our industry;
 ● our failure or the failure of our competitors to meet analysts’ projections or guidance that we or our competitors may give to the market;
 ● additions and departures of key personnel;
 ● strategic decisions by us or our competitors, such as acquisitions, divestitures, spin-offs, joint ventures, strategic investments or changes in business strategy;
 ● the passage of legislation or other regulatory developments affecting us or our industry;
 ● fluctuations in the valuation of companies perceived by investors to be comparable to us;
 ● sales of our common stock by us, our insiders or our other stockholders;
 ● speculation in the press or investment community;
 ● announcement or expectation of additional financing efforts;
 ● changes in accounting principles;
 ● terrorist acts, acts of war or periods of widespread civil unrest;
 ● natural disasters and other calamities;
 ● changes in market conditions for biopharmaceutical stocks; and
 ● changes in general market and economic conditions.
 

In addition, the stock market has recently experienced significant volatility, particularly with respect to pharmaceutical, biotechnology and other life sciences company
stocks. The volatility of pharmaceutical, biotechnology and other life sciences company stocks often does not relate to the operating performance of the companies represented
by the stock. As we operate in a single industry, we are especially vulnerable to these factors to the extent that they affect our industry or our products, or to a lesser extent our
markets. In the past, securities class action litigation has often been initiated against companies following periods of volatility in their stock price. This type of litigation could
result in substantial costs and divert our management’s attention and resources, and could also require us to make substantial payments to satisfy judgments or to settle
litigation.

 
General Risk Factors
 
If we fail to retain current members of our senior management and scientific personnel, or to attract and keep additional key personnel, our ability to conduct our business
will be impaired.
 

Our business depends on our ability to attract, retain, and motivate highly qualified management and scientific personnel. However, competition for qualified personnel is
intense. We may not be successful in attracting qualified personnel to fulfill our current or future needs and there is no guarantee that any of these individuals will join our
company. In the event we are unable to fill critical open employment positions, we may need to delay our operational activities and goals, including the development of our
product candidates, and may have difficulty in meeting our obligations as a public company. We currently do not maintain “key person” insurance on any of our employees.
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In addition, competitors and others are likely in the future to attempt to recruit our employees. The loss of the services of any of our key personnel, the inability to attract or

retain highly qualified personnel in the future or delays in hiring such personnel, particularly senior management, and other technical personnel, could materially and adversely
affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, the replacement of key personnel likely would involve significant time and costs and may
significantly delay or prevent the achievement of our business objectives.

 
From time to time, our management seeks the advice and guidance of certain scientific advisors and consultants regarding clinical and regulatory development programs

and other customary matters. These scientific advisors and consultants are not our employees and may have commitments to, or consulting or advisory contracts with, other
entities that may limit their availability to our company. In addition, our scientific advisors may have arrangements with other companies to assist those companies in
developing products or technologies that may compete with us.

 
We will need to increase the size of our organization and may not successfully manage our growth.
 

We are an early-stage biopharmaceutical company with a relatively small number of employees, and our management systems currently in place are not likely to be
adequate to support our growth in the future. Our ability to grow and to manage that growth effectively will require us to hire, train, retain, manage, and motivate additional
employees and to implement and improve our operational, financial and management systems. These demands also may require the hiring of additional senior management
personnel or the development of additional expertise by our senior management personnel. Hiring a significant number of additional employees, particularly those at the
management level, would increase our expenses significantly. Moreover, if we fail to expand and enhance our operational, financial and management systems, it could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

 
Our employees, independent contractors, vendors, principal investigators, CROs and consultants may engage in misconduct or other improper activities, including non-
compliance with regulatory standards and requirements and insider trading.
 

We are exposed to the risk that our employees, independent contractors, vendors, principal investigators, CROs and consultants may engage in fraudulent conduct or other
illegal activity. Misconduct by these parties could include intentional, reckless and/or negligent conduct or disclosure of unauthorized activities to us that violate the regulations
of the FDA and comparable foreign regulatory authorities, including those laws requiring the reporting of true, complete and accurate information to such authorities;
healthcare fraud and abuse laws and regulations in the United States and abroad; or laws that require the reporting of financial information or data accurately. In particular,
sales, marketing and business arrangements in the healthcare industry are subject to extensive laws and regulations intended to prevent fraud, misconduct, kickbacks, self-
dealing and other abusive practices. These laws and regulations may restrict or prohibit a wide range of pricing, discounting, marketing and promotion, sales commission,
customer incentive programs and other business arrangements. Activities subject to these laws also involve the improper use of information obtained in the course of clinical
trials or creating fraudulent data in our preclinical studies or clinical trials, which could result in regulatory sanctions and cause serious harm to our reputation. We have adopted
a code of conduct applicable to all of our employees, but it is not always possible to identify and deter misconduct by employees and other third parties, and the precautions we
take to detect and prevent this activity may not be effective in controlling unknown or unmanaged risks or losses or in protecting us from governmental investigations or other
actions or lawsuits stemming from a failure to comply with these laws or regulations. Additionally, we are subject to the risk that a person could allege such fraud or other
misconduct, even if none occurred. If any such actions are instituted against us, and we are not successful in defending ourselves or asserting our rights, those actions ,
including the imposition of civil, criminal and administrative penalties, damages, monetary fines, possible exclusion from participation in Medicare, Medicaid and other federal
healthcare programs, contractual damages, reputational harm, diminished profits and future earnings, and curtailment of our operations, any of which could adversely affect our
ability to operate our business and our results of operations.

 

62 



 

 
We are subject to certain U.S. and foreign anti-corruption, anti-money laundering, export control, sanctions and other trade laws and regulations. We can face serious
consequences for violations.
 

Among other matters, U.S. and foreign anti-corruption, anti-money laundering, export control, sanctions and other trade laws and regulations, or, collectively, Trade Laws,
prohibit companies and their employees, agents, clinical research organizations, legal counsel, accountants, consultants, contractors and other partners from authorizing,
promising, offering, providing, soliciting, or receiving directly or indirectly, corrupt or improper payments or anything else of value to or from recipients in the public or private
sector. Violations of Trade Laws can result in substantial criminal fines and civil penalties, imprisonment, the loss of trade privileges, debarment, tax reassessments, breach of
contract and fraud litigation, reputational harm and other consequences.

 
Our business is heavily regulated and therefore involves significant interaction with public officials. We have direct or indirect interactions with officials and employees of

government agencies or government-affiliated hospitals, universities and other organizations. We also expect our non-U.S. activities to increase in time. Additionally, in many
other countries, the healthcare providers who prescribe pharmaceuticals are employed by their government, and the purchasers of pharmaceuticals are government entities;
therefore, our dealings with these prescribers and purchasers are subject to regulation under the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended (the “FCPA”). We plan
to engage third parties for clinical trials and/or to obtain necessary permits, licenses, patent registrations, and other regulatory approvals and we can be held liable for the
corrupt or other illegal activities of our personnel, agents, or partners, even if we do not explicitly authorize or have prior knowledge of such activities. In particular, our
operations will be subject to FCPA, which prohibits, among other things, U.S. companies and their employees and agents from authorizing, promising, offering, or providing,
directly or indirectly, corrupt or improper payments or anything else of value to foreign government officials, employees of public international organizations and foreign
government-owned or affiliated entities, candidates for foreign political office, and foreign political parties or officials thereof. Recently, the SEC and Department of Justice
have increased their FCPA enforcement activities with respect to biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies. There is no certainty that all of our employees, agents,
suppliers, manufacturers, contractors, or collaborators, or those of our affiliates, will comply with all applicable laws and regulations, particularly given the high level of
complexity of these laws. Violations of these laws and regulations could result in fines, criminal sanctions against us, our officers, or our employees, the closing down of
facilities, including those of our suppliers and manufacturers, requirements to obtain export licenses, cessation of business activities in sanctioned countries, implementation of
compliance programs and prohibitions on the conduct of our business. Any such violations could also result in prohibitions on our ability to offer our products in one or more
countries as well as difficulties in manufacturing or continuing to develop our products, and could materially damage our reputation, our brand, our international expansion
efforts, our ability to attract and retain employees and our business, prospects, operating results and financial condition.

 
If we fail to maintain proper and effective internal control over financial reporting, our ability to produce accurate and timely financial statements could be impaired,
investors may lose confidence in our financial reporting and the trading price of our common stock may decline.
 

Pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as amended (the “Sarbanes-Oxley Act”), our management is required to annually report upon the effectiveness
of our internal control over financial reporting. If we lose our status as a “smaller reporting company” and reach an accelerated filer threshold, our independent registered public
accounting firm will be required to attest to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. The rules governing the standards that must be met for
management to assess our internal control over financial reporting are complex and require significant documentation, testing and possible remediation. As we grow, we expect
to hire additional personnel and may utilize external temporary resources to implement, document and modify policies and procedures to maintain effective internal controls.
However, it is possible that we may identify significant deficiencies and/or material weaknesses in our internal controls. If we or, if required, our auditors are unable to
conclude that our internal control over financial reporting is effective, investors may lose confidence in our financial reporting and the trading price of our common stock may
decline.

 
Although we have determined that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2023, we cannot assure you that there will not be material

weaknesses or significant deficiencies in our internal control over financial reporting in the future. Any failure to maintain internal control over financial reporting could
severely inhibit our ability to accurately report our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows. If we are unable to conclude that our internal control over financial
reporting is effective, or if our independent registered public accounting firm determines we have a material weakness or significant deficiency in our internal control over
financial reporting once that firm begin its Section 404 reviews, investors may lose confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports, the market price of
our common stock could decline, and we could be subject to sanctions or investigations by the SEC or other regulatory authorities. Failure to remedy any material weakness in
our internal control over financial reporting, or to implement or maintain other effective control systems required of public companies, could also restrict our future access to
the capital markets.
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Our disclosure controls and procedures may not prevent or detect all errors or acts of fraud.
 

We are subject to the periodic reporting requirements of the Exchange Act. We designed our disclosure controls and procedures to reasonably assure that information we
must disclose in reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to management, and recorded, processed, summarized and reported within
the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the SEC. We believe that any disclosure controls and procedures or internal controls and procedures, no matter how well-
conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met.

 
These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of simple errors or mistakes.

Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people or by an unauthorized override of the controls.
Accordingly, because of the inherent limitations in our control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.

 
We will continue to incur increased costs as a result of being a public company and our management will be required to devote substantial time to new compliance
initiatives and corporate governance practices.
 

As a public company, we will continue to incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses. We are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, which
will require, among other things, that we file with the SEC, annual, quarterly and current reports with respect to our business and financial condition. In addition, the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act, as well as rules subsequently adopted by the SEC to implement provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, impose significant requirements on public companies,
including requiring establishment and maintenance of effective disclosure and financial controls and changes in corporate governance practices. Further, in July 2010, the
Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (the “Dodd-Frank Act”), was enacted. Stockholder activism, the current political environment and the current
high level of government intervention and regulatory reform may lead to substantial new regulations and disclosure obligations, which may lead to additional compliance costs
and impact the manner in which we operate our business in ways we cannot currently anticipate.

 
We expect the rules and regulations applicable to public companies to substantially increase our legal and financial compliance costs and to make some activities more

time-consuming and costly. If these requirements divert the attention of our management and personnel from other business concerns, they could have an adverse effect on our
business. The increased costs will decrease our net income or increase our net loss and may require us to reduce costs in other areas of our business. For example, we expect
that these rules and regulations may make it more difficult and more expensive for us to obtain director and officer liability insurance and we may be required to accept reduced
coverage or incur substantially higher costs to maintain sufficient coverage. We cannot predict or estimate the amount or timing of additional costs we may incur to respond to
these requirements. The impact of these requirements could also make it more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified persons to serve on our board of directors, our board
committees or as executive officers. Moreover, these rules and regulations are often subject to varying interpretations, in many cases due to their lack of specificity, and, as a
result, their application in practice may evolve over time as new guidance is provided by regulatory and governing bodies. This could result in continuing uncertainty regarding
compliance matters and higher costs necessitated by ongoing revisions to disclosure and governance practices.
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We are a smaller reporting company, and we cannot be certain if the reduced reporting requirements applicable to smaller reporting companies will make our common
stock less attractive to investors.
 

We are a smaller reporting company and for as long as we remain a smaller reporting company, we may take advantage of exemptions from various reporting requirements
that are applicable to other public companies that are not smaller reporting companies, including the ability to present only the two most recent fiscal years of audited financial
statements in our Annual Report on Form 10-K, not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and reduced
disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our registration statements, if applicable, and our periodic reports and proxy statements. We cannot predict if
investors will find our common stock less attractive because we may rely on these exemptions. If some investors find our common stock less attractive as a result, there may be
a less active trading market for our common stock and our stock price may be more volatile.

 
We will remain a “smaller reporting company,” for so long as the market value of our stock held by non-affiliates is less than $700.0 million and our annual revenue is less

than $100.0 million during the most recently completed fiscal year. We may continue to be a “smaller reporting company” until (i) the market value of our stock held by non-
affiliates is less than $250.0 million or (ii) our annual revenue is less than $100.0 million during the most recently completed fiscal year and the market value of our stock held
by non-affiliates is less than $700.0 million as of the prior June 30.

 
Adverse developments affecting the financial services industry, such as actual events or concerns involving liquidity, defaults, or non-performance by financial institutions
or transactional counterparties, could adversely affect the Company’s current and projected business operations and its financial condition and results of operations.
 

Actual events involving limited liquidity, defaults, non-performance or other adverse developments that affect financial institutions, transactional counterparties or other
companies in the financial services industry or the financial services industry generally, or concerns or rumors about any events of these kinds or other similar risks, have in the
past and may in the future lead to market-wide liquidity problems. For example, on March 10, 2023, SVB was closed by the California Department of Financial Protection and
Innovation, which appointed the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (the “FDIC”), as receiver. Similarly, on March 12, 2023, Signature Bank and Silvergate Capital Corp.
were each swept into receivership. Although a statement by the Department of the Treasury, the Federal Reserve and the FDIC indicated that all depositors of SVB would have
access to all of their money after only one business day of closure, including funds held in uninsured deposit accounts, borrowers under credit agreements, letters of credit and
certain other financial instruments with SVB, Signature Bank or any other financial institution that is placed into receivership by the FDIC may be unable to access undrawn
amounts thereunder. In addition, if any of our contract organizations, vendors, suppliers or other parties with whom we conduct business are unable to access funds pursuant to
their own arrangements with such a financial institution, such parties’ ability to perform their obligations could be adversely affected. In this regard, counterparties to credit
agreements and arrangements with distressed financial institutions, and third parties such as beneficiaries of letters of credit (among others), may experience direct impacts and
uncertainty remains over liquidity concerns in the broader financial services industry. Similar impacts have occurred in the past, such as during the 2008-2010 financial crisis.

 
Inflation and rapid increases in interest rates have led to a decline in the trading value of previously issued government securities with interest rates below current market

interest rates. Although the U.S. Department of Treasury, FDIC and Federal Reserve Board have announced a program to provide up to $25 billion of loans to financial
institutions secured by certain of such government securities held by financial institutions to mitigate the risk of potential losses on the sale of such instruments, widespread
demands for customer withdrawals or other liquidity needs of financial institutions for immediately liquidity may exceed the capacity of such program. Additionally, there is no
guarantee that the U.S. Department of Treasury, FDIC and Federal Reserve Board will provide access to uninsured funds in the future in the event of the closure of other banks
or financial institutions, or that they would do so in a timely fashion.

 
Although we assess our banking relationships as we believe necessary or appropriate, our access to funding sources and other credit arrangements in amounts adequate to

finance or capitalize our current and projected future business operations could be significantly impaired by factors that affect our company, the financial institutions with
which we have credit agreements or arrangements directly, or the financial services industry or economy in general. These factors could include, among others, events such as
liquidity constraints or failures, the ability to perform obligations under various types of financial, credit or liquidity agreements or arrangements, disruptions or instability in
the financial services industry or financial markets, or concerns or negative expectations about the prospects for companies in the financial services industry. These factors
could involve financial institutions or financial services industry companies with which we have financial or business relationships, but could also include factors involving
financial markets or the financial services industry generally.
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The results of events or concerns that involve one or more of these factors could include a variety of material and adverse impacts on our current and projected business

operations and our financial condition and results of operations. These could include, but may not be limited to, the following:
 

 ● Delayed access to deposits or other financial assets or the uninsured loss of deposits or other financial assets;
   
 ● Impairment in the ability to enter into new credit facilities or other working capital resources;
   
 ● Potential or actual breach of contractual obligations that require the Company to maintain letters of credit or other credit support arrangements; or
   
 ● Termination of cash management arrangements and/or delays in accessing or actual loss of funds subject to cash management arrangements.
 

In addition, investor concerns regarding the U.S. or international financial systems could result in less favorable commercial financing terms, including higher interest rates
or costs and tighter financial and operating covenants, or systemic limitations on access to credit and liquidity sources, thereby making it more difficult for us to acquire
financing on acceptable terms or at all. Any decline in available funding or access to our cash and liquidity resources could, among other risks, adversely impact our ability to
meet our operating expenses, financial obligations or fulfill our other obligations, result in breaches of our financial and/or contractual obligations or result in violations of
federal or state wage and hour laws. Any of these impacts, or any other impacts resulting from the factors described above or other related or similar factors not described
above, could have material adverse impacts on our liquidity and our current and/or projected business operations and financial condition and results of operations.

 
In addition, any further deterioration in the macroeconomic economy or financial services industry could lead to losses or defaults by our contract organizations, vendors,

suppliers or other parties with whom we conduct business, which in turn, could have a material adverse effect on our current and/or projected business operations and results of
operations and financial condition. For example, contract organizations, vendors, suppliers or other parties with whom we conduct business could be adversely affected by any
of the liquidity or other risks that are described above as factors that could result in material adverse impacts on our company, including but not limited to delayed access or loss
of access to uninsured deposits or loss of the ability to draw on existing credit facilities involving a troubled or failed financial institution. Any bankruptcy or insolvency
involving our contract organizations, vendors, suppliers or other parties with whom we conduct business, or any breach or default by such parties, or the loss of any significant
relationships with such parties, could result in a material adverse impact on our business.

 
Our business, results of operations and future growth prospects could be materially and adversely affected by the COVID-19 pandemic or the future outbreak of other
highly infectious or contagious diseases.
 

Our business could be adversely affected by health epidemics in regions where we have concentrations of clinical trial sites or other business activities and could cause
significant disruption in the operations of third-parties on which we rely. We cannot precisely determine or quantify the impact the COVID-19 pandemic, or the future outbreak
of any other highly infectious our contagious diseases, will have on our business operations in the future, which will depend on a variety of factors and future developments,
which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted with confidence, including the ultimate geographic spread of the disease, the duration, scope and severity of the pandemic,
the duration and extent of travel restrictions and social distancing in the United States and other countries, business closures or business disruptions and the effectiveness of
actions taken in the United States and other countries to contain and the pandemic.
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Rising inflation rates could negatively impact our expenses.
 

Inflation rates, particularly in the United States, have increased recently to levels not seen in years. Increased inflation may result in increased operating costs (including
our labor costs), reduced liquidity, and limitations on our ability to access credit or otherwise raise debt and equity capital. In addition, the United States Federal Reserve has
raised, and may again raise, interest rates in response to concerns about inflation. Increases in interest rates, especially if coupled with reduced government spending and
volatility in financial markets, may have the effect of further increasing economic uncertainty and heightening these risks.

 
We depend on sophisticated information technology systems and data processing to operate our business. If we experience security or data privacy breaches or other
unauthorized or improper access to, use of, or destruction of our proprietary or confidential data, employee data or personal data, we may face costs, significant liabilities,
harm to our brand and business disruption.
 

We rely on information technology systems and data processing that we or our service providers, collaborators, consultants, contractors or partners operate to collect,
process, transmit and store electronic information in our day-to-day operations, including a variety of personal data, such as name, mailing address, email addresses, phone
number and potentially clinical trial information. Additionally, we, and our service providers, collaborators, consultants, contractors or partners, do or will collect, receive,
store, process, generate, use, transfer, disclose, make accessible, protect and share personal information, health information and other information to host or otherwise process
some of our anticipated future clinical data and that of users, develop our products, to operate our business, for clinical trial purposes, for legal and marketing purposes, and for
other business-related purposes. Our internal computer systems and data processing and those of our third-party vendors, consultants, collaborators, contractors or partners,
including future CROs may be vulnerable to a cyber-attack (including supply chain cyber-attacks), malicious intrusion, breakdown, destruction, loss of data privacy, actions or
inactions by our employees or contractors that expose security vulnerabilities, theft or destruction of intellectual property or other confidential or proprietary information,
business interruption or other significant security incidents. As the cyber-threat landscape evolves, these attacks are growing in frequency, level of persistence, sophistication
and intensity, and are becoming increasingly difficult to detect. In addition to traditional computer “hackers,” threat actors, software bugs, malicious code (such as viruses and
worms), employee theft or misuse, denial-of-service attacks (such as credential stuffing), phishing and ransomware attacks, sophisticated nation-state and nation-state supported
actors now engage in attacks (including advanced persistent threat intrusions). These risks may be increased as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, owing to an increase in
personnel working remotely and higher reliance on internet technology. Furthermore, because the techniques used to obtain unauthorized access to, or to sabotage, systems
change frequently and often are not recognized until launched against a target, we may be unable to anticipate these techniques or implement adequate preventative measures.
We may also experience security breaches that may remain undetected for an extended period.

 
There can be no assurance that we, our service providers, collaborators, consultants, contractors or partners will be successful in efforts to detect, prevent or fully recover

systems or data from all breakdowns, service interruptions, attacks or breaches of systems that could adversely affect our business and operations and/or result in the loss of
critical or sensitive data. Any failure by us or our service providers, collaborators, consultants, contractors or partners to detect, prevent, respond to or mitigate security breaches
or improper access to, use of, or inappropriate disclosure of any of this information or other confidential or sensitive information, including patients’ personal data, or the
perception that any such failure has occurred, could result in claims, litigation, regulatory investigations and other proceedings, significant liability under state, federal and
international law, and other financial, legal or reputational harm to us. Further, such failures or perceived failures could result in liability and a material disruption of our
development programs and our business operations, which could lead to significant delays or setbacks in our research, delays to commercialization of our product candidates,
lost revenues or other adverse consequences, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition, prospects and
cashflow. For example, the loss or alteration of clinical trial data from future clinical trials could result in delays in our regulatory approval efforts and significantly increase our
costs to recover or reproduce the data.

 
Additionally, applicable laws and regulations relating to privacy, data protection or cybersecurity, external contractual commitments and internal privacy and security

policies may require us to notify relevant stakeholders if there has been a security breach, including affected individuals, business partners and regulators. Such disclosures are
costly, and the disclosures or any actual or alleged failure to comply with such requirements could lead to a materially adverse impact on the business, including negative
publicity, a loss of confidence in our services or security measures by our business partners or breach of contract claims. There can be no assurance that the limitations of
liability in our contracts would be enforceable or adequate or would otherwise protect us from liabilities or damages if we fail to comply with applicable data protection laws,
privacy policies or other data protection obligations related to information security or security breaches.
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The recent furloughing of certain Cortigent employees may adversely impact its ability to achieve its business objectives and result in the incurrence of additional expenses
by us or Cortigent.
 

While Cortigent continues to pursue its efforts towards its initial public offering, in October 2023, certain of its employees have been furloughed as an expense reduction
measure. This action, as well as other measures that may be taken in the future, may adversely affect the operations of Cortigent, including its ability to conduct its initial public
offering, particularly since some of our furloughed employees decided to seek employment elsewhere. In addition, certain such employees have asserted and others in the future
may assert their entitlement to payments or other benefits in connection with their furlough or, if applicable, termination, which may cause the Company or Cortigent to incur
additional expenses if the Company determines to, or is required to, satisfy such asserted entitlements. We or Cortigent may also lose the services of these employees even if the
furlough were ended, if they determine not to remain with us or Cortigent in the long term. As a result, there can be no assurance that Cortigent can complete its initial public
offering on favorable terms, in a timely manner or at all. In addition, certain such employees have asserted and others in the future may assert their entitlement to payments or
other benefits in connection with their furlough or, if applicable, termination, which may cause us or Cortigent to incur additional expenses if we determine to, or are required
to, satisfy such asserted entitlements.

 
The proposed initial public offering of Cortigent may not be completed on the currently contemplated timeline, or at all, may cause us to incur more expenses than
anticipated and may not achieve the intended benefits.
 

The proposed initial public offering of common stock of Cortigent is subject to the effectiveness of the registration statement filed by Cortigent with the SEC. There can be
no assurance as to when the initial public offering of Cortigent will occur or be completed. We expect the process of completing the proposed initial public offering of Cortigent
will be time-consuming and involve significant costs and expenses, which may be significantly higher than what we currently anticipate, may increase in the event that the
timing of the initial public offering of Cortigent is delayed and may not yield intended benefits. Completing the proposed initial public offering of Cortigent, as well as
performing our obligations under the Transition, Funding, Support and Services Agreement with Cortigent (including any amendment thereto) will require significant time and
attention from our management and employees, which could adversely affect our business, financial results and results of operations. Moreover, we may not realize some or all
of the anticipated strategic, financial, operational, marketing or other benefits from of the initial public offering of Cortigent, which could materially and adversely affect our
business, financial condition and results of operations and lead to increased volatility in the price of our common share.

 
The impact of the Russian invasion of Ukraine and the Israel-Hamas war on the global economy, energy supplies and raw materials is uncertain, but may prove to
negatively impact our business and operations.
 

The short and long-term implications of Russia’s invasion of Ukraine and the Israel-Hamas war are difficult to predict at this time. We continue to monitor any adverse
impact that the outbreak of war in Ukraine, the subsequent institution of sanctions against Russia by the United States and several European and Asian countries, and the Israel-
Hamas war may have on the global economy in general, on our business and operations and on the businesses and operations of our suppliers and other third parties with which
we conduct business. For example, a prolonged conflict in Ukraine or Israel may result in increased inflation, escalating energy prices and constrained availability, and thus
increasing costs, of raw materials. To the extent the wars in Ukraine or Israel may adversely affect our business as discussed above, it may also have the effect of heightening
many of the other risks described herein. Such risks include, but are not limited to, adverse effects on macroeconomic conditions, including inflation; disruptions to our global
technology infrastructure, including through cyberattack, ransom attack, or cyber-intrusion; adverse changes in international trade policies and relations; disruptions in global
supply chains; and constraints, volatility, or disruption in the capital markets, any of which could negatively affect our business and financial condition.

 

68 



 

 
Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
 

Not applicable.
 

Item 1C. Cybersecurity.
 
Cybersecurity Risk Management and Strategy
 

We rely on information technology systems and data processing that we or our service providers, collaborators, consultants, contractors or partners operate to collect,
process, transmit and store electronic information in our day-to-day operations. Our internal computer systems and data processing and those of our third-party vendors,
consultants, collaborators, contractors or partners, including future CROs, may be vulnerable to risks from cybersecurity threats. To help manage these risks, we engage and
rely on external experts, including an information technology managed services provider. We are also in the process of developing additional cybersecurity policies and
procedures, as we continually work to enhance and evolve our program in light of the constantly evolving threat landscape.

 
Our managed services provider assists us with our technology, infrastructure and risk management through the deployment of a number of security controls and tools,

including, but not limited to, endpoint protection tools, phishing protection and access controls. We also take steps to limit third-party vendors’ access to our systems, and we
are in the process of developing additional vendor risk management procedures.

 
We have not identified any cybersecurity incidents or threats that have materially affected us or are reasonably likely to materially affect us, including our business strategy,

results of operations, or financial condition; however, like other companies in our industry, we and our third-party vendors may, from time to time, experience threats and
security incidents that could affect our information or systems. For more information, please see the section entitled “Risk Factors.”

 
Governance Related to Cybersecurity Risks
 

We engage a managed services provider, which includes virtual chief information officer (vCIO) services, to assist us with the identification, monitoring and management
of risks from cybersecurity threats. Our managed services provider reports on our cybersecurity posture periodically to our management team and audit committee. We have
also formed an IT Steering Committee, whose members include cross functional representatives from our management team as well as our managed services provider, to
review our cybersecurity program initiatives and related program metrics. The Committee is also charged with identifying and implementing improvements that strengthen our
risk mitigation systems.

 
The Audit Committee of our Board of Directors oversees our policies and procedures with respect to risk management, including our management of risks from

cybersecurity threats. The Audit Committee administers this cybersecurity risk oversight function through the receipt and review of reports from the management team and the
vCIO on the Company’s information technology systems and the status of the cybersecurity risk management tools.

 
Item 2. Properties
 

Our principal offices and facilities are located at 1350 South Loop Road, Alameda, CA 94502 and 27200 Tourney Road, Suite 315, Valencia, CA 91355.
 

Item 3. Legal Proceedings
 

Three oppositions filed by Pixium Vision are pending in the European Patent Office, each challenging the validity of a European patent owned by Cortigent. The outcomes
of the challenges are not certain, however, if successful, they may affect our ability to block competitors from utilizing Cortigent’s neuromodulation patented technology. We
believe a successful challenge will not have a material effect on our ability to manufacture and sell our products, or otherwise have a material effect on Cortigent’s
neuromodulation operations.
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As described in the Company’s 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company had entered into a Memorandum of Understanding (“MOU”) for a proposed

business combination with Pixium Vision SA (“Pixium”). In response to a press release by Pixium dated March 24, 2021, and subsequent communications between us and
Pixium, our Board of Directors determined that the business combination with Pixium was not in the best interest of our shareholders. On April 1, 2021, we gave notice to
Pixium that we were terminating the MOU between the parties and seeking an amicable resolution of termination amounts that may be due, however no assurance can be given
that an amicable resolution will be reached. We accrued $1,000,000 of liquidated damages as contemplated by the MOU in accounts payable as of March 31, 2021 and remitted
that amount to Pixium in April 2021. Pixium indicated that it considered this termination wrongful, rejected the Company’s offers, but retained the $1,000,000 payment. On
May 19, 2021, Pixium filed suit in the Paris Commercial Court, and currently claim damages of approximately €5.1 million or about $5.6 million. We believe we have fulfilled
our obligations to Pixium with the liquidated damages payment of $1,000,000. On December 8, 2022, the Company received notice that the Paris Commercial Court has
rendered its judgement, including finding that the Company’s termination of the MOU was not valid. In the judgment, the Company was ordered to pay to Pixium the amount
of €2,500,000 minus a €947,780 credit for the $1,000,000 already paid for, a net amount payable of approximately €1,552,220. On May 24, 2023, the Company filed an appeal
against the judgment from the Paris Commercial Court except in so far as such prior judgment dismissed (i) Pixium’s claim for the Company to pay it a sum of €480,693
relating to the alleged time spent by its teams, (ii) Pixium’s application to order the Company to pay it a sum of €1,500,000 in respect to alleged loss of opportunity and (iii)
deducted the sum of $1,000,000 that we already paid Pixium and which Pixium retained. Thereafter Pixium filed its brief with Paris Court of Appeal and filed a cross-appeal on
January 18, 2024. Meanwhile, the Company received notice that the Paris Commercial Court in its judgment dated January 31, 2024 converted Pixium’s receivership
proceedings to liquidation proceedings and that Pixium’s liquidator is due to intervene in the pending proceedings before the Paris Court of Appeal. The Company recorded a
charge of $1,675,000 for the year ended December 31, 2022 related to this matter but plans to continue its appeal against the preliminary judgment.

 
We are party to litigation arising in the ordinary course of business. It is our opinion that the outcome of such matters will not have a material effect on our financial

statements, however the results of litigation and claims are inherently unpredictable. Regardless of outcome, litigation can have an adverse impact on us because of defense and
settlement costs, diversion of management resources and other factors.

 
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
 

Not applicable.
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PART II

 
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Shareholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
 
Market Information
 
Vivani’s common stock par value $0.0001 per share, is traded on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol “VANI.”
 
Holders
 
On March 22, 2024 there were approximately 110 shareholders of record.
 
Dividends
 
We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our common stock and do not anticipate paying any dividends in the foreseeable future.
 
Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans
 
The information required by Item 5 of Form 10-K regarding equity compensation plans is incorporated herein by reference to Item 12 of Part III of this Annual Report.
 
Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
 
None.
 
Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers
 
None.
 
Item 6. Reserved
 
Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
 

The following discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these
forward-looking statements as a result of many factors. The consolidated results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 are not necessarily indicative of
the results that may be expected for any future period. The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto
included in Part IV, Item 15 of this Form 10-K and in conjunction with the “Risk Factors” included in Part I, Item 1A of this Form 10-K.

 
Business Overview
 

Vivani Medical, Inc. (“Vivani,” the “Company,” “we,” “us,” “our” or similar terms) is a preclinical stage biopharmaceutical company which develops miniaturized,
subdermal implants utilizing its proprietary NanoPortal™ technology to enable long-term, near constant-rate delivery of a broad range of medicines to treat chronic diseases.
Vivani uses this platform technology to develop and potentially commercialize drug implant candidates, alone or in collaboration with pharmaceutical company partners to
address a leading cause of poor clinical outcomes in the treatment of chronic disease, medication non-adherence. For example, approximately 50% of patients treated for type 2
diabetes are non-adherent to their medicines, which can lead to poor clinical outcomes. We are developing a portfolio of miniature, sub-dermal drug implant candidates that,
unlike most oral and injectable medicines, are designed with the goal of guaranteeing adherence by delivering therapeutic drug levels for up to 6 months or longer. In addition,
our aim is to minimize fluctuations in patients’ drug levels through the use of our NanoPortal technology, which may improve the tolerability profiles for medicines that
produce side effects associated with fluctuating drug levels in the blood.
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Vivani resulted from the business combination of Second Sight Medical Products, Inc. (“Second Sight”) and Nano Precision Medical, Inc. (“NPM”). Vivani’s main priority

is the further development of the company’s lead programs NPM-115 and NPM-119, which are miniature, 6-month, GLP-1 implant candidates for the treatment of chronic
weight management and patients with type 2 diabetes, respectively. In parallel, Vivani’s management team remained committed to identifying and exploring strategic options
for the Neuromodulation Division (formerly Second Sight) that will enable further development of its pioneering neurostimulation systems from legacy company Second Sight
aimed at helping patients recover critical body functions.

 
Moving forward, Vivani’s focus will be on the further development of NPM-115, NPM-119, and its emerging pipeline of innovative miniature, long-term drug implants to

treat patients with chronic diseases and high unmet medical need. The origins of this business started while its current Vivani CEO and NPM co-founder Adam Mendelsohn and
two of his graduate school colleagues, Kathleen Fischer and Lily Peng, at the University of California, San Francisco (“UCSF”) and the University of California, Berkeley
(“UCB”), entered business school competitions leveraging their growing knowledge of chemistry, drug delivery, and nanoscale technology to propose the development of new
miniature, biocompatible, drug implant prototypes capable of releasing therapeutic drug levels over an extended period of time. Based on their success and encouragement from
professors and others, including medical device/pharmaceutical icon Alfred E. Mann, Dr. Mendelsohn and colleagues started NPM in 2009 and operations began in 2011 in an
incubator on the UCB campus. Today, the Company has grown to 37 full-time employees and its current headquarters and operations are located at 1350 South Loop Road,
Alameda, California.

 
Vivani’s implant technology, which we refer to as NanoPortal, utilizes a space-efficient design that allows a miniaturized implant to provide many months of therapeutic

delivery of potent molecules. The technology has no moving parts, which is intended to minimize fluctuating drug delivery over the duration of the implant and is also tunable.
Vivani has primarily been developing implant candidates around peptide therapeutics, but the technology has potential application across a wide range of molecular types. The
key innovative component of the technology is a biocompatible titanium-oxide nano-porous membrane which consists of millions of precisely sized nanotubes whose inner
diameters represent the only path for drug molecules to exit the reservoir once the implant is fully assembled.

 
In February 2022, we announced the signing of a definitive merger agreement between NPM and Second Sight, pursuant to which NPM became a wholly-owned

subsidiary of Second Sight. On August 30, 2022, the two companies completed the merger, concurrent with which Second Sight changed its name to Vivani Medical, Inc. and
now conducts the present business of the Company. In September 2022, we announced the formation of the Company’s Biopharm Division to advance the assets of the former
NPM which includes the further development of the Company’s lead programs, NPM-115 and NPM-119, a miniature, 6-month, GLP-1 implant candidates for the treatment of
chronic weight management and patients with type 2 diabetes, respectively. Vivani’s management team remains committed to identifying and exploring strategic options for the
Neuromodulation Division (formerly Second Sight) that will enable further development of its pioneering neurostimulation systems from Second Sight to help patients recover
critical body functions. On December 28, 2022, the assets and liabilities of this segment were contributed to Cortigent, Inc. a newly formed wholly owned subsidiary of Vivani,
in exchange for 20,000,000 shares of common stock of Cortigent. As of December 31, 2023, after giving effect to a 1-for-4 reverse stock split that we implemented, Cortigent
had 5,000,000 shares of common stock outstanding, all owned by Vivani.

 
In March 2023, Vivani announced the filing of a Registration Statement on Form S-1 with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) for the proposed initial

public offering of Cortigent. Cortigent, currently a wholly-owned subsidiary of Vivani, was formed for the purpose of advancing the Company’s pioneering neurostimulation
technology. The Registration Statement on Form S-1 was recently amended and filed with the SEC in February 2024 to refresh the financial information and provide minor
updates to the business.

 
On July 6, 2023, Vivani changed its state of incorporation from the State of California to the State of Delaware by means of a plan of conversion, effective July 5, 2023.

The reincorporation, including the principal terms of the plan of conversion, was submitted to a vote of, and approved by, Vivani’s stockholders at its 2023 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders held on June 15, 2023. As part of this change of incorporation the Company established a par value of $0.0001 per share and all periods have been retroactively
adjusted to reflect this change.

  
An Investigational New Drug Application (“IND”) for NPM-119 (GLP-1 implant) was filed with the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) on July 14, 2023, to

support the initiation of the first-in-human study of NPM-119 in patients with type 2 diabetes, also named LIBERATE-1™. On August 18, 2023, FDA provided written
notification that the LIBERATE-1 study was on full clinical hold, primarily due to insufficient Chemistry, Manufacturing, and Controls (“CMC”) information to assess the risk
to human subjects. Vivani remains actively engaged in discussions with FDA as part of its efforts to lift the clinical hold and plans to submit a Complete Response to the FDA
during the first half of 2024.

 
On August 25, 2023, Vivani and Cortigent entered into an Amendment No. 1 (the “Amendment”) to the Transition Funding, Support and Services Agreement dated March

19, 2023 (the “TFSSA”). Pursuant to the TFSSA, Vivani has agreed to advance funds and provide or cause to be provided to Cortigent the services and funding intended to
cover salaries and related costs, rent and other overhead in order to permit Cortigent to operate in substantially the same manner in which business operations of Cortigent were
previously operated by Second Sight, prior to the formation of Cortigent, which obligations will continue, in the case of the funding obligations, until the earlier of December
31, 2024 or the closing of an initial public offering of Cortigent (the “Funding Support Term”). Under the Amendment, Cortigent has agreed to repay $1,500,000 to Vivani at
the conclusion of the Funding Support Term. In addition, at the conclusion of the Funding Support Term, Cortigent will enter into a five-year promissory note at 5% interest for
$2,000,000 in favor of Vivani. Consequently, Vivani will forgive any remaining amounts due by Cortigent to it under the TFSSA. In October 2023, Vivani implemented a
reduction-in-force to conserve cash that decreased Cortigent’s employees from 14 to 7 while continuing the ongoing Orion® clinical study and basic operations.

 
In the fourth quarter of 2023, Vivani Medical Australia Pty Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary in Australia was established to support studies of our products and product

candidates.
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In February 2024, Vivani announced positive NPM-115 preclinical weight loss data comparable to semaglutide, the active ingredient in Ozempic®/Wegovy®, and

disclosed NPM-139 as a semaglutide implant as our strategy shifted to prioritize our obesity portfolio. In a study in high-fat diet-induced obese mice, NPM-115 generated
weight loss of approximately 20% compared to a sham implant control after a 28-day treatment duration, comparable to weight loss observed in mice treated with semaglutide
injections (Ozempic®/Wegovy®) in the same study. The Company also disclosed that semaglutide is the active pharmaceutical ingredient in NPM-139, a miniature, subdermal
GLP-1 implant in development for chronic weight management, with the added potential benefit of once-yearly administration.

 
On March 1, 2024, the Company announced that it had entered into a securities purchase agreement with an institutional investor to purchase 3,947,368 shares of common

stock and warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 3,947,368 shares of common stock at a purchase price of $3.80 per share and accompanying warrant in a registered direct
offering. The warrants have an exercise price of $3.80 per share, are exercisable immediately upon issuance, and will expire three years following the date of issuance.

  
On March 6, 2024, the Company announced the appointment of Daniel Bradbury to its Board of Directors. Under Bradbury’s leadership as CEO, Amylin Pharmaceuticals,

with partner Alkermes, secured the 2012 approval of Bydureon® (exenatide injection), the world’s first GLP-1 receptor agonist, a class of drugs that now includes blockbusters
Ozempic®, Trulicity® and Wegovy®. 

 
Funding and Liquidity
 

Capital Funding
 
From inception, our operations have been funded primarily through the sales of our common stock and warrants.
 
Non-Capital Funding
 
We were awarded a $1.6 million grant (with the intent to fund $6.4 million over five years subject to annual review and approval) from the National Institutes of Health

(the “NIH”) to fund the “Early Feasibility Clinical Trial of a Visual Cortical Prosthesis” that commenced in January 2018. The final year of the grant ends in March 2024.
 
Liquidity
 
We have experienced recurring operating losses and negative operating cash flows since inception and have financed our working capital requirements through the

recurring sale of our equity securities. Our financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates the realization of assets and the satisfaction of
liabilities in the normal course of business.

 
On March 1, 2024, the Company entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement with an institutional investor relating to the issuance of 3,947,368 shares of the Company’s

common stock, par value of $0.0001 per share and warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 3,947,368 shares of Common Stock (the “Warrant”), to such investor at a
purchase price of $3.80 per share and accompanying warrant in a registered direct offering (the “Offering”). The Warrant has an exercise price of $3.80 per share, is exercisable
immediately upon issuance and will expire three years following the date of issuance. The Company also entered into a Placement Agency Agreement with Maxim Group LLC,
who acted as the sole placement agent for the Offering. The gross proceeds of approximately $15.0 million from the Offering, before paying the placement agent fees and other
estimated offering expenses, was received on March 5, 2024. For additional information, refer to Note 13. Subsequent Event of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

 
We estimate that currently available cash will provide sufficient funds to enable the Company to meet its planned obligations into the second half of 2025. Our ability to

continue as a going concern is dependent on our ability to develop profitable operations through implementation of our business initiatives and/or raise additional capital,
however, there can be no assurances that we will be able to do so.
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Recently Adopted Accounting Standards
 

We believe that recently issued, but not yet effective, authoritative guidance, if currently adopted, would not have a material impact on our financial statement presentation
or disclosures.

 
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
 

The following discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations is based upon our consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Certain accounting policies and estimates are particularly important to the
understanding of our financial position and results of operations and require the application of significant judgment by our management or can be materially affected by
changes from period to period in economic factors or conditions that are outside of our control. As a result, they are subject to an inherent degree of uncertainty. In applying
these policies, our management uses their judgment to determine the appropriate assumptions to be used in the determination of certain estimates. Those estimates are based on
our historical operations, our future business plans and projected financial results, the terms of existing contracts, our observance of trends in the industry, information provided
by our customers and information available from other outside sources, as appropriate. See Note 2 of notes to our consolidated financial statements for a more complete
description of our significant accounting policies.

 
Stock-Based Compensation. Pursuant to Financial Accounting Standards Board ASC 718, Share-Based Payment (“ASC 718”), we record stock-based compensation

expense for all stock-based awards. Under ASC 718, we estimate the fair value of stock options granted using option pricing models. The fair value for awards that are expected
to vest is then amortized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period of the award, which is generally the option vesting term. The Company accounts for forfeitures
as they occur.

 
 ● The grant price of the issuances is determined based on the fair value of the shares at the date of grant.
   
 ● The risk free interest rate for periods within the contractual life of the option is based on the U.S. treasury yield in effect at the time of grant.
   
 ● We calculate the expected term of options using a weighted average of option vesting periods and an estimate of one-half of the period between vesting and expiration

of the option.
   
 ● Volatility is determined based on our average historical volatilities since our trading history, supplemented with average historical volatilities of comparable companies

in our similar industry.
   
 ● Expected dividend yield is based on current yield at the grant date or the average dividend yield over the historical period. We have never declared or paid dividends

and have no plans to do so in the foreseeable future.
 

For stock options or restricted stock units with market vesting conditions, the awards were valued using the Monte-Carlo Simulation model.
 
Results of Operations
 

Operating Expenses. We recognize our operating expenses as incurred in two general operational categories: research and development and general and administrative. Our
operating expenses also include a non-cash component related to the amortization of stock-based compensation for research and development and general and administrative
personnel. From time-to-time we have received grants from institutions or agencies, such as the National Institutes of Health, to help fund some of the cost of our development
efforts. We have recorded these grants as reductions to operating expenses.

 
 ● Research and development expenses consist primarily of employee compensation and consulting costs related to the design, development, and enhancements of our

current and potential future products, as well as internal and external costs associated with conducting clinical trials and maintaining relationships with regulatory
agencies, as well as facilities costs, which include expenses for rent, maintenance of facilities and depreciation of equipment, offset by grant revenue received in
support of specific research projects. We expense our research and development costs as they are incurred. We expect research and development expenses to increase
in the future as we pursue further enhancements of our existing product and develop technology for our potential future products. We also expect to receive additional
grants in the future that will primarily offset research and development costs.
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 ● General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries and related expenses for executive, legal, finance, human resources, information technology and

administrative personnel, as well as recruiting and professional fees, patent filing and annuity costs, insurance costs and other general corporate expenses, including
rent and other facility related costs. We expect general and administrative expenses to increase as we add personnel and incur additional costs related to the growth of
our business and operate as a public company.

 
Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022
 

Research and development expense. Research and development expense during the year ended December 31, 2023 was $17.0 million, compared to $14.2 million during
the year ended December 31, 2022. The increase of $2.8 million, or 20%, was primarily attributable to increased payroll and personnel-related costs, increased rent due to the
lease agreement in Alameda, California and related facilities expense and the inclusion of the neuromodulation division of our acquired company, Second Sight, since the
merger acquisition date of August 30, 2022, partially offset by a decrease in drug implants development costs.

 
General and administrative expense. General and administrative expense during the year ended December 31, 2023 was $10.0 million, compared to $7.1 million during the

year ended December 31, 2022. The increase of $2.9 million, or 41%, was primarily attributable to increased payroll and personnel-related expenses, increased rent and related
facilities expense due to the lease agreement in Alameda, California, insurance costs, professional service expense, and the inclusion of the neuromodulation division of our
acquired company, Second Sight, since the merger acquisition date of August 30, 2022, partially offset by a provision for a legal claim of $1.7 million recorded in 2022.

 
Other income (expense), net. Other income (expense), net during the year ended December 31, 2023 was $1.3 million, compared to $7.4 million during the year ended

December 31, 2022. Other income consisted of interest income of $1.5 million during the year ended December 31, 2023. Other income during the year ended December 31,
2022 included $6.9 million related to the gain on bargain purchase from the acquisition of Second Sight.

 
Net loss. The net loss during the year ended December 31, 2023 was $25.7 million, compared to $13.9 million during the year ended December 31, 2022. The increase in

net loss of $11.8 million was primarily attributable to an increase in operating expenses of $5.7 million and the prior year gain on the bargain purchase from the acquisition of
Second Sight of $6.9 million, partially offset by increased interest income due to higher average investments and rate increases on cash investments.

 
Liquidity and Capital Resources
 

We have experienced recurring operating losses and negative operating cash flows since inception and have financed our working capital requirements through the
recurring sale of our equity securities. Our financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates the realization of assets and the satisfaction of
liabilities in the normal course of business.

 
On March 1, 2024, the Company entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement with an institutional investor relating to the issuance of 3,947,368 shares of the Company’s

common stock, par value of $0.0001 per share and warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 3,947,368 shares of Common Stock (the “Warrant”), to such investor at a
purchase price of $3.80 per share and accompanying warrant in a registered direct offering (the “Offering”). The Warrant has an exercise price of $3.80 per share, is exercisable
immediately upon issuance and will expire three years following the date of issuance. The Company also entered into a Placement Agency Agreement with Maxim Group LLC,
who acted as the sole placement agent for the Offering. The gross proceeds of approximately $15.0 million from the Offering, before paying the placement agent fees and other
estimated offering expenses, was received on March 5, 2024. For additional information, refer to Note 13. Subsequent Event of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

 
We estimate that currently available cash will provide sufficient funds to enable the Company to meet its planned obligations into the second half of 2025. Our ability to

continue as a going concern is dependent on our ability to develop profitable operations through implementation of our business initiatives and/or raise additional capital,
however, there can be no assurances that we will be able to do so.

 
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash decreased by $24.5 million from $46.4 million as of December 31, 2022 to $22.0 million as of December 31, 2023. Working

capital was $17.3 million as of December 31, 2023, as compared to $40.7 million as of December 31, 2022.
 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
 

During 2023, we used $23.7 million of cash in operating activities, consisting primarily of a net loss of $25.7 million and $1.3 million used from a net change in operating
assets and liabilities, partially offset by non-cash items totaling $3.2 million for depreciation and amortization of property and equipment, stock-based compensation, loss on
disposal of fixed assets and lease expense.
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During 2022, we used $18.8 million of cash in operating activities, consisting primarily of a net loss of $13.9 million, offset by $0.4 million from a net change in operating

assets and liabilities and non-cash items including $5.3 million for gain on bargain purchase, depreciation and amortization of property and equipment and stock-based
compensation.

 
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
 

Net cash used in investing activities during 2023 and 2022 was $0.9 million and $0.3 million, respectively, for the purchase of equipment.
 

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
 

In 2023, financing activities provided $0.1 million of cash primarily from stock option exercises.
 
In 2022, financing activities provided $63.4 million of cash, including $55.4 million from cash acquired in merger for stock consideration and $8.0 million proceeds from

SAFE note.
 

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
 

At December 31, 2023, we did not have any transactions, obligations or relationships that could be considered off-balance sheet arrangements.
 

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk
 
Interest Rate Sensitivity
 

The primary objective of our investment activities is to maintain the safety of principal and preserve liquidity without incurring significant risk. We invest cash in excess of
our current needs in money market funds. In general, money market funds are not considered to be subject to interest rate risk because the interest paid on such funds fluctuates
with the prevailing interest rate. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, our cash equivalents consisted solely of money market funds deposited at Merrill Lynch and restricted cash
as collateral for our lease.

 
Exchange Rate Sensitivity
 

In 2023 and 2022, the majority of our operating expenses were denominated in U.S. dollars. We have not entered into foreign currency forward contracts to hedge our
operating expense exposure to foreign currencies, but we may do so in the future.

 
Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
 

Our financial statements and supplementary data required by this Item are provided in the consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-K as listed in Item
15(a) of this Form 10-K.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
 

None.
 

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
 
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
 

Disclosure controls and procedures are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in reports filed or submitted under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls
and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in reports filed or submitted under the
Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, or persons performing similar
functions, as appropriate to allow for timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Due to inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or
detect misstatements. Further, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or that degree of compliance with the policies and procedures may deteriorate. Accordingly, even effective disclosure controls and procedures can only provide
reasonable assurance of achieving their control objectives.

 
As of December 31, 2023, management has concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective based upon testing of our key internal controls. Our

management, including our CEO and CFO, has concluded that the consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-K fairly present, in all material respects, our
financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the periods presented in this Form 10-K in conformity with GAAP.

 
This Form 10-K does not include an attestation report from our independent registered public accounting firm regarding internal control over financial reporting.

Management’s report was not subject to attestation by our independent registered public accounting firm pursuant to our non-accelerated filer status.
 

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
 

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the
Exchange Act. Our internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Our internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and
procedures that:

 
1.          Pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our assets;
 
2.          Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP, and that

our receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with the authorization of our management and directors; and
 
3.          Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of our assets that could have a

material effect on the financial statements.
 

As of December 31, 2023, based on the criteria established in “Internal Control — Integrated Framework” (2013 Framework) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission, management has completed written documentation of its internal control policies, procedures and controls and has completed its
testing of its key controls. Based upon the results of this testing we have concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of the end of the period
covered by this Form 10-K.
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Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
 

There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during or subsequent to our fourth quarter of the year ended December 31, 2023 that
has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

 
Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls
 

The design of any system of control is based upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events. There can be no assurance that any design will succeed in
achieving its stated objectives under all future events, no matter how remote, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may not deteriorate. Because of
its inherent limitations, disclosure controls and procedures may not prevent or detect all misstatements. Accordingly, even effective disclosure controls and procedures can
provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their control objectives. In addition, the design of disclosure controls and procedures must reflect the fact that there are resource
and that management is required to apply its judgment in evaluating the benefits of possible controls and procedures relative to their costs. Also, projections of any evaluation
of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with policies
and procedures may deteriorate.

 
Item 9B. Other Information
 

No Rule 10b5-1 plans or non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangements were adopted, modified, or terminated by officers or directors of the Company, nor were there any material
changes to the procedures by which security holders may recommend nominees to the Company’s board of directors, during the quarter ended December 31, 2023.

 
Item 9C. Disclosure regarding foreign jurisdictions that prevent inspections
 

Not Applicable.
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PART III

 
Certain information required by Part III is omitted from this Annual Report on Form 10-K and is incorporated by reference from our definitive proxy statement relating to

our 2024 annual meeting of stockholders, pursuant to Regulation 14A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, also referred to in this Annual Report on Form 10-K
as our 2024 Proxy Statement, which we will file with the SEC not later than 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

 
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
 

Information regarding our directors, including the audit committee and audit committee financial experts, and executive officers, and compliance with Section 16(a) of the
Exchange Act will be included in an amendment to this Form 10-K or in our 2024 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

 
We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct that applies to all officers, directors and employees in connection with their work for us. The full text of our Code of

Business Conduct is posted on the investors page of our website at https://investors.vivani.com/investors/corporate-governance/governance-documents.
 
We intend to satisfy any disclosure requirements under Item 5.05 of Form 8-K regarding an amendment to, or waiver from, a provision of this Code of Business Conduct

by posting such information on our website, at the Internet address and location specified above.
 

Item 11. Executive Compensation
 

The information required by this item regarding executive compensation will be included in an amendment to this Form 10-K or in our 2024 Proxy Statement and is
incorporated herein by reference.

 
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters
 

The information required by this item regarding security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management will be included in an amendment to this Form 10-K or
in our 2024 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

 
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence
 

The information required by this item regarding certain relationships and related transactions and director independence will be included in an amendment to this Form 10-
K or in our 2024 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

 
Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services
 

The information required by this item regarding principal accounting fees and services will be included in an amendment to this Form 10-K or in our 2024 Proxy Statement
and is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV
 

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
 
 (a) The following documents are included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K:
 
 1. The consolidated financial statements listed in the accompanying Index to Consolidated Financial Statements are filed as part of this report.
 
 2. All financial schedules have been omitted because the required information is either presented in the consolidated financial statements or the notes thereto or is not

applicable or required.
 
 3. The exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K and Item 15(b) of this Annual Report on Form 10-K are listed in the Exhibit Index immediately preceding the

exhibits and are incorporated herein. We have identified in the Exhibit Index each management contract and compensation plan filed as an exhibit to this Annual
Report on Form 10-K in response to Item 15(a)(3) of Form 10-K.
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EXHIBIT INDEX
 

Exhibit No.  Exhibit Description
2.1  Agreement and Plan of Merger by and among Second Sight Medical Products, Inc. and Nano Precision Medical, Inc., dated February 4, 2022 (incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 2.1 in the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 8, 2022).
2.2  Waiver of Available Cash Requirement to the Merger Agreement dated June 15, 2022 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 in the Registrant’s Current

Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 21, 2022).
2.3  Plan of Conversion of Vivani Medical, Inc. (a California corporation) to Vivani Medical, Inc. (a Delaware corporation), dated July 5, 2023 and effective July

5, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Appendix A in the Registrant’s revised definitive proxy statement filed with the SEC on May 1, 2023).
3.1  Certificate of Incorporation of Vivani Medical, Inc., filed with the Secretary of State of Delaware and effective, July 6, 2023 (incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 3.1 in the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 10, 2023).
3.2  Bylaws of Vivani Medical, Inc. (a Delaware Corporation) effective July 6, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 in the Registrant’s Current Report

on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 10, 2023).
4.1*  Form of the Registrant’s Common Stock Certificate.
4.2  Form of Underwriter’s Warrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 in the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, File no. 333-198073,

originally filed with the SEC on August 12, 2014, as amended).
4.3  Form of Warrant Agreement and Form of Warrant Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 in the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1,

File no. 333-215463, originally filed with the SEC on January 9, 2017, as amended).
4.4  Form of Amendment No. 1 to Warrant Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 in the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the

SEC on February 22, 2019).
4.5*  Description of Capital Stock.
10.1  Form of Lock-Up Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 in the Registrant’s Proxy Statement/Prospectus on Form S-4, (File no. 333-264959),

originally filed with the SEC on May 13, 2022). 
10.2  Registrant’s Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 in the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed

with the SEC on November 14, 2022)
10.3  Transition Funding, Support and Services Agreement by and between the Registrant and Cortigent, Inc., dated March 19, 2023 (incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.1 in the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 21, 2023).
10.4*  Offer Letter by and between Jonathan Adams and Cortigent, Inc., dated March 11, 2023.
10.5  Lease Agreement Between 1350 South Loop LLC and the Registrant, dated November 21, 2022 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 in the Registrant’s

Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on November 28, 2022).
10.6

 
Cost Reimbursement Consortium Research Agreement, by and between Registrant and Doheny Eye Institute, dated as of June 1, 2006 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.12 in the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-198073) originally filed with the SEC on August 12, 2014, as
amended).

10.7  SAFE Agreement, by and between Second Sight Medical Products, Inc. and Nano Precision Medical, Inc., dated February 4, 2022 (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.1 in the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 8, 2022).

10.8  Amendment 1 to the Transition Funding, Support and Services Agreement, by and between the Registrant and Cortigent, Inc., dated August 28, 2023
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 in the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 28, 2023).
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21.1*  List of Registrant’s Subsidiaries

23.1*  Consent of BPM LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
24.1  Power of Attorney (included in the signature page to this report)
31.1*  Certification of Principal Executive Officer of Vivani Medical, Inc. pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2*  Certification of Principal Financial and Accounting Officer of Vivani Medical, Inc. pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
32.1**

 
Certifications of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial and Accounting Officer of Vivani Medical, Inc. pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) under the
Exchange Act and 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

97.1*  Compensation Recovery Policy

101.INS  XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

104  Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)
 
* Filed herein.
** This certification will not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), or otherwise

subject to the liability of that section. Such certification will not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, or the Exchange Act, except to the extent specifically incorporated by reference into such filing.

+ Indicates management contract or compensatory plan.
 
Item 16. Form 10-K Summary
 

None.
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SIGNATURES
 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

 
Dated: March 26, 2024 Vivani Medical, Inc.
  
 /s/ Adam Mendelsohn
 Adam Mendelsohn
 Chief Executive Officer

 
POWER OF ATTORNEY AND SIGNATURES

 
The undersigned officers and directors of Vivani Medical, Inc., each hereby severally constitutes and appoints Adam Mendelsohn and Brigid Makes as their true and

lawful attorney-in-fact and agent, with full power of substitution to sign and execute on behalf of the undersigned any and all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-
K, and to perform any acts necessary in order to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, granting unto said attorney-in-fact and agent full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requested and necessary to be done in
connection therewith, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorney-in-fact and agent, or their or
his or her substitutes, shall do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the

capacities and on the dates indicated.
 

Name  Title  Date
     
/s/ Adam Mendelsohn  Chief Executive Officer and Director  March 26, 2024
Adam Mendelsohn  (Principal Executive Officer)   
     
/s/ Brigid Makes  Chief Financial Officer  March 26, 2024
Brigid Makes  (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)   
     
/s/ Gregg Williams  Chairman of the Board  March 26, 2024
Gregg Williams     
     
/s/ Aaron Mendelsohn  Director  March 26, 2024
Aaron Mendelsohn     
     
/s/ Dean Baker  Director  March 26, 2024
Dean Baker     
     
/s/ Alexandra Larson  Director  March 26, 2024
Alexandra Larson     
     
/s/ Daniel Bradbury  Director  March 26, 2024
Daniel Bradbury     
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 
 
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Vivani Medical, Inc.
 

 
Opinion on the Financial Statements
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Vivani Medical, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 and the related
consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows, for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2023, and the
related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended
December 31, 2023, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
 
Basis for Opinion
 
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”) and are
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and
Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to
perform an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audit, we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
 
Our audit included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing
procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. Our audit also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
 
Critical Audit Matters
 
Critical audit matters are matters arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that were communicated or required to be communicated to the
audit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective,
or complex judgments. We determined that there are no critical audit matters.
 
/s/ BPM LLP
 
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2014.
 
Walnut Creek, California 
March 26, 2024
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VIVANI MEDICAL, INC. 
AND SUBSIDIARIES

 
Consolidated Balance Sheets 

(In thousands, except per share data)
 

        
  December 31,  
  2023   2022  
ASSETS       
Current assets:         

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 20,654  $ 45,076 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   2,408   2,452 

Total current assets   23,062   47,528 
Property and equipment, net   1,729   1,182 
Right-of-use assets   19,616   779 
Restricted cash   1,338   1,366 
Deposits and other assets   52   275 
Total assets  $ 45,797  $ 51,130 
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY         
Current liabilities:         

Accounts payable  $ 542  $ 1,177 
Accrued expenses   1,727   2,358 
Litigation accrual   1,675   1,675 
Accrued compensation expense   396   657 
Current operating lease liabilities   1,383   955 

Total current liabilities   5,723   6,822 
Long-term operating lease liabilities   19,313   — 
Total liabilities   25,036   6,822 
Commitments and contingencies (Note 12)         
Stockholders’ equity:         

Preferred stock, par value $0.0001 per share; 10,000 shares authorized; none outstanding   —   — 
Common stock, par value $0.0001 per share; 300,000 shares authorized; shares issued and outstanding: 51,031 and 50,736 as of
December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively   5   5 
Additional paid-in capital   119,054   117,054 
Accumulated other comprehensive gain   140   35 
Accumulated deficit   (98,438)   (72,786)

Total stockholders’ equity   20,761   44,308 
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity  $ 45,797  $ 51,130 

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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VIVANI MEDICAL, INC. 
AND SUBSIDIARIES

 
Consolidated Statements of Operations 

(In thousands, except per share data)
 

        
  Year Ended December 31,  

  2023   2022  
Operating expenses:         
Research and development, net of grants  $ 16,968  $ 14,169 
General and administrative, net of grants   9,997   7,072 
Total operating expenses   26,965   21,241 
Loss from operations   (26,965)   (21,241)
Other income (expense), net   1,313   7,352 
Net loss  $ (25,652)  $ (13,889)
Net loss per common share - basic and diluted  $ (0.50)  $ (0.36)
Weighted average shares outstanding - basic and diluted   50,853   38,241 

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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VIVANI MEDICAL, INC. 
AND SUBSIDIARIES

 
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss 

(In thousands)
 

        
  Year Ended December 31,  
  2023   2022  
Net loss  $ (25,652)  $ (13,889)
Other comprehensive income:         
Foreign currency translation adjustments   105   35 
Comprehensive loss  $ (25,547)  $ (13,854)

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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VIVANI MEDICAL, INC. 
AND SUBSIDIARIES

 
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity 

(in thousands)
 

           Accumulated        
        Additional   Other      Total  
  Common Stock   Paid-in   Comprehensive   Accumulated   Stockholders’  
  Shares   Amount   Capital   Gain   Deficit   Equity  
Balance, January 1, 2022   36,803  $ 4  $ 61,358  $       —  $ (58,897)  $ 2,465 
Options and warrants exercised, net of partial shares
adjustment   797   —   16   —   —   16 
Shares issued for SSMP net assets   13,136   1   54,384   —   —   54,385 
Stock-based compensation expense   —   —   1,296   —   —   1,296 
Foreign currency translation adjustments   —   —   —   35   —   35 
Net loss   —   —   —   —   (13,889)   (13,889)
Balance, December 31, 2022   50,736  $ 5  $ 117,054  $ 35  $ (72,786)  $ 44,308 
 
           Accumulated        
        Additional   Other      Total  
  Common Stock   Paid-in   Comprehensive   Accumulated   Stockholders’  
  Shares   Amount   Capital   Gain   Deficit   Equity  
Balance, January 1, 2023   50,736  $ 5  $ 117,054  $ 35  $ (72,786)  $ 44,308 
Option exercises   295   —   136            —   —   136 
Stock-based compensation expense   —   —   1,864   —   —   1,864 
Foreign currency translation adjustments   —   —   —   105   —   105 
Net loss   —   —   —   —   (25,652)   (25,652)
Balance, December 31, 2023   51,031  $ 5  $ 119,054  $ 140  $ (98,438)  $ 20,761 

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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VIVANI MEDICAL, INC. 

AND SUBSIDIARIES
 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
(In thousands)

 
        
  Year Ended December 31,  
  2023   2022  
Cash flows from operating activities:         
Net loss  $ (25,652)  $ (13,889)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:         

Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment   357   381 
Stock-based compensation   1,864   1,296 
Loss on disposal of fixed assets   121   — 
Non-cash lease expense   904   (36)
Gain on bargain purchase   —   (6,877)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:         

Prepaid expenses and other assets   264   (476)
Accounts payable   (602)   (1,941)
Accrued compensation expenses   (261)   204 
Accrued expenses   (694)   2,551 

Net cash used in operating activities   (23,699)   (18,787)
Cash flows from investing activities:         

Purchases of property and equipment   (887)   (338)
Net cash used in investing activities   (887)   (338)
Cash flows from financing activities:         

Cash acquired in merger for stock consideration   —   55,374 
Proceeds from SAFE note   —   8,000 
Proceeds from sale of common stock and exercise of options   133   16 

Net cash provided by financing activities   133   63,390 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents   3   (1)
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash:         
Net (decrease) increase   (24,450)   44,264 
Balance at beginning of year   46,442   2,178 
Balance at end of year  $ 21,992  $ 46,442 
         
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:         
Cash paid during the period for:         

Income taxes  $ 1  $ — 
Non-cash investing and financing activities:         

Establishment of operating right-of-use assets through operating lease obligations  $ 20,755  $ — 
Cancellation of SAFE indebtedness in merger  $ —  $ 8,000 
Net liabilities acquired in merger for stock consideration  $ —  $ 2,112 
Receivables for cash in-transit on exercise of common stock under equity incentive plan  $ 3  $ — 
Purchase of property and equipment in accrued expenses  $ 132  $ — 

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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VIVANI MEDICAL, INC.

AND SUBSIDIARIES
 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
 

1. Organization and Business Operations
 

Vivani Medical, Inc. (“Vivani,” the “Company,” “we,” “us,” “our” or similar terms) is a preclinical stage biopharmaceutical company which develops miniaturized,
subdermal implants utilizing its proprietary NanoPortal™ technology to enable long-term, near constant-rate delivery of a broad range of medicines to treat chronic diseases.
Vivani uses this platform technology to develop and potentially commercialize drug implant candidates, alone or in collaboration with pharmaceutical company partners to
address a leading cause of poor clinical outcomes in the treatment of chronic disease, medication non-adherence. According to the US Centers for Disease Control and
Prevention (“CDC”), adherence is defined as the extent to which an individual’s behavior, including taking medications, corresponds to recommendations from a health care
provider. For example, approximately 50% of patients treated for type 2 diabetes are medication non-adherent, which can lead to poor clinical outcomes. We are developing a
portfolio of miniature, sub-dermal drug implant candidates that, unlike most oral and injectable medicines, are designed with the goal of guaranteeing medication adherence by
delivering therapeutic drug levels for up to 6 months or longer. In addition, our aim is to minimize fluctuations in patients’ drug levels through the use of our NanoPortal
technology, which may improve the tolerability profiles for medicines that produce side effects associated with fluctuating drug levels in the blood.

 
In February 2022, we announced the signing of a definitive merger agreement between Nano Precision Medical, Inc. (“NPM”) and Second Sight Medical Products, Inc.

(“Second Sight” or “SSMP”), pursuant to which NPM became a wholly-owned subsidiary of Second Sight. On August 30, 2022, the merger closed and the combined company
of NPM and Second Sight was renamed Vivani Medical, Inc.

 
In December 2022, we contributed our neuromodulation assets and certain liabilities to Cortigent, Inc. (“Cortigent”) a newly formed corporation in Delaware, and wholly-

owned subsidiary of Vivani, in exchange for 20,000,000 shares of common stock of Cortigent. As of December 31, 2023, after giving effect to a 1-for-4 reverse stock split that
we implemented, Cortigent had 5,000,000 shares of common stock outstanding, all owned by Vivani. While the primary focus of Vivani is to develop and ultimately
commercialize our drug implant business from legacy company NPM, Vivani’s management team remains committed to identifying and exploring strategic options for the
further advancement of the neuromodulation business of Cortigent which includes the development of its pioneering neurostimulation systems to help patients recover critical
body functions.

 
In March 2023, Vivani announced the filing of a Registration Statement on Form S-1 with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) for the proposed initial

public offering of Cortigent. Cortigent, currently a wholly-owned subsidiary of Vivani, was formed for the purpose of advancing the Company’s pioneering neurostimulation
technology. The Registration Statement on Form S-1 was recently amended and filed with the SEC in February 2024 to refresh the financial information and provide minor
updates to the business.

  
On July 6, 2023, Vivani changed its state of incorporation from the State of California to the State of Delaware by means of a plan of conversion, effective July 5, 2023.

The reincorporation, including the principal terms of the plan of conversion, was submitted to a vote of, and approved by, Vivani’s stockholders at its 2023 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders held on June 15, 2023. As part of this change of incorporation the Company established a par value of $0.0001 per share and all periods have been retroactively
adjusted to reflect this change.

 
An Investigational New Drug Application (“IND”) for NPM-119 (GLP-1 implant) was filed with the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) on July 14, 2023, to

support the initiation of the first-in-human study of NPM-119 in patients with type 2 diabetes, also named LIBERATE-1™. On August 18, 2023, FDA provided written
notification that the LIBERATE-1 study was on full clinical hold, primarily due to insufficient Chemistry, Manufacturing, and Controls (“CMC”) information to assess the risk
to human subjects. Vivani remains actively engaged in discussions with FDA as part of its efforts to lift the clinical hold and plans to submit a Complete Response to the FDA
during the first half of 2024.

 
On August 25, 2023, the Company and Cortigent entered into an Amendment 1 (the “Amendment”) to the Transition Funding, Support and Services Agreement dated

March 19, 2023 (the “TFSSA”). Pursuant to the TFSSA, the Company has agreed to advance funds and provide or cause to be provided to Cortigent the services and funding
intended to cover salaries and related costs, rent and other overhead in order to permit Cortigent to operate in substantially the same manner in which business operations of
Cortigent were previously operated by Second Sight Medical Products, Inc., prior to the formation of Cortigent, which obligations will continue, in the case of the funding
obligations, until the earlier of December 31, 2024 or the closing of an initial public offering of Cortigent (the “Funding Support Term”). Under the Amendment, Cortigent has
agreed to repay $1,500,000 to the Company at the conclusion of the Funding Support Term. In addition, at the conclusion of the Funding Support Term, Cortigent will enter
into a five-year promissory note at 5% interest for $2,000,000 in favor of the Company. The Company will forgive any remaining amounts due by Cortigent to the Company
under the TFSSA. In October 2023, Vivani implemented a reduction-in-force to conserve cash that decreased Cortigent’s employees from 14 to 7 while continuing the ongoing
Orion® clinical study and basic operations.
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In the fourth quarter of 2023, Vivani Medical Australia Pty Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary in Australia was established to support studies of our products and product

candidates.
 
In February 2024, Vivani announced positive NPM-115 preclinical weight loss data comparable to semaglutide, the active ingredient in Ozempic®/Wegovy®, and

disclosed NPM-139 as a semaglutide implant as our strategy shifted to prioritize our obesity portfolio. In a study in high-fat diet-induced obese mice, NPM-115 generated
weight loss of approximately 20% compared to a sham implant control after a 28-day treatment duration, comparable to weight loss observed in mice treated with semaglutide
injections (Ozempic®/Wegovy®) in the same study. The Company also disclosed that semaglutide is the active pharmaceutical ingredient in NPM-139, a miniature, subdermal
GLP-1 implant in development for chronic weight management, with the added potential benefit of once-yearly administration.

 
Agreement and Plan of Merger with Nano Precision Medical, Inc.
 

On February 4, 2022, Second Sight entered into an agreement and plan of merger (the “Merger Agreement”) with NPM. The Merger was approved by the shareholders of
Second Sight on July 27, 2022 and closed on August 30, 2022. Upon consummation of the Merger, NPM became a wholly-owned subsidiary of Second Sight. Concurrent with
to the Merger, Second Sight changed its name to Vivani Medical, Inc. and changed its trading symbol from EYES to VANI, and trades under the ticker VANI on the NASDAQ
market. Certain investors and members of the NPM board of directors are also investors and members of the board of directors of Second Sight.

 
Under the terms and conditions of the Merger Agreement, the securities of NPM converted into the right to receive shares of Second Sight’s common stock representing

77.32% of the total issued and outstanding shares of common stock of Second Sight on a fully converted basis, including, without limitation, giving effect to the conversion of
all options, warrants, and any and all other convertible securities assuming net settlement. Second Sight filed a Registration Statement on Form S-4 on May 13, 2022, in
connection with the Merger to register the merger shares effective June 24, 2022.
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On February 4, 2022, in connection with the Merger, Second Sight and NPM also entered into a Simple Agreement for Future Equity (“SAFE”) whereby Second Sight

provided to NPM an investment advance of $8 million. The Merger Agreement provided that the SAFE would terminate if the Merger were to be successfully completed.
Under the terms of the SAFE, upon successfully completion of the Merger on August 30, 2022, the investment advance was eliminated. Under the accounting for a business
combination, the $8 million adjusted the purchase consideration.

 
The Merger involved a change of control and was accounted for as a reverse merger in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of

America (“GAAP”). Under this method of accounting, Second Sight was treated as the “acquired” company for financial reporting purposes with NPM as the acquirer. The
assets acquired and liabilities assumed by NPM were recorded at fair value under Accounting Codification Standard (“ASC”) 805, Business Combinations. Accordingly, on
August 30, 2022 (the “Acquisition Date”), NPM (a calendar year-end entity) was deemed to have acquired 100% of the outstanding common shares and voting interest of
Second Sight. The results of Second Sight’s operations have been included in the consolidated financial statements since that date.

 
The acquisition-date fair value of consideration transferred totaled $54.4 million, which consisted of the fair value of the 13,136,000 shares of common stock deemed

issued to Second Sight shareholders, valued at the closing price per share on the acquisition date of $4.14.
 
The following table summarizes the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date (in thousands):
 

At August 30, 2022    
    
Cash  $ 55,374 
Property and equipment   99 
Prepaid expenses   1,657 
Right of use assets   140 
Other assets   56 
Total identifiable assets acquired   57,326 
Current liabilities   (3,913)
Right of use liabilities   (151)
Total liabilities assumed   4,064 
Net identifiable assets acquired  $ 53,262 

 
The SAFE loan of $8.0 million was cancelled in the Merger which adjusted the fair value of net assets acquired.
 
The following table summarizes the calculation of the gain on bargain purchase (in thousands) recorded in the year ended December 31, 2022: 
 

     
Total consideration  $ 54,385 
SAFE loan forgiven   (8,000)
Less net identifiable assets acquired   (53,262)
Gain on bargain purchase  $ 6,877 

 
Because NPM purchased 100% of Second Sight and the fair value of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeded the fair value of the consideration, we

reassessed the recognition and measurement of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed and concluded that all acquired assets and assumed liabilities were properly
recognized and that the valuation procedures and resulting measures were appropriate. As a result, we recognized a gain of $6.9 million in the year ended December 31, 2022.

 

F-10



 
 
We recognized $0.7 million of acquisition related costs that were expensed in the twelve months ended December 31, 2022. These costs are included in the consolidated

income statement in the line item entitled “General and administrative.”
 
Operating expenses of Second Sight included in the consolidated statements of operations from the acquisition date August 30, 2022 to the period ending December 30,

2022 were $2.1 million. Pro forma consolidated net loss as if Second Sight had been included in the consolidated results was $28.3 million for the year ended December 31,
2022.

 
SAFE
 

On February 4, 2022, in connection with the Merger, Second Sight and NPM also entered into a Simple Agreement for Future Equity (“SAFE”) whereby Second Sight
provided to NPM an investment advance of $8 million. The agreement provided that the SAFE would terminate if the Merger were to be successfully completed.

 
Under the terms of the SAFE, upon successfully completion of the Merger on August 30, 2022, the investment advance was eliminated. Under the accounting for a

business combination, the $8.0 million adjusted the purchase consideration.
 

Liquidity and Capital Resources
 

From inception, our operations have been funded primarily through the sales of our common stock as well as from warrants.
 
Our financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates the realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course

of business. We are subject to the risks and uncertainties associated with a business with no revenue that is developing novel medical devices, including limitations on our
operating capital resources. We have incurred recurring operating losses and negative operating cash flows since inception, and we expect to continue to incur operating losses
and negative operating cash flows for the foreseeable future.

 
On March 1, 2024, the Company entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement with an institutional investor relating to the issuance of 3,947,368 shares of the Company’s

common stock, par value of $0.0001 per share and warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 3,947,368 shares of Common Stock (the “Warrant”), to such investor at a
purchase price of $3.80 per share and accompanying warrant in a registered direct offering (the “Offering”). The Warrant has an exercise price of $3.80 per share, is exercisable
immediately upon issuance and will expire three years following the date of issuance. The Company also entered into a Placement Agency Agreement with Maxim Group LLC,
who acted as the sole placement agent for the Offering. The gross proceeds of approximately $15.0 million from the Offering, before paying the placement agent fees and other
estimated offering expenses, was received on March 5, 2024. For additional information, refer to Note 13. Subsequent Event of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

 
We estimate that currently available cash will provide sufficient funds to enable the Company to meet its planned obligations into the second half of 2025. Our ability to

continue as a going concern is dependent on our ability to develop profitable operations through implementation of our business initiatives and/or raise additional capital,
however, there can be no assurances that we will be able to do so.

 
2.       Summary of Significant Accounting
 
Principles of Consolidation
 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) and include
the financial statements of the Biopharm Division (formerly NPM) and the Neuromodulation Division (operated as Cortigent, Inc. and formerly Second Sight including Second
Sight Switzerland) each of which is a reporting segment.

 
Intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.
 

Use of Estimates
 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of expenses during the reporting period. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various
assumptions that are believed to be reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making
judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Management regularly evaluates the key factors and assumptions
used to develop the estimates utilizing currently available information, changes in facts and circumstances, historical experience and reasonable assumptions. After such
evaluations, if deemed appropriate, those estimates are adjusted accordingly. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Significant estimates include those related to
assumptions used in accruals for potential liabilities, valuing equity instruments and stock-based compensation, and the realization of deferred tax assets. Actual results could
differ from those estimates.
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Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash
 

We consider all highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less at the date of purchase to be cash equivalents. Cash is carried at cost, which approximates
fair value, and cash equivalents are carried at fair value. We generally invest funds that are in excess of current needs in high credit quality instruments such as money market
funds. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022 restricted cash of $1.3 million and $1.4 million, respectively, relates to a letter of credit as a condition of our facilities lease guarantee
requirements and is classified as long-term restricted cash on the consolidated balance sheets.

 
Property and Equipment
 

Property and equipment are recorded at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Improvements are capitalized, while expenditures for maintenance
and repairs are charged to expense as incurred. Upon disposal of depreciable property, the appropriate property accounts are reduced by the related costs and accumulated
depreciation. The resulting gains and losses are reflected in the consolidated statements of operations.

 
Depreciation is provided for using the straight-line method in amounts sufficient to relate the cost of assets to operations over their estimated service lives. Leasehold

improvements are amortized over the shorter of the life of the asset or the related lease term. Estimated useful lives of the principal classes of assets are as follows:
 

Lab equipment 5 – 7 years
Computer hardware and software 3 – 7 years
Leasehold improvements 2 – 5 years or the term of the lease, if shorter
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 5 – 10 years

 
We review our property and equipment for impairment annually or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of such assets may not be

recoverable.
 
Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment amounted to $0.4 million and $0.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.
 

Leases
 

Leases are accounted for under FASB ASC 842, Leases (“ASC 842”). Under ASC 842, the Company determines if an arrangement contains a lease at inception. Right of
use assets (“ROU assets”) represent the right to use an underlying asset for the lease term while lease liabilities represent the obligation to make lease payments for the lease
term. Leases are then classified as either finance or operating, with classification affecting the pattern of expense recognition in the statements of operations and comprehensive
loss. All leases greater than 12 months result in the recognition of a ROU asset and liability at the lease commencement date based on the present value of the lease payments
over the lease term. The present value of the lease payments is calculated using the applicable weighted-average discount rate. The weighted-average discount rate is based on
the discount rate implicit in the lease, or if the implicit rate is not readily determinable from the lease, the applicable incremental borrowing rate is estimated. The incremental
borrowing rate is estimated using the currency denomination of the lease, the contractual lease term and the Company’s applicable borrowing rate. To determine the incremental
borrowing rate, reference is made to interest rates that would be available to finance assets similar to the assets under lease in their related geographical location.
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The Company has elected not to separate non-lease components from lease components and instead to account for each separate lease component and the non-lease

components associated with a lease as a single lease component. It also elected to exempt from capitalization all leases with an initial term of 12 months or less.
 
Certain leases include one or more options to renew with renewal terms that can extend the lease term. The exercise of the lease renewal options is at the Company’s

discretion and are included in the determination of the ROU asset and lease liability when the option is reasonably certain of being exercised.
 

Research and Development
 

Research and development costs are charged to operations in the period incurred and amounted to $17.0 million and $14.2 million, net of grant revenue, for the years
ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

 
Patent Costs
 

Due to the uncertainty associated with the successful development of one or more commercially viable products based on our research efforts and any related patent
applications, all patent costs, including patent-related legal, filing fees and other costs, including internally generated costs, are expensed as incurred. Patent costs were $0.3
million and $0.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and are included in general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements
of operations.

 
NIH Grant
 

From time to time, we receive grants that help fund specific development programs. Any amounts received pursuant to grants are offset against the related operating
expenses as the costs are incurred.

 
During the year ended December 31, 2023 grants offset against operating expenses were $0.5 million, of which $0.4 million were offset against research and development

expenses, and $0.1 million were offset against general and administrative expenses. During the year ended December 31, 2022 grants offset against operating expenses were
$0.5 million, of which $0.4 million were offset against research and development expenses, and $0.1 million were offset against general and administrative expenses.

 
Concentration of Credit Risk
 

Financial instruments that subject us to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash and money market funds. We maintain cash and money market funds with
financial institutions that management deems credit worthy, and at times, cash balances may be in excess of FDIC and SIPC insurance limits of $250,000 and $500,000
(including cash of $250,000), respectively.

 
We also maintain cash at a bank in Switzerland. Accounts at said bank are insured up to an amount specified by the deposit insurance agency of Switzerland.
 

Foreign Operations
 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 include assets amounting to approximately $49,000 and $40,000, respectively,
relating to our operations in Switzerland. Unanticipated events in foreign countries could disrupt our operations and impair the value of these assets.

 
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
 

The authoritative guidance with respect to fair value establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value into
three levels and requires that assets and liabilities carried at fair value be classified and disclosed in one of three categories, as presented below. Disclosure as to transfers in and
out of Levels 1 and 2, and activity in Level 3 fair value measurements, is also required.
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Level 1. Observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets for an identical asset or liability that we have the ability to access as of the measurement date. Financial

assets and liabilities utilizing Level 1 inputs include active-exchange traded securities and exchange-based derivatives.
 
Level 2. Inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, which are directly observable for the asset or liability or indirectly observable through corroboration with

observable market data. Financial assets and liabilities utilizing Level 2 inputs include fixed income securities, non-exchange-based derivatives, mutual funds, and fair-value
hedges.

 
Level 3. Unobservable inputs in which there is little or no market data for the asset or liability which requires the reporting entity to develop its own assumptions. Financial

assets and liabilities utilizing Level 3 inputs include infrequently traded non-exchange-based derivatives and commingled investment funds, and are measured using present
value pricing models.

 
We determine the level in the fair value hierarchy within which each fair value measurement falls in its entirety, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair

value measurement in its entirety. In determining the appropriate levels, we perform an analysis of the assets and liabilities at each reporting period end.
 
Cash equivalents, which include money market funds, are the only financial instrument measured and recorded at fair value in assets or liabilities on our consolidated

balance sheet, and they are valued using Level 1 inputs.
 

Stock-Based Compensation
 

Pursuant to FASB ASC 718 Share-Based Payment (“ASC 718”), we record stock-based compensation expense for all stock-based awards. Under ASC 718, we estimate the
fair value of stock options granted using the option pricing models. The fair value for awards that are expected to vest is then amortized on a straight-line basis over the
requisite service period of the award, which is generally the option vesting term. The Company accounts for forfeitures as they occur.

 
The fair value of each stock option award is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option valuation model. The assumptions used in the Black-Scholes

valuation model are as follows:
 

 ● The grant price of the issuances is determined based on the fair value of the shares at the date of grant.
 
 ● The risk-free interest rate for periods within the contractual life of the option is based on the U.S. treasury yield in effect at the time of grant.
 
 ● We calculate the expected term of options using a weighted average of option vesting periods and an estimate of one-half of the period between vesting and

expiration of the option.
 
 ● Volatility is determined based on our average historical volatilities since our trading history, supplemented with average historical volatilities of comparable

companies in our similar industry.
 
 ● Expected dividend yield is based on current yield at the grant date or the average dividend yield over the historical period. We have never declared or paid dividends

and have no plans to do so in the foreseeable future.
 

For stock options or restricted stock units (“RSUs”) with market vesting conditions, the awards were valued using the Monte-Carlo Simulation model.
 

Comprehensive Loss
 

We comply with provisions of FASB ASC 220, Comprehensive Income, which requires companies to report all changes in equity during a period, except those resulting
from investment by owners and distributions to owners, for the period in which they are recognized. Comprehensive income is defined as the change in equity during a period
from transactions and other events from non-owner sources.
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Comprehensive loss is reported on the face of the financial statements. For the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, comprehensive loss is the total of net loss and

other comprehensive income which, consists entirely of foreign currency translation adjustments and there were no material reclassifications from other comprehensive loss to
net loss during the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2022.

 
Foreign Currency Translation and Transaction Gains and Losses
 

The financial statements and transactions of the subsidiary’s operations are reported in the local (functional) currency of Swiss francs (CHF) and translated into U.S.
dollars in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Assets and liabilities of those operations are translated at exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date. The resulting gains and
losses from translating foreign currency financial statements are recorded as other comprehensive income. Revenues and expenses are translated at the average exchange rate
for the reporting period. Foreign currency transaction gains (losses) resulting from exchange rate fluctuations on transactions denominated in a currency other than the foreign
operations’ functional currencies are included in expenses in the consolidated statements of operations.

 
Income Taxes
 

We account for income taxes under an asset and liability approach for financial accounting and reporting for income taxes. Accordingly, we recognize deferred tax assets
and liabilities for the expected impact of differences between the financial statements and the tax basis of assets and liabilities.

 
We record a valuation allowance to reduce our deferred tax assets to the amount that is more likely than not to be realized. In the event we were to determine that we would

be able to realize our deferred tax assets in the future in excess of our recorded amount, an adjustment to the deferred tax assets would be credited to operations in the period
such determination was made. Likewise, should we determine that we would not be able to realize all or part of our deferred tax assets in the future, an adjustment to the
deferred tax assets would be charged to operations in the period such determination was made. We have incurred losses for tax purposes since inception and have significant tax
losses and tax credit carry-forwards. 

 
Product Warranties
 

Our policy is to warrant all shipped products against defects in materials and workmanship for up to two years by replacing failed parts. We also provide a three-year
manufacturer’s warranty covering implant failure by providing a functionally equivalent replacement implant. Accruals for product warranties are estimated based on historical
warranty experience and current product performance trends and are recorded at the time revenue is recognized as a component of cost of sales. The warranty liabilities are
reduced by material and labor costs used to replace parts over the warranty period in the periods in which the costs are incurred. We periodically assess the adequacy of our
recorded warranty liabilities and adjust the amounts as necessary. The warranty liabilities are included in accrued expenses in the consolidated balance sheets was $0 as of
December 31, 2023 and $50,000 as of December 31, 2022, respectively.

 
Net Loss per Share
 

Our computation of earnings per share (“EPS”) includes basic and diluted EPS. Basic EPS is measured as the income (loss) available to common shareholders divided by
the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding for the period. Diluted EPS is similar to basic EPS but presents the dilutive effect on a per share basis of
potential common shares (e.g., convertible notes payable, convertible preferred stock, common stock warrants and stock options) as if they had been converted at the beginning
of the periods presented, or the issuance date, if later. Potential common shares that have an anti-dilutive effect (i.e., those that increase income per share or decrease loss per
share) are excluded from the calculation of diluted EPS.
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Net loss per common share is computed by dividing net loss by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the respective periods. Basic

and diluted loss per common share is the same for all periods presented because all common stock warrants and common stock options outstanding were anti-dilutive.
 
As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, we excluded the outstanding securities summarized below, which entitle the holders thereof to ultimately acquire shares of common

stock, from our calculation of earnings per share, as their effect would have been anti-dilutive (in thousands).
         
  December 31,  
  2023   2022  
Shares underlying warrants outstanding   9,733   10,311 
Shares underlying stock options outstanding   6,091   5,272 
Shares underlying restricted stock units outstanding   403   — 
Total   16,227   15,583 
 
Operating Segments
 

Operating segments are identified as components of an enterprise about which separate discrete financial information is available for evaluation by the chief operating
decision-maker in making decisions regarding resource allocation and assessing performance. Our chief operating decision-maker, our CEO, reviews financial information
presented for each of our segments. We have two reporting segments, specifically the Biopharm Division and the Neuromodulation Division. Neither division is revenue
producing.

 
During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Neuromodulation Division and the Biopharm Division incurred operating expenses of $5.4 million and $21.6 million,

respectively. During the year ended December 31, 2023, consolidated net loss for the Neuromodulation Division was $5.4 million and for the Biopharm Division was $20.3
million. As of December 31, 2023, total assets for the Neuromodulation Division and the Biopharm Division was $1.4 million and $44.4 million, respectively.

 
The Company’s long-term assets are located in the United States.
 

Recently Adopted Accounting Standards
 

We believe that any recently issued, but not yet effective, authoritative guidance, if currently adopted, would not have a material impact on our financial statement
presentation or disclosures.

 
3. Fair Value Measurements
 

Cash equivalents, which includes money market funds, are the only financial instrument measured and recorded at fair value on our consolidated balance sheet, and they
are valued using Level 1 inputs.

 
The following table presents money market funds at their level within the fair value hierarchy as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands).
 

  Total   Level 1   Level 2   Level 3  
December 31, 2023:                 
Money market funds  $ 18,629  $ 18,629  $ —  $ — 
                 
December 31, 2022:                 
Money market funds  $ 44,417  $ 44,417  $ —  $ — 
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4. Selected Balance Sheet Detail
 
Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization 
 

Property and equipment consisted of the following as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):
 

  December 31,  
  2023   2022  
Equipment  $ 3,511  $ 3,520 
Furniture and fixtures   354   10 
Leasehold improvements   —   12 
Computer software  7   51 
Construction in progress   299   — 
Total property and equipment   4,171   3,593 
Accumulated depreciation and amortization   (2,442)   (2,411)
Property and equipment, net  $ 1,729  $ 1,182 
 
Contract Liabilities
 

Contract liabilities amounted to $335,000 and $335,000 as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and are included in accrued expenses on the balance sheet.
 

5. Grants
 

We received an award for $1.6 million grant (with the intent to fund $6.4 million over five years subject to annual review and approval) from the National Institutes of
Health (“NIH”) to fund the “Early Feasibility Clinical Trial of a Visual Cortical Prosthesis” that commenced in January 2018. The final year of the grant ends in March 2024.
The NIH grant funds ongoing and planned clinical activities and are being used to conduct and support clinical testing of six subjects implanted with the Orion™ Cortical
Visual Prosthesis (“Orion”), submit and obtain Investigational Device Exemption approval from the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”). During the year ended
December 31, 2023 grants offset against operating expenses were $0.5 million, of which $0.4 million were offset against research and development expenses, and $0.1 million
were offset against general and administrative expenses. During the year ended December 31, 2022 grants offset against operating expenses were $0.5 million, of which $0.4
million were offset against research and development expenses, and $0.1 million were offset against general and administrative expenses.

 
6. Equity Securities  
 

We are authorized to issue 300,000,000 shares of common stock with 51,031,000 issued as of December 31, 2023. In addition, we are authorized to issue 10,000,000 shares
of preferred stock with none issued. On August 19, 2022, the Company initiated a reverse stock split of one share for every three shares. All share numbers have been
retroactively adjusted for the split. On August 30, 2022, 13,136,362 shares were deemed issued for the merger acquisition.

 
7. Warrants
 

NPM, prior to the Merger, issued common stock and warrants (collectively, the “unit” or “units”) in 2019, 2020 and 2021 for $3.15 per unit. Outstanding warrants to
purchase common stock are shown in the table below and generally expire 5 years from the date of issuance at $3.15 per share exercise price, split adjusted, are transferable
into one share of common stock and may be exercised on a cashless basis. The warrants qualified for an exception to derivative accounting and, accordingly, their value was not
bifurcated from the total purchase price.

 
Second Sight warrants of 7,691,063 were outstanding and are convertible into 2,563,688 shares in the table below and converted as part of the Merger for Vivani warrants

on a like-for-like basis. The weighted average exercise price of these warrants is $35.24. Of this total 7,680,938 warrants are convertible into 2,560,313 shares and are tradeable
on the open market. Under accounting standards in a business combination, these warrants were measured at fair value as of the Merger date; however, the warrants were
substantially out-of-the-money and were assigned no value.
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A summary of warrant activity for the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 is presented below (in thousands, except per share and contractual life data).
 
     Weighted   Weighted  
     Average   Average  
     Exercise   Remaining  
  Number of   Price   Contractual  
  Shares   Per Share   Life (in Years)  
Warrants outstanding as of December 31, 2021   9,074  $ 3.15     

Issued   —         
Exercised   (1,327)  $ 3.15     
Forfeited or expired   —         
Other adjustment   2,564  $ 35.24     

Warrants outstanding as of December 31, 2022   10,311  $ 11.13   2.3 
    Issued   —         
    Exercised   —         
    Forfeited or expired   (578)  $ 3.15     
Warrants outstanding as of December 31, 2023   9,733  $ 11.60   1.4 
Warrants exercisable as of December 31, 2023   9,733  $ 11.60   1.4 
 
The warrants outstanding as of December 31, 2023 have no intrinsic value.
 

8. Employee Benefit Plans
 

We have a 401(k) Savings Retirement Plan (the “Plan”) that covers substantially all full-time employees who meet the Plan’s eligibility requirements and provides for an
employee elective contribution. The Plan provides for employer matching contributions. Employer contributions are discretionary and determined annually by the Board of
Directors. During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, employer contributions to the Plan totaled $0.3 million and $0.2 million, respectively.

 
9. Stock-Based Compensation
 
Equity Incentive Plans
 

The Vivani Medical, Inc. 2022 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the “2022 Plan”) was initiated at the time of the Merger and the 2022 Plan became effective on August 30, 2022.
Under the 2022 Plan, 10,033,333 shares were authorized for issuance at its effective date. The maximum number of shares with respect to which stock awards could be granted
is offset and reduced by stock awards previously granted under the Plan. As of December 31, 2023, the 2022 Plan provided for the issuance of a maximum of 3,540,216 shares
of common stock were available for future issuance pursuant to stock awards that had not previously been granted.

 
For stock option grants, the option price is determined by the Board of Directors but cannot be less than the fair value of the shares at the grant date. Generally, the options

vest ratably over four years and expire ten years from the grant date. The plan provides for accelerated vesting if there is a change of control, as defined in the Plan.
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Stock Options
 

A summary of stock option activity is presented below (in thousands, except per share and contractual life data).
        Weighted  
     Weighted   Average  
     Average   Remaining  
     Exercise   Contractual  
  Number of   Price   Life  
  Shares   Per Share   (in Years)  
Options outstanding at December 31, 2021   4,542  $ 2.89     
Granted   866  $ 2.31     
Exercised   (73)  $ 1.66     
Forfeited or expired   (335)  $ 4.16     
Other adjustment   272  $ 8.70     
Options outstanding at December 31, 2022   5,272  $ 3.07     
Granted   1,384  $ 1.22     
Exercised   (333)  $ 0.52     
Forfeited or expired   (232)  $ 8.12     
Options outstanding, vested and expected to vest as of December 31, 2023   6,091  $ 2.60   6.96 
Options exercisable as of December 31, 2023   4,125  $ 3.03   6.11 
 

The estimated aggregate intrinsic value of stock options exercisable as of December 31, 2023 was $0.1 million. During the year ended December 31, 2022, other
adjustment represents a prior period true-up and Second Sight options exchanged as part of the Merger for Vivani options on a like-for-like basis. Under accounting standards in
a business combination, these options were measured at fair value as of the Merger date; however, the options were substantially out-of-the-money and were assigned no value.

 
Restricted Stock Units (RSUs)
 

A summary of restricted stock activity and related information (in thousands, except per share data):
 

  
Number 
of Shares   

Weighted 
Average
Grant 

Date Fair
Value 

Per Share  
Outstanding as of December 31, 2022   0  $ — 
Granted   403  $ 0.93 
Vested and released   0  $ — 
Forfeited and canceled   0  $ — 
Outstanding as of December 31, 2023   403  $ 0.93 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company granted 402,500 RSUs, subject to market conditions which required our stock price to exceed $3.15 per share for

three consecutive days in the four years from grant date for the RSUs to vest.
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Stock-Based Compensation Expense
 

The following table summarizes total stock-based compensation expense for stock options and RSUs, which is included in the statements of operations (in thousands).
  Year Ended December 31,  
  2023   2022  
Research and development  $ 1,219  $ 896 
General and administrative   645   400 
Total stock-based compensation expense  $ 1,864  $ 1,296 
 
As of December 31, 2023, there was $1.8 million of total unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to outstanding stock options that will be recognized over

a weighted average period of 1.2 years. As of December 31, 2023, there was $0.1 million of total unrecognized compensation expense related to outstanding RSUs that will be
recognized over a weighted average period of 0.1 years.

 
Stock Options
 

During the year ended December 31, 2023, we granted stock options to purchase 1,383,817 shares of common stock to certain employees and board members. The options
are exercisable for a period of ten years from the date of grant at a weighted average price of $1.22 per share, which was calculated at the fair value of our common stock on the
respective grant date. The options generally vest over a period of four years.

 
Stock Options (Service Vesting)
 
During the year ended December 31, 2023, 1,183,817 stock options subject to service vesting, were issued and valued at $1.2 million using the Black-Scholes option-

pricing model. During the year ended December 31, 2022, 866,471 stock options subject to service vesting, were issued and valued at $1.5 million using the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model. The calculated value of each option grant was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted-
average assumptions.

 
 2023  2022
Risk-free interest rate 3.99% to 4.79%  3.42% – 4.45%
Expected dividend yield 0%  0%
Expected volatility 100%  100%
Expected term 4.00-6.20 years  4.25-6.08 years
 

Stock Options (Market Conditions Vesting)
 
During the year ended December 31, 2023, 200,000 stock options, subject to market conditions which required our stock price to exceed $6.30 per share for three

consecutive days in the four years from grant date for the stock option to vest. These stock options with market conditions vesting were valued at $0.1 million. The fair value of
these options subject to market conditions were valued using the Monte-Carlo Simulation model with the following assumptions:

 
 ● Beginning Stock Price. We utilized the Company’s publicly traded share price as of the Valuation Date as the beginning stock value. At the Valuation

Date, the publicly traded common share price was $1.09 per share.
 

 ● Drift Rate. In determining the value of the instrument in the risk-neutral framework, risk-free rates were estimated based on the applicable treasury rate
for the projection period. For each simulation, the term of the risk-free rate was based on the term from the Valuation Date through the latest date on
which the award could vest (i.e., two years following the Performance Period End Date). Please note that, for the purposes of calculating the service
period associated with the Subject Interest, the Company’s cost of equity was utilized as the drift rate.
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 ● Volatility. The total equity volatility (standard deviation) was based on a total equity volatility analysis.
 

 ● Period. The period was measured as the number of years from the Valuation Date through the PSO expiration date (10 years following the date of grant).
 

 ● Dividends. The Company has not historically paid dividends. In addition, the Company does not expect to pay dividends going forward. As such, no
dividends were considered in our analysis.

 
Restricted Stock Units (RSUs)
 

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company granted 402,500 RSUs. These RSUs are subject to market conditions which required our stock price to exceed
$3.15 per share for three consecutive days in the four years from grant date for the RSUs to vest.

 
The steps involved in utilizing the Monte Carlo simulation in order to value the performance-based RSUs included the following:
 
1. Projection of the Company’s Common Stock Value. The performance-based RSUs were measured based on the Company’s underlying common stock value over the
performance period (four years following the Valuation Date). 
 
Additionally, we considered the two-year vesting period following achievement of the performance condition. Accordingly, our common stock value was simulated over a
six-year period to capture iterations through which the performance condition was satisfied on the Performance Period End Date. The analysis involved projecting our
common stock value starting with our current common stock value. The forecasted stock price was based on the Geometric Brownian motion (“GBM”), and the Monte
Carlo simulation generated random variables using the GBM to forecast our stock price on a daily basis over the specified period assuming 252 trading days per year. The
Monte Carlo simulation for the PSO utilized the following assumptions:
 
 ● Beginning Stock Price. As of the Valuation Date, we were a publicly traded company with an observable share price. Therefore, we utilized our publicly

traded share price as of the Valuation Date as the beginning stock value. At the Valuation Date, the Company’s publicly traded common share price was
$1.09 per share.

 
 ● Drift Rate. In determining the value of the instrument in the risk-neutral framework, risk free rates were estimated based on the applicable treasury rate

for the projection period. For each simulation, the term of the risk-free rate was based on the term from the Valuation Date through the latest date on
which the award could vest (i.e., two years following the Performance Period End Date). Please note that, for the purposes of calculating the service
period associated with the Subject Interest, our cost of equity was utilized as the drift rate.

  
 ● Volatility. The total equity volatility (standard deviation) was based on a total equity volatility analysis.
 
 ● Period. The period was measured as the number of years from the Valuation Date through the latest date on which the award could vest.
 
 ● Dividends. We have not historically paid dividends nor do we expect to pay dividends going forward. As such, no dividends were considered in our

analysis.
 
2. Consideration of the Performance-Vesting Schedule. As previously discussed, our publicly traded common share price must equal or exceed the Stock Price Hurdle
amount of $3.15 over a 3-consecutive-trading-day rolling period on or before the Performance Period End Date. If such performance condition is achieved, 1/3 of the
award shall vest on the Hurdle Achievement Date, 1/3 of the award shall vest one year following the Hurdle Achievement Date, and 1/3 of the award shall vest two years
following the Hurdle Achievement Date. 
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3. Performance-Based RSU Value Conclusion. The proceeds from the vesting of common shares were then discounted to the Valuation Date using the applicable risk-
free rate, which is consistent with the assumption utilized to project stock prices in our Monte Carlo simulation. The Monte Carlo simulation was then iterated 100,000
times and the concluded fair value of the performance-based RSUs was based on the average result from the simulation. For the purposes of calculating the weighted
service period associated with the Subject Interest, a separate simulation was performed using our cost of equity as the drift rate. The service period was then determined
based on the median Hurdle Achievement Date.
 

10. Income Taxes
 

As discussed in Note 1, Organization and Business Operations, Nano Precision Medical, Inc. and Second Sight Medical Products, Inc. merged on August 30, 2022. The
transaction was accounted for as a reverse merger business combination under GAAP. Accordingly, the consolidated income tax provision includes NPM for all periods
presented, and the legacy Second Sight business of Vivani since the date of the merger.

 
Due to the net losses in 2023 and 2022, the provision for income taxes consists only of minimum California franchise taxes presented in general and administrative

expenses.
 
The components of deferred income assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 are as follows (in thousands):

 
        
  December 31,  
  2023   2022  

Deferred Tax:         
Accruals and reserves  $ 1,101  $ 1,475 
Capitalized R&E §174   5,120   2,456 
Lease ROU   302   48 
Stock compensation   1,541   1,499 
Net operating loss   48,170   44,749 
R&D credit   6,770   6,319 
Gross deferred tax assets   63,004   56,546 

         
Investment in subsidiary   (1,924)   (1,510)
Accumulated depreciation and amortization   (200)   (202)
Gross deferred tax liabilities   (2,124)   (1,712)

         
Valuation Allowance   (60,880)   (54,834)

         
Total Deferred Tax Assets, Net  $ —  $ — 

         
Change in Valuation Allowance for the Year Ended  $ 6,046  $ 4,980 
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The reconciliation of income tax computed at the expected U.S. federal statutory tax rate of 21% to income tax expense (benefit) and the corresponding rate from

operations consist of the following (in thousands) for the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2022:
 

  For the Year Ended December 31,  
  2023   2022  
             

Pre-tax loss  $ (25,652)      $ (13,889)     
                 
Federal tax (benefit) at statutory rate  $ (5,387)   21.0% $ (2,916)   21.0%
State tax (benefit), net of federal tax benefit   (1,791)   7.0%  (1,073)   7.7%
R&D tax credit from current year   (1,050)   4.1%  (707)   5.1%
Impact on effective rate of loss eliminated in consolidation   —   —%  (311)   2.2%
Other   2,184   -8.5%  28   -2.0%
Change in valuation allowance   6,046   -23.6%  4,980   -35.9%
Total provision for income taxes  $ 2   0.0%  2   0.0%
 

Management assesses the available positive and negative evidence to estimate if sufficient future taxable income will be generated to utilize the existing deferred tax assets.
Based on this evaluation, as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, a full valuation allowance has been recorded because deferred tax assets have been assessed to be less than “more
likely than not” to be realized.

 
As of December 31, 2023, we had federal and apportioned state net operating loss (“NOL”) and federal and state R&D credit carry-forwards available to offset future

taxable income and income taxes as follows (in thousands):
 

  
As of

December 31, 2023  
Pre TCJA (Tax Cuts and Jobs Acts of 2017) period federal NOL carry-forward, begin expiring 2030  $ 47,353 
Post TCJA period federal NOL carry-forward, with no carry-forward limitation   136,332 
Total federal NOL carry-forward  $ 183,685 
     
 State NOL carry-forward, begin expiring 2030  $ 120,068 
     
Federal R&D tax credit carry-forward, begin expiring in 2036  $ 2,518 
State R&D carry-forward, no expiration date  $ 7,524 
     
Total R&E related deferred income tax assets (net of applicable amortization)  $ 5,120 
     
Reserve for uncertain income tax positions   Nil 
 

As of December 31, 2023, the Company has Federal and California research and development credit carryforwards of $2.5 million and $7.5 million, respectively. The
Federal research and development credit carryforwards will expire beginning in 2036 if not utilized. The California research and development credits have no expiration date.
 

Under recently enacted U.S. tax legislation, although the treatment of tax losses generated in taxable years ending before December 31, 2017, has generally not changed,
tax losses generated in taxable years beginning after December 31, 2017, may only be utilized to offset 80% of taxable income annually. This change may require NPM and
Legacy SSMP to pay federal income taxes in future years despite generating a loss for federal income tax purposes in prior years.
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To the extent that each of the tax filers continue to generate taxable losses, unused losses will carry-forward to offset future taxable income, if any, until these unused losses

expire. However, the tax filers may be unable to use these losses to offset taxable income before our unused losses expire at various dates that range from 2030 through 2037
for federal net operating losses generated before 2018. Federal net operating losses generated for year 2018 and forward do not expire. State net operating losses expire from
2030 through 2042. Under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the Code, if a corporation undergoes an “ownership change,” generally defined as
a greater than 50 percentage point change (by value) in its equity ownership over a three-year period, the corporation’s ability to use its pre-change net operating loss, or NOL,
carry-forwards to offset its post-change taxable income may be limited. Limitations may also apply to the utilization of other pre-change tax attributes as a result of an
ownership change.

 
Second Sight Medical Products, Inc. experienced an “ownership change” within the meaning of Section 382(g) of the Code during the third quarter of 2022 as a result of

the merger. The ownership change will subject its net operating loss carry-forwards to an annual limitation, which will significantly restrict its ability to use them to offset
taxable income in periods following the ownership change. In general, the annual use limitation equals the aggregate value of stock at the time of the ownership change
multiplied by a tax-exempt interest rate specified by the Internal Revenue Service. We have not yet fully analyzed the available information to determine the amount of the
annual limitation.

 
The Company has the following activity relating to unrecognized tax benefits (in thousands): 
 

       
  Year Ended December 31,  
  2023   2022  
Balance at beginning of year  $ —  $ — 
Increases based on tax positions related to the current year   262   — 
Increases based on tax positions related to prior years   1,430   — 
Reductions based on tax positions related to prior years   —   — 
Balance at end of year  $ 1,692  $ — 

 
As of December 31, 2023, the Company had $1.7 million of unrecognized tax benefits which are comprised of federal of $0.5 million and California of $1.2 million. The

Company’s unrecognized gross tax benefits would not reduce its annual effective tax rate if recognized because the Company has recorded a full valuation allowance on
deferred tax assets. The Company does not foresee any material changes to its gross unrecognized tax benefit within the next 12 months. The Company recognizes interest
and/or penalties related to income tax matters in income tax expense. The Company did not recognize any accrued interest and penalties related to gross unrecognized tax
benefits related to the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2022. All years are open for examination by federal and state authorities. The Company currently has no federal or
state tax examinations in progress. 

 
Beginning January 1, 2022, we are required to capitalize certain research and development expenditures in accordance with section 174 of the Internal Revenue Code, as

amended by the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017, instead of previously being allowed to expense. Amortization of such capitalized expenditures are allowed over a 5-year period
if incurred in the U.S. or a 15-year period if incurred outside the United States.

 
We file income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and various states and are subject to income tax examinations by federal tax authorities for tax years ended 2017

and later and by state authorities for tax years ended 2016 and later. We currently are not under examination by any tax authority. Our policy is to record interest and penalties
on uncertain tax positions as income tax expense. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, we have no accrued interest or penalties related to uncertain tax positions. Second Sight
Switzerland, our foreign subsidiary, has not had any taxable income in the prior and current years.

 
11. Right-of-use Assets and Operating Lease Liabilities
 

We lease certain office, laboratory, research and development space and equipment for our use. Leases with an initial term of 12 months or less are not recorded on the
balance sheet. Lease costs are recognized in the income statement over the lease term on a straight-line basis. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the
estimated useful life of the respective assets. The depreciable life of assets and leasehold improvements are limited by the expected lease term. Our lease agreements do not
contain any material residual value guarantees or restrictive covenants. As most of our leases do not provide an implicit rate, we used our estimated incremental borrowing rate
based on the information available at commencement date in determining the present value of lease payments.
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On November 21, 2022, Vivani entered into a triple net lease agreement for a single building with 43,645 square feet of space in Alameda, California. The stated term of

the lease commenced on June 1, 2023 and terminates on September 30, 2033, ten years and 4 months. The lease term is based on the non-cancellable period in the lease
agreement. There are two options to extend the lease, each for a term of five years; however, the extension options were not included in the measurement of the ROU asset and
lease liability since it is not reasonably certain that the Company will exercise such extension options. Payments increase annually from $2,676,311 to $3,596,784, or 124
monthly payments less the first four which are abated, totaling approximately $31.0 million. Vivani will be responsible for insurance, property taxes and common area
maintenance charges. Vivani deposited $1.3 million to guarantee a letter of credit to secure the lease and this amount is included in long-term assets on the balance sheet as of
December 31, 2023. The lease in Emeryville, California expired on September 30, 2023.

 
On February 1, 2023, we entered into a lease agreement, effective March 1, 2023, to sublease office space to replace Cortigent’s existing headquarters. Our rental payments

amount to $22,158 per month plus operating expenses, to lease 14,823 square feet of office space at 27200 Tourney Road, Valencia, California 91355. The sublease has a term
of two years and two months. We also entered into a lease for storage space on January 25, 2023, in the same building at a cost of $6,775 per month for a term of two years and
one month.

 
The following table summarizes supplemental balance sheet information related to the Company’s operating leases (in thousands):
 

    December 31,  
  Balance Sheet Classification  2023   2022  
Assets         

Non-current assets  Right-of-use assets  $ 19,616  $ 779 
Liabilities           

Current  Current operating lease liabilities  $ 1,383  $ 955 
Long-term  Long-term operating lease liabilities  $ 19,313  $ — 

 
Operating lease cost was $2.8 million and $0.9 million during 2023 and 2022, respectively. Variable lease cost, comprising primarily of common area maintenance charges

and taxes, for the operating lease was $1.1 million and $0.3 million during 2023 and 2022, respectively.
 
The following table summarizes a maturity analysis of our lease liabilities showing the aggregate lease payments as of December 31, 2023 (in thousands except weighted

average data):
 

Year Ending December 31,     
2024   $ 3,070 
2025    2,914 
2026    2,889 
2027    2,976 
2028    3,065 
Thereafter    15,861 
Total lease payments   30,775 
Less imputed interest    (10,079)
Total lease liabilities   $ 20,696 
      
Weighted average discount rate    8.41%
Weighted average remaining lease term    9.49 years 
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Other information related to leases are as follows (in thousands):
 

      
  Year ended December 31,  

  2023   2022  
Cash paid for operating lease liabilities  $ 1,932  $ 1,049 

 
12. Commitments and Contingencies
 
Indemnification Agreements
 

We maintain indemnification agreements with our directors and officers that may require us to indemnify them against liabilities that arise by reason of their status or
service as directors or officers, except as prohibited by applicable law.

 
Clinical Trial Agreements
 

Based upon FDA approval of Argus II, which was obtained in February 2013, we were required to collect follow-up data from subjects enrolled in our pre-approval trial for
a period of up to ten years post-implant, which was extended through the year 2019. This requirement to collect follow-up data was halted in 2020 with FDA approval. In
addition, we conducted three post-market studies to comply with U.S. FDA, French, and European post-market surveillance regulations and requirements and are conducting an
early feasibility clinical study of Orion. We have contracted with various universities, hospitals, and medical practices to provide these services. Payments are based on
procedures performed for each subject and are charged to clinical and regulatory expense as incurred. Total amounts expensed for the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2022
were $0.1 million and $0.2 million, respectively.

 
Litigation, Claims and Assessments
 

Three oppositions filed by Pixium Vision are pending in the European Patent Office, each challenging the validity of a European patent owned by Cortigent. The outcomes
of the challenges are not certain, however, if successful, they may affect our ability to block competitors from utilizing Cortigent’s neuromodulation patented technology. We
believe a successful challenge will not have a material effect on our ability to manufacture and sell our products, or otherwise have a material effect on Cortigent’s operations.

 
As described in the Company’s 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company had entered into a Memorandum of Understanding (“MOU”) for a proposed

business combination with Pixium Vision SA (“Pixium”). In response to a press release by Pixium dated March 24, 2021, and subsequent communications between us and
Pixium, our Board of Directors determined that the business combination with Pixium was not in the best interest of our shareholders. On April 1, 2021, we gave notice to
Pixium that we were terminating the MOU between the parties and seeking an amicable resolution of termination amounts that may be due, however no assurance can be given
that an amicable resolution will be reached. We accrued $1,000,000 of liquidated damages as contemplated by the MOU in accounts payable as of March 31, 2021 and remitted
that amount to Pixium in April 2021. Pixium indicated that it considered this termination wrongful, rejected the Company’s offers, but retained the $1,000,000 payment. On
May 19, 2021, Pixium filed suit in the Paris Commercial Court, and currently claim damages of approximately €5.1 million or about $5.6 million. We believe we have fulfilled
our obligations to Pixium with the liquidated damages payment of $1,000,000. On December 8, 2022, the Company received notice that the Paris Commercial Court has
rendered its judgement, including finding that the Company’s termination of the MOU was not valid. In the judgment, the Company was ordered to pay to Pixium the amount
of €2,500,000 minus a €947,780 credit for the $1,000,000 already paid for, a net amount payable of approximately €1,552,220. On May 24, 2023, the Company filed an appeal
against the judgment from the Paris Commercial Court except in so far as such prior judgment dismissed (i) Pixium’s claim for the Company to pay it a sum of €480,693
relating to the alleged time spent by its teams, (ii) Pixium’s application to order the Company to pay it a sum of €1,500,000 in respect to alleged loss of opportunity and (iii)
deducted the sum of $1,000,000 that we already paid Pixium and which Pixium retained. Thereafter Pixium filed its brief with Paris Court of Appeal and filed a cross-appeal on
January 18, 2024. Meanwhile, the Company received notice that the Paris Commercial Court in its judgment dated January 31, 2024 converted Pixium’s receivership
proceedings to liquidation proceedings and that Pixium’s liquidator is due to intervene in the pending proceedings before the Paris Court of Appeal. The Company recorded a
charge of $1,675,000 for the year ended December 31, 2022 related to this matter but plans to continue its appeal against the preliminary judgment. 

 
We are party to litigation arising in the ordinary course of business. It is our opinion that the outcome of such matters will not have a material effect on our results of

operations, however, the results of litigation and claims are inherently unpredictable. Regardless of the outcome, litigation can have an adverse impact on us because of defense
and settlement costs, diversion of management resources and other factors. 
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13. Subsequent Event
  

The Company evaluated subsequent events for recognition and disclosure through the date the financial statements were issued or filed. Nothing has occurred outside
normal operations that required recognition or disclosure in these financial statements except as follows:

 
On March 1, 2024, the Company entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement with an institutional investor (the “Securities Purchase Agreement”) relating to the

issuance of 3,947,368 shares of the Company’s common stock, par value of $0.0001 per share (the “Common Stock”) and warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 3,947,368
shares of Common Stock (the “Warrant”), to such investor at a purchase price of $3.80 per share and accompanying warrant in a registered direct offering (the “Offering”). The
Warrant has an exercise price of $3.80 per share, is exercisable immediately upon issuance and will expire three years following the date of issuance. The Company also entered
into a Placement Agency Agreement with Maxim Group LLC (“Maxim” and such agreement, the “Placement Agency Agreement,” and together with the Securities Purchase
Agreement, the “Agreements”), who acted as the sole placement agent for the Offering.

 
The gross proceeds from the Offering will be approximately $15.0 million, before paying the placement agent fees and other estimated offering expenses. The Offering is

being made pursuant to the shelf registration statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-256904) previously filed by the Company with the SEC on June 8, 2021 and declared
effective on June 14, 2021. The Offering is made only by means of a prospectus forming a part of the effective registration statement and a prospectus supplement relating to
the Offering.

 
Pursuant to the terms of the Securities Purchase Agreement, until 45 days following the closing of the Offering, the Company has agreed not to issue (or enter into any

agreement to issue) any shares of Common Stock or Common Stock equivalents, subject to certain exceptions. The Company has further agreed not to enter into an agreement
involving a variable rate transaction until one year following the closing of the Offering. In addition, the Company’s directors and officers have entered into lock-up agreements
with the Company pursuant to which each of them has agreed not to, for a period of 90 days from the closing of the Offering, offer, sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of the
Company’s securities, subject to certain exceptions.

 
In connection with the Placement Agency Agreement, the Company agreed to pay Maxim an aggregate cash fee of 7.0% of the aggregate proceeds raised from the sale

and issuance of the shares of Common Stock and accompanying Warrants. Pursuant to the Placement Agency Agreement, the Company also agreed to reimburse Maxim up to
$65,000 for its legal expenses.
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Exhibit 4.5

 
DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK

 
The following description summarizes certain important terms of the capital stock of Vivani Medical, Inc. (the “Company,” “Vivani,” “we,” “us,” and “our”) as of the date of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K (the “Annual Report” or “Form 10-K”) as specified in our Certification of Incorporation (the “Certificate of Incorporation”) and our
Bylaws (the “Bylaws”). Because the following description is only a summary, it does not contain all the information that may be important to you. For a complete description
of the matters set forth in this exhibit titled “Description of Securities,” you should refer to the Certificate of Incorporation and the Bylaws, which are included as exhibits to
this Form 10-K of which this Exhibit 4.5 is a part, and to the applicable provisions of Delaware General Corporation Law (the “DGCL”).
 
General
 
The rights of the holders of our Common Stock are governed by the DGCL, our Certificate of Incorporation, and our Bylaws.
 
Our authorized capital stock consists of Three Hundred Million (300,000,000) shares of common stock, par value $0.0001 per share (the “Common Stock”) and Ten Million
(10,000,000) shares of undesignated preferred stock, par value $0.0001 per share (the “Undesignated Preferred Stock”).
 
Common Stock
 
Voting Rights. Each share of our Common Stock is entitled to one vote on all stockholder matters. Shares of our Common Stock do not possess any cumulative voting rights.
Except for the election of directors, if a quorum is present at any meeting of stockholders, an action on a matter is approved if it receives the affirmative vote of the majority of
the votes properly cast for such matter, unless otherwise required by applicable law, the Certificate of Incorporation, or Bylaws. The election of directors by stockholders will
be determined by a plurality of the votes properly cast. The rights, preferences, and privileges of holders of Common Stock are subject to, and may be impacted by, the rights of
the holders of shares of any series of preferred stock that we have designated, or may designate and issue in the future.
 
Dividend Rights. Holders of our Common Stock are entitled to receive dividends ratably, if any, as may be declared by our board of directors out of legally available funds,
subject to preferential dividend rights of any preferred stock then outstanding.
 
Liquidation and Dissolution Rights. Upon voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up, our net assets shall be distributed pro rata to the holders of our
Common Stock.
 
Other Rights. Holders of our Common Stock are not entitled to preemptive, subscription, redemption, or conversion rights, and no sinking fund provisions are applicable to our
Common Stock.
 
Trading Market. Our Common Stock is listed for trading on the NASDAQ Capital Market under the symbol “VANI.”
 
Undesignated Preferred Stock
 
Our board of directors has the authority, without further action by our stockholders, to issue up to 10,000,000 shares of Undesignated Preferred Stock in one or more series and
to fix the rights, preferences, privileges, and restrictions thereof. These rights, preferences, and privileges could include dividend rights, conversion rights, voting rights, terms
of redemption, liquidation preferences, sinking fund terms, and the number of shares constituting, or the designation of, such series, any or all of which may be greater than the
rights of Common Stock. The issuance of our preferred stock could adversely affect the voting power of holders of our Common Stock and the likelihood that such holders will
receive dividend payments and payments upon our liquidation. In addition, the issuance of preferred stock could have the effect of delaying, deferring, or preventing a change
in control of our Company or other corporate action.
 

 



 

 
Anti-Takeover Effects of our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws and Delaware Law
 
Our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws include a number of provisions that may have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing another party from acquiring control
of us and encouraging persons considering unsolicited tender offers or other unilateral takeover proposals to negotiate with our board of directors rather than pursue non-
negotiated takeover attempts. These provisions include the items described below.
 
Removal of Directors and Filling of Vacancies
 
Our Certificate of Incorporation provide that directors may be removed only for cause and only upon the affirmative vote of holders of not less than two-thirds (2/3) of the
outstanding shares of capital stock then entitled to vote at an election of directors. Furthermore, at least forty-five (45) days prior to any annual or special meeting of
stockholders at which it is proposed that any director be removed from office, written notice of such proposed removal, and the alleged grounds thereof shall be sent to the
director whose removal will be considered at the meeting. Our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws provide that, subject to the rights, if any, of the holders of any series of
Undesignated Preferred Stock to elect directors and to fill vacancies in the board of directors related thereto, any and all vacancies in the board of directors, however occurring,
including, without limitation, by reason of an increase in the size of the board of directors, or the death, resignation, disqualification, or removal of a director, shall be filled
solely and exclusively by the affirmative vote of a majority of the remaining directors then in office, even if less than a quorum of the board of directors, and not by the
stockholders. Any director appointed in accordance with the preceding sentence shall hold office for the remainder of the full term for which the new directorship was created
or the vacancy occurred and until such director’s successor shall have been duly elected and qualified or until his or her earlier resignation, death, or removal. The limitations
on removal of directors and treatment of vacancies has the effect of making it more difficult for stockholders to change the composition of our board of directors.
 
No Written Consent of Stockholders
 
Our Certificate of Incorporation provides that any action required or permitted to be taken by the stockholders of the Company at any annual or special meeting of stockholders
of the Company must be effected at a duly called annual or special meeting of stockholders and may not be taken or effected by a written consent of stockholders in lieu
thereof. This limit may lengthen the amount of time required to take stockholder actions and would prevent the amendment of our Bylaws or removal of directors by our
stockholders without holding a meeting of stockholders.
 
Special Meetings of Stockholders
 
Our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws provide that special meetings of stockholders may be called only by the board of directors acting pursuant to a resolution approved
by the affirmative vote of a majority of the directors then in office, and special meetings of stockholders may not be called by any other person or persons.
 
Amendment to Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws by Stockholders
 
As required by the DGCL, any amendment of our Certificate of Incorporation must first be approved by a majority of our board of directors, and if required by law or our
Certificate of Incorporation, must thereafter be approved by a majority of the outstanding shares entitled to vote on the amendment and a majority of the outstanding shares of
each class entitled to vote thereon as a class. Our Bylaws may be amended by the affirmative vote of a majority of the directors then in office, subject to any limitations set
forth in the Bylaws, and may also be amended at any annual meeting or special meeting called for such purpose by the affirmative vote of the majority of the outstanding shares
entitled to vote on the amendment, in each case voting together as a single class.
 
Undesignated Preferred Stock
 
Our Certificate of Incorporation provides for 10,000,000 authorized shares of Undesignated Preferred Stock. The existence of authorized but unissued shares of preferred stock
may enable our board of directors to discourage an attempt to obtain control of us by means of a merger, tender offer, proxy contest, or otherwise. For example, if in the due
exercise of its fiduciary obligations, our board of directors were to determine that a takeover proposal is not in the best interests of our stockholders, our board of directors
could cause shares of preferred stock to be issued without stockholder approval in one or more private offerings or other transactions that might dilute the voting or other rights
of the proposed acquirer or insurgent stockholder or stockholder group. In this regard, our Certificate of Incorporation grants our board of directors broad power to establish the
rights and preferences of authorized and unissued shares of preferred stock. The issuance of shares of preferred stock could decrease the amount of earnings and assets available
for distribution to holders of shares of our Common Stock. The issuance may also adversely affect the rights and powers, including voting rights, of these holders and may have
the effect of delaying, deterring or preventing a change in control of us.
 

 



 

 
Choice of Forum
 
Our Bylaws provide that unless the Company consents in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware shall be the sole and
exclusive forum for (i) any derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of the Company, (ii) any action asserting a claim of, or a claim based on, a breach of a fiduciary
duty owed by any current or former director, officer, or other employee or stockholder of the Company to the Company or the Company’s stockholders, (iii) any action
asserting a claim arising pursuant to any provision of the DGCL or the Certificate of Incorporation or the Bylaws (including the interpretation, validity or enforceability thereof)
or as to which the DGCL confers jurisdiction on the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware, or (iv) any action asserting a claim governed by the internal affairs doctrine;
provided, however, that this sentence will not apply to any causes of action arising under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act, or to any claim for
which the federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction. In addition, unless the Company consents in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the federal district courts of
the United States of America shall be the sole and exclusive forum for resolving any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended,
the Exchange Act, or the respective rules and regulations promulgated thereunder (the “Federal Forum Provision”). These forum provisions may impose additional costs on
stockholders, may limit our stockholders’ ability to bring a claim in a forum they find favorable, and the designated courts may reach different judgements or results than other
courts. In addition, there is uncertainty as to whether our Federal Forum Provision will be enforced, which may impose additional costs on us and our stockholders.
 
Advance Notice Requirements
 
Our Bylaws establish advance notice procedures with regard to stockholder proposals relating to the nomination of candidates for election as directors or new business to be
brought before meetings of our stockholders. These procedures provide that notice of stockholder proposals must be timely given in writing to our corporate secretary prior to
the meeting at which the action is to be taken. Generally, to be timely, notice must be received at our principal executive offices not less than 90 days nor more than 120 days
prior to the first anniversary date of the annual meeting for the preceding year. Our Bylaws specify the requirements as to form and content of all stockholders’ notices. These
requirements may preclude stockholders from bringing matters before the stockholders at an annual or special meeting.
 
Anti-Takeover Effects Under Section 203 of DGCL
 
Section 203 of the DGCL prohibits a Delaware corporation from engaging in any “business combination” with any “interested stockholder” for a period of three years after the
date that such stockholder became an interested stockholder, unless the business combination is approved in a prescribed manner. Under Section 203, a business combination
between a corporation and an interested stockholder is prohibited unless it satisfies one of the following conditions:
 

● before the stockholder became interested, our board of directors approved either the business combination or the transaction which resulted in the stockholder
becoming an interested stockholder;

 
● upon consummation of the transaction which resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder, the interested stockholder owned at least 85% of the

voting stock of the corporation outstanding at the time the transaction commenced, excluding for purposes of determining the voting stock outstanding, shares owned
by persons who are directors and also officers, and employee stock plans, in some instances, but not the outstanding voting stock owned by the interested stockholder;
or

 

 



 

 
● at or after the time the stockholder became interested, the business combination was approved by our board of directors and authorized at an annual or special meeting

of the stockholders by the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of the outstanding voting stock which is not owned by the interested stockholder.
 
Section 203 defines a business combination to include:
 

● any merger or consolidation involving the corporation and the interested stockholder;
 

● any sale, transfer, lease, pledge, exchange, mortgage, or other disposition involving the interested stockholder of 10% or more of the assets of the corporation;
 

● subject to exceptions, any transaction that results in the issuance or transfer by the corporation of any stock of the corporation to the interested stockholder;
 

● subject to exceptions, any transaction involving the corporation that has the effect of increasing the proportionate share of the stock of any class or series of the
corporation beneficially owned by the interested stockholder; or

 
● the receipt by the interested stockholder of the benefit of any loans, advances, guarantees, pledges, or other financial benefits provided by or through the corporation.

 
In general, Section 203 defines an interested stockholder as any entity or person beneficially owning 15% or more of the outstanding voting stock of the corporation and any
entity or person affiliated with or controlling or controlled by the entity or person.
 
Transfer Agent and Registrar
 
The transfer agent and registrar for our Common Stock is Vstock Transfer LLP. The transfer agent and registrar’s address is 18 Lafayette Place, Woodmere, New York 11598,
and its telephone number is (212) 828-8436.
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March 11, 2023

 
Jonathan Adams 
[address]
 
Re: Employment Terms—Chief Executive Officer
 
Dear Jonathan Adams:
 

Cortigent, Inc. (the “Company”) is pleased to offer you full-time employment for the position of President and Chief Executive Officer effective as of March 1, 2023, or any
other start date that may be mutually agreeable. In this position you will have leading executive and operating responsibility/accountability for all elements of the business. You
will report directly to the entire Board of Directors of the Company (“Board”) in its sole discretion, and you will have a seat on the Board once the Company completes its IPO
(note: As an employee, there is no compensation for being a board member). In the course of your employment with the Company, you will be subject to and required to
comply with all company policies, and applicable laws and regulations.

 
You will be paid a base salary at the rate of $350,000 per year (subject to required tax withholding and other authorized deductions). Your base salary will be payable in

accordance with the Company’s standard payroll policies and subject to adjustment pursuant to the Company’s policies as in effect from time to time.
 
Subject to approval of the Board in its sole discretion you will be eligible to receive a one-time signing bonus of up to $50,000 within 45 days after the Company completes

its IPO.
 
In connection with entering into this offer letter, following the commencement of your employment with the Company, and upon Board approval in its sole discretion, you

will also be issued an option following completion of the IPO to purchase 400,000 shares of Cortigent common stock (the “CEO Options”) according to Cortigent’s 2023
Omnibus Incentive Plan when adopted. The strike price per share will be the price at which shares are sold to the public in the IPO. Vesting of the CEO Options will be as
follows: (i) 100,000 shall vest on November 10, 2023; and (ii) the balance shall vest in approximately equal monthly installments over the ensuing 36 months.

 
You will be eligible to participate in all employee benefits and benefit plans that the Company generally makes available to other similarly situated employees of the

Company. The Company reserves the right to terminate, modify or add to its benefits and benefit plans at any time. As a condition of employment, you will be required to (1)
sign and comply with an Employee Invention, Trade Secret and Confidentiality Agreement, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit A which, among other things,
prohibits unauthorized use or disclosure of Company proprietary information, (2) sign and return a satisfactory I-9 Immigration form attached hereto as Exhibit B and provide
sufficient documentation establishing your employment eligibility in the United States of America (enclosed is a list of acceptable INS Form I-9 documentation), (3) provide
satisfactory proof of your identity as required by United States law, (4) sign the Travel Reimbursement Agreement attached hereto as Exhibit C, and (5) sign the Arbitration
Agreement attached hereto as Exhibit D. By signing below, you represent that your performance of services to the Company will not violate any duty which you may have to
any other person or entity (such as a present or former employer), including obligations concerning providing services (whether or not competitive) to others, confidentiality of
proprietary information and assignment of inventions, ideas, patents or copyrights, and you agree that you will not do anything in the performance of services hereunder that
would violate any such duty.

 
Cortigent, Inc. 
27200 Tourney Road, Suite 315 
Valencia, CA 91342 USA 
www.cortigent.com
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Notwithstanding any of the above, no assurance of any minimum term of employment is granted hereby. Your employment with the Company is entirely “at will”. This

means that it is not for any specified period of time and can be terminated by you or by the Company at any time, with or without advance notice, and for any or no particular
reason or cause. It also means that your job duties, title and responsibility and reporting level, work schedule, compensation and benefits, as well as the Company’s personnel
policies and procedures, may be changed with prospective effect, with or without notice, at any time in the sole discretion of the Company.

 
You have been working as a consultant to the Company since November 12, 2022. The Consulting Agreement, dated November 14, 2022, will be terminated upon your

acceptance of this agreement.
 
If you accept this offer, this letter, the Employee Invention, Trade Secret, and Confidentiality Agreement, the Travel Reimbursement Agreement and the Arbitration

Agreement, the “(Employment Agreements”) the Proprietary Information and Inventions Assignment Agreement shall constitute the complete agreement between you and
Company with respect to the terms and conditions of your employment. Any prior or contemporaneous representations (whether oral or written) not contained in the
Employment Agreements or contrary to those contained in the Employment Agreements that may have been made to you are expressly cancelled and superseded by this offer.
While other terms and conditions of your employment may change in the future, the at-will nature of your employment may not be changed, except in a subsequent letter or
written agreement, signed by you and by a duly authorized member of the Board of Directors.

 
Please sign and date the Employment Agreements and return them to me at [email address]. Should you have any questions regarding the details of this offer, please contact

Adam Mendelsohn at [phone].
 
Please be advised that this offer is contingent upon satisfactory reference and background checks.

 
Sincerely,
 
/Adam Mendelsohn/
 
Adam Mendelsohn 
Cortigent, Inc. 
Sole Director
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Accepted by:
 
/Jonathan Adams/ 
Jonathan Adams
 
March 13, 2023 
Date
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Exhibit A

 
●         CORTIGENT, INC.

 
●         EMPLOYEE INVENTION, TRADE SECRET

●         AND CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION (“AGREEMENT”)
 

This Agreement is entered into between Cortigent, Inc. (hereinafter “Company”) and the Undersigned Employee (hereinafter “Employee”).
 
In exchange for the salary or wages paid to Employee by Company, Company and Employee agree that during the course of Employee’s employment, Company expects
Employee to develop, and/or receive inventions, trade secrets, and confidential information relating to Company’s business and to its actual and anticipated research or
development.
 

(1) Employee will, during the term of their employment and thereafter, keep confidential and refrain from using or disclosing to others all confidential information1 and
trade secrets of Company, which Employee develops or learns about during the course of their employment.
 
(2) As to all inventions made by Employee during the term of their employment, solely or jointly with others, which are made with Company’s equipment, supplies,
facilities, trade secrets or time, or which relate to the business of Company or the Company’s actual or demonstrably anticipated research or development, or which result
from any work performed by Employee for Company, Employee agrees that such inventions shall belong to Company and they promise to assign such inventions to
Company and to cooperate with Company to obtain patents on the inventions for Company in the United States and all foreign countries. Employee also agrees that
Company shall have the right, at its sole discretion, to keep such inventions as trade secrets. Employee agrees to assign to Company their rights, in any other inventions
where Company is required to grant those rights to the U.S. Government or any agency thereof. Employee agrees to sign all documents required to obtain patent
protection or to assign their rights to the Company. The obligation to sign documents shall extend after employment for inventions made during employment.
 
(3) This agreement does not apply to any inventions that are the subject of Section 2870 of the California Labor Code.2

 
 
 

1Confidential information includes information received from third parties under an obligation of nondisclosure, as well as all proprietary and confidential
information developed by or for Company.

 
2Sec.2870. Employment agreements; assignment of rights:
 

(a) Any provision in an employment agreement which provides that an employee shall assign or offer to assign any of his or her rights in an invention to his or her
employer shall not apply to an invention that the employee developed entirely on his or her own time without using the employer’s equipment, supplies, facilities, or trade
secret information except for those inventions that either:

 
(1) Relate at the time of conception or reduction to practice of the invention to the employer’s business, or actual or demonstrably anticipated research or

development of the employer.
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(4) The Employee agrees to assign all copyrights and trademarks on any works of authorship created by the Employee in the course of their work for the Company.
 
Signed at Chicago, Illinois this 13th day of March, 2023.
 
/Jonathan Adams/  Jonathan Adams
Employee Signature  Print Name

 
 

(2) Result from any work performed by the employee for the employer.
 

(b) To the extent a provision in an employment agreement purports to require an employee to assign an invention otherwise excluded from being required to be assigned
under subdivision (a), the provision is against the public policy of this state and is unenforceable.

 
(Added by Stats. 1979, c.1001, p.3401, Sec. 1. Amended by Stats. 1986, c.346, Sec. 1.) 
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Exhibit B
I-9 Form
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Exhibit C

Travel Reimbursement Agreement
 

This agreement is between Cortigent, Inc. (the “Company”) and Jonathan Adams (“Adams”), and is intended to document Adams’ primary work location. With entering into the
employment letter dated herewith between Adams and the Company, it is the Company’s understanding that Adams’ maintains an office in his home located at [Address]
(“Home Office”) and that Adams’ primary work location has, and continues to be, the Home Office. Adams’ duties and responsibilities as the Company’s President and Chief
Executive Officer are broad and require significant travel on behalf of the Company. In order to perform Adams’ duties for the necessity and in the best interests of the
Company, Adams is required to apply his own judgment to determine the location and timing of travel, which is hereby acknowledged. For example, such travel may include,
but is not limited to, visits to the Company’s headquarters in Valencia, California, as well as various locations throughout the world to visit physicians, clinical sites, employees,
distributors, investors, analysts, trade shows, and meetings and conferences.
 
Therefore, all reasonable travel and related costs to and from the Home Office is eligible for direct reimbursement in accordance with the Company’s Travel and Expense
Policy. If Adams has any questions regarding this Agreement or the Company’s Travel and Expense Policy, they should be directed to Adam Mendelsohn, Chairman, or Scott
Dunbar, Compliance Officer, any time. A copy of this Agreement shall be filed in Adams’ personnel file and included as an exhibit for the acknowledgment of the
Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors at its next meeting.
 
Cortigent, Inc.  Jonathan Adams
   
By: /Adam Mendelsohn/  /Jonathan Adams/
Adam Mendelsohn   
Sole Director   
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●         EXHIBIT D

 
●         CORTIGENT, INC.

●
ARBITRATION AGREEMENT

 
This Agreement to arbitrate all disputes arising from employment is between Jonathan Adams, “Employee” and Cortigent, Inc., “Company”.
 

A. In the event of any dispute, claim or controversy between Employee and Company, its directors, officers, employees or agents, both parties agree to submit such
dispute, claim or controversy to final and binding arbitration, including, but not limited to, claims for breach of contract, civil torts and employment discrimination
such as, violation of the Fair Employment and Housing Act, Title VII of the Civil Rights Act, Age Discrimination in Employment Act, as modified by the Older
Worker’s Protection Act, and other employment laws.

 
B. The arbitration shall be conducted by a single arbitrator selected either by mutual agreement of Employee and Company or, if they cannot agree, from an odd-

numbered list of experienced employment law arbitrators provided by the American Arbitration Association. Each party shall strike one arbitrator from the list
alternately until only one arbitrator remains.

 
C. The arbitrator shall have all powers conferred by law and a judgment may be entered on the award by a court of law having jurisdiction. The award and judgment shall

be in writing and will contain the findings and conclusions on which the award is based. The award will be binding and final on both parties, subject to limited review
by a court to confirm that the arbitrator complied with the law.

 
D. Each party shall have the right to conduct reasonable discovery, as determined by the arbitrator as provided in California Code of Civil Procedure Section 1283.5(a).

 
E. The Company will pay the arbitrator’s fees and costs and the costs of the arbitration hearing.

 
F. This Agreement shall continue during the term of employment and thereafter regarding any employment-related disputes. This Agreement may only be modified by

written mutual agreement of both parties.
 

G. Employee has been advised to seek advice from an attorney regarding the effect of this Agreement prior to signing it.
 

H. Employee and Company understand that by signing this Agreement, they give up their right to a civil trial and their right to a trial by jury.
 

I. If any of the provisions of this Agreement are found null, void or inoperative, for any reason, the remaining provisions will remain in full force and effect.
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/Jonathan Adams/  March 13, 2023
Jonathan Adams  Date
   
/Adam Mendelsohn/  March 11, 2023
Cortigent, Inc.  Date
Adam Mendelsohn   
Sole Director   
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LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT

 
The following are the subsidiaries of Vivani Medical, Inc, omitting certain subsidiaries which, considered in the aggregate, would not constitute a significant subsidiary: 
   

Name  
State or Other Jurisdiction

of Organization
Cortigent, Inc.  Delaware
Nano Precision Medical, Inc.  California
Vivani Medical Australia Pty Ltd  Australia
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CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

 
We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-3 (333-221228, 333-255267 and 333-256904) and Form S-8 (Nos. 333-204241,
333-213184, 333-218016, 333-219737, 333-237266 and 333-267271) of our report dated March 26, 2024, relating to the consolidated financial statements of Vivani Medical,
Inc. as of and for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, which appears in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
 
/s/ BPM LLP
 
March 26, 2024 
Walnut Creek, California 
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CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-
OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
I, Adam Mendelsohn, hereby certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Vivani Medical, Inc.;
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light

of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,

results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules

13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
 
 
 

(a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

 
 (b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide

reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

 
 (c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure

controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 
 (d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the

registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of the annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors

and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 
 (a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely

affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 
 (b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial

reporting.
 
Date: March 26, 2024 /s/ Adam Mendelsohn
 Adam Mendelsohn
 Chief Executive Officer
 (Principal Executive Officer)
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CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 

PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-
OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
I, Brigid Makes, certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Vivani Medical, Inc.;
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in

light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,

results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules

13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
 
 (a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material

information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

 
 (b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide

reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

 
 (c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the

disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 
 (d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the

registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s

auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 
 (a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely

affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 
 (b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial

reporting.
 
Date: March 26, 2024 /s/ Brigid Makes
 Brigid Makes
 Chief Financial Officer
 (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
   

 

 
 



 
Exhibit 32.1

 
Certifications of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-

Oxley Act of 2002
 

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. 1350), Adam Mendelsohn, Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer) and Brigid
Makes, Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer) of Vivani Medical, Inc. (the “Company”), each hereby certifies that, to the best of his knowledge:

 
1. The Annual Report of the Company on Form 10-K (the “Report”) for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023, to which this Certification is attached as Exhibit 32.1,

fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 
2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 
Date: March 26, 2024 /s/ Adam Mendelsohn
 Adam Mendelsohn
 Chief Executive Officer
 (Principal Executive Officer)
  
Date: March 26, 2024 /s/ Brigid Makes
 Brigid Makes
 Chief Financial Officer
 (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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VIVANI MEDICAL, INC.

 
COMPENSATION RECOVERY POLICY

 
Adopted as of August 10, 2023

 
Vivani Medical, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), has adopted a Compensation Recovery Policy (this “Policy”) as described below.
 

1. Overview
 
The Policy sets forth the circumstances and procedures under which the Company shall recover Erroneously Awarded Compensation from current and former Executive
Officers of the Company in accordance with rules issued by the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the “Exchange Act”) and the Nasdaq Stock Market. Please refer to Section 3 below for definitions of capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined herein.
 

2. Compensation Recovery Requirement
 
In the event the Company is required to prepare a Material Financial Restatement, the Company shall reasonably promptly recover all Erroneously Awarded Compensation with
respect to such Material Financial Restatement, and each Covered Person shall be required to take all actions necessary to enable such recovery.
 

3. Definitions
 

a. “Applicable Recovery Period” means with respect to a Material Financial Restatement, the three completed fiscal years immediately preceding the Restatement
Date for such Material Financial Restatement. In addition, in the event the Company has changed its fiscal year: (i) any transition period of less than nine
months occurring within or immediately following such three completed fiscal years shall also be part of such Applicable Recovery Period and (ii) any
transition period of nine to 12 months will be deemed to be a completed fiscal year.

 
b. “Applicable Rules” means any rules or regulations adopted by the Exchange pursuant to Rule 10D-1 under the Exchange Act and any applicable rules or

regulations adopted by the SEC pursuant to Section 10D of the Exchange Act.
 

c. “Board” means the Board of Directors of the Company.
 

d. “Committee” means the Compensation Committee of the Board or, in the absence of such committee, a majority of independent directors serving on the Board.
 

e. A “Covered Person” means any Executive Officer. A person’s status as a Covered Person with respect to Erroneously Awarded Compensation shall be
determined as of the time of receipt of such Erroneously Awarded Compensation regardless of their current role or status with the Company (e.g., if a person
began service as an Executive Officer after the beginning of an Applicable Recovery Period, that person would not be considered a Covered Person with respect
to Erroneously Awarded Compensation received before the person began service as an Executive Officer, but would be considered a Covered Person with
respect to Erroneously Awarded Compensation received after the person began service as an Executive Officer where such person served as an Executive
Officer at any time during the performance period for such Erroneously Awarded Compensation).
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f. “Effective Date” means August, 11, 2023

 
g. “Erroneously Awarded Compensation” means, with respect to a Material Financial Restatement, the amount of any Incentive-Based Compensation received by a

Covered Person on or after the Effective Date during the Applicable Recovery Period that exceeds the amount that otherwise would have been received by the
Covered Person had such compensation been determined based on the restated amounts in the Material Financial Restatement, computed without regard to any
taxes paid. Calculation of Erroneously Awarded Compensation with respect to Incentive-Based Compensation based on stock price or total shareholder return,
where the amount of Erroneously Awarded Compensation is not subject to mathematical recalculation directly from the information in a Material Financial
Restatement, shall be based on a reasonable estimate of the effect of the Material Financial Restatement on the stock price or total shareholder return upon
which the Incentive-Based Compensation was received, and the Company shall maintain documentation of the determination of such reasonable estimate and
provide such documentation to the Exchange in accordance with the Applicable Rules.

 
h. “Exchange” means The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC.

 
i. An “Executive Officer” means any person who served the Company in any of the following roles, received Incentive-Based Compensation after beginning

service in any such role (regardless of whether such Incentive-Based Compensation was received during or after such person’s service in such role) and
served in such role at any time during the performance period for such Incentive-Based Compensation: the president, the principal financial officer, the
principal accounting officer (or if there is no such accounting officer the controller), any vice president in charge of a principal business unit, division or
function (such as sales, administration or finance), any other officer who performs a policy making function, or any other person who performs similar policy
making functions for the Company. Executive officers of parents or subsidiaries of the Company may be deemed executive officers of the Company if they
perform such policy making functions for the Company.

 
j. “Financial Reporting Measures” mean measures that are determined and presented in accordance with the accounting principles used in preparing the

Company’s financial statements, any measures that are derived wholly or in part from such measures (including, for example, a non-GAAP financial measure),
and stock price and total shareholder return.
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k. “Incentive-Based Compensation” means any compensation provided, directly or indirectly, by the Company or any of its subsidiaries that is granted, earned, or

vested based, in whole or in part, upon the attainment of a Financial Reporting Measure. Incentive-Based Compensation is deemed received, earned or vested
when the Financial Reporting Measure is attained, not when the actual payment, grant or vesting occurs.

 
l. A “Material Financial Restatement” means an accounting restatement of previously issued financial statements of the Company due to the material

noncompliance of the Company with any financial reporting requirement under the securities laws, including any required accounting restatement to correct an
error in previously-issued financial statements that is material to the previously-issued financial statements or that would result in a material misstatement if the
error were corrected in the current period or left uncorrected in the current period.

 
m. “Restatement Date” means, with respect to a Material Financial Restatement, the earlier to occur of: (i) the date the Board or the Audit Committee of the

Board concludes, or reasonably should have concluded, that the Company is required to prepare the Material Financial Restatement or (ii) the date a court,
regulator or other legally authorized body directs the Company to prepare the Material Financial Restatement.

 
4. Exception to Compensation Recovery Requirement
 
The Company may elect not to recover Erroneously Awarded Compensation pursuant to this Policy if the Committee determines that recovery would be impracticable, and one
or more of the following conditions, together with any further requirements set forth in the Applicable Rules, are met: (i) the direct expense paid to a third party to assist in
enforcing this Policy would exceed the amount to be recovered, and the Company has made a reasonable attempt to recover such Erroneously Awarded Compensation; or (ii)
recovery would likely cause an otherwise tax-qualified retirement plan to fail to be so qualified under applicable regulations.
 

5. Tax Considerations
 
To the extent that, pursuant to this Policy, the Company is entitled to recover any Erroneously Awarded Compensation that is received by a Covered Person, the gross amount
received (i.e., the amount the Covered Person received, or was entitled to receive, before any deductions for tax withholding or other payments) shall be returned by the
Covered Person.
 

6. Method of Compensation Recovery
 
The Committee shall determine, in its sole discretion, the method for recovering Erroneously Awarded Compensation hereunder, which may include, without limitation, any
one or more of the following:
 

a. requiring reimbursement of cash Incentive-Based Compensation previously paid;
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b. seeking recovery of any gain realized on the vesting, exercise, settlement, sale, transfer or other disposition of any equity-based awards;

 
c. cancelling or rescinding some or all outstanding vested or unvested equity-based awards;

 
d. adjusting or withholding from unpaid compensation or other set-off;

 
e. cancelling or setting-off against planned future grants of equity-based awards; and/or

 
f. any other method permitted by applicable law or contract.

 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, a Covered Person will be deemed to have satisfied such person’s obligation to return Erroneously Awarded Compensation to the Company if
such Erroneously Awarded Compensation is returned in the exact same form in which it was received; provided that equity withheld to satisfy tax obligations will be deemed to
have been received in cash in an amount equal to the tax withholding payment made.
 

7. Policy Interpretation
 
This Policy shall be interpreted in a manner that is consistent with the Applicable Rules and any other applicable law and shall otherwise be interpreted (including in the
determination of amounts recoverable) in the business judgment of the Committee. The Committee shall take into consideration any applicable interpretations and guidance of
the SEC in interpreting this Policy, including, for example, in determining whether a financial restatement qualifies as a Material Financial Restatement hereunder. To the extent
the Applicable Rules require recovery of Incentive-Based Compensation in additional circumstances besides those specified above, nothing in this Policy shall be deemed to
limit or restrict the right or obligation of the Company to recover Incentive-Based Compensation to the fullest extent required by the Applicable Rules. This Policy shall be
deemed to be automatically amended, as of the date the Applicable Rules become effective with respect to the Company, to the extent required for this Policy to comply with
the Applicable Rules.
 

8. Policy Administration
 
This Policy shall be administered by the Committee. The Committee shall have such powers and authorities related to the administration of this Policy as are consistent with the
governing documents of the Company and applicable law. The Committee shall have full power and authority to take, or direct the taking of, all actions and to make all
determinations required or provided for under this Policy and shall have full power and authority to take, or direct the taking of, all such other actions and make all such other
determinations not inconsistent with the specific terms and provisions of this Policy that the Committee deems to be necessary or appropriate to the administration of this
Policy. The interpretation and construction by the Committee of any provision of this Policy and all determinations made by the Committee under this policy shall be final,
binding and conclusive.
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9. Compensation Recovery Repayments not Subject to Indemnification
 
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in any agreement with, or the organizational documents of, the Company or any of its subsidiaries, Covered Persons are not
entitled to indemnification for Erroneously Awarded Compensation recovered under this Policy and, to the extent any such agreement or organizational document purports to
provide otherwise, Covered Persons hereby irrevocably agree to forego such indemnification.
 

10. Notice and Acknowledgment
 
The Company shall provide notice and seek acknowledgement of this Policy from each Covered Person, provided that failure to provide such notice or obtain such
acknowledgement will have no impact on the applicability or enforceability of this Policy. The Company must be in receipt of each Covered Person’s acknowledgement as a
condition to such Covered Person’s eligibility to receive any Incentive-Based Compensation after the Effective Date.
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